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Central Bank whose legal name is Central Co-operative Bank was founded in 1915 as Massachusetts

chartered co-operative bank to provide savings deposits and originate mortgage loans In

October 1986 it became public company by converting to capital stock co-operative bank As

result of reorganization in 1999 the Bank became wholly-owned subsidiary of newly formed

holding company Central Bancorp Inc

Central Bancorps common stock is traded over-the-counter on the NASDAQ Global MarketsM

The Company implemented cash dividend policy in October 1996 and during the fiscal year ended

March 31 2011 paid quarterly dividends of ceits share

As full-service community bank Central Bank provides variety of deposits and lending services

including savings and checking accounts for retail and business customers mortgage loans for

constructing purchasing and refinancing residential and commercial properties and loans for other

consumer and business purposes Through an arrangement with third party broker-dealer the Bank

also offers mutual funds and other investment products to its customers

The Bank operates nine full-service offices in the Massachusetts communities of Somerville Arlington

Burlington Chestnut Hill Maiden Medford Mebose and Woburn two branches limited service

branch at Woburn High School and stand alone 24-hour automated teller machine in Somerville



Dear Shareholder

Fiscal 2011 continued to be year of economic and regulatory turmoil Financial markets

remain volatile with no clear direction for the short term Interest rates fluctuated widely throughout

the year and that uncertainty continues today Additionally the passage of Dodd-Frank legislation has

added new challenges for all financial institutions Regulations to implement Dodd-Frank are still being

written so we will have to wait until they are finalized before we can gauge the full impact for the

Company going forward

Dunng these uncertain times we have continued to focus on increasing capital ratios and

reducing our concentration of Commercial Real Estate CRE loans As detailed elsewhere in this

annual report capital ratios continue to improve and are well above stated regulatory minimums to be

considered well capitalized This was done through combination of asset reductions and shift in

risk categories from higher risk CRE loans to lower risk residential mortgages and agency guaranteed

mortgage backed securities as well as additions to capital from earnings In addition at March 31 2011

our CRE concentration ratio was 330% compared to ratio of 466% at March 31 2010 and 600% at

March 31 2009 These substantial improvements reduce the risk profile of the Company

Although net income declined by $268 thousand the net interest rate spread and the net interest

margin improved from 2.92% and 3.21% respectively for the year ended March 31 2010 to 3.25%

and 3.50% respectively for the 2011 fiscal year primarily due to 63 basis point reduction in the cost

of funds partially offset by 29 basis point decrease in the average rate earned on interest-earning

assets It is important to note that income before taxes was only $7 thousand less in 2011 than 2010

notwithstanding the major balance sheet adjustments undertaken to enhance capital ratios and reduce

CRE both of which can have negative impact on the bottom line In fiscal 2010 we had one-time

tax benefit that significantly reduced our effective tax rate

Management and the Board of Directors closely monitor and manage our asset quality and we

believe that we have adequate reserves at this time related to known and unknown difficulties in our

loan portfolio However our asset quality is reflection of our local markets so any change in the local

marketplace would have an impact on our asset quality

For the last two years we have said in this report that there remains much uncertainty in

financial markets as well as the economy in our market area especially related to real estate We
believe that our balance sheet adjustments will reap important benefits going forward We continue to

have strong franchise and market presence with many loyal customers and favorable reputation

within the communities we serve in the Boston area As in the past our focus moving forward

continues to be to ensure that we are well positioned to take advantage of the improving economic

climate when it emerges while we keep an eye out for surprises that may derail or delay the recovery

The Board of Directors joins me in thanking you for your continuing support during these

difficult economic times

Sincerely

John Doherty

Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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PARTI

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This document as well as other written communications made from time to time by Central Bancorp Inc

the Company and subsidiaries and oral commuzications made from time to time by authorized officers of the

Company may contain statements relating to the future results of the Company including certain projections such

as earnings projections necessary tax provisions and business trends that are considered forward looking

statements qs defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 the PSLRA. Such forward-

lookiig statements may be identWed by the use of such words as intend believe expect should

planned estimated and potential For these statements the Company claims the protection of the safe

harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the PSLRA The Companys ability to predict future results is

inherently uncertain and the Company cautions you that number of important factors could cause actual results to

differ materially from those currently anticipated in any forward-looking statement These factors include but are

not limited to recent and future bail-out actions by the government the impact of the Companys participation in

the U.S Department of Treasurys Troubled Asset Relief Program further slowdown in the national and

Massachusetts economies further deterioration in asset values locally and nationwide the volatility of rate-

sensitive deposits changes in the regulatory environment increasing competitive pressure in the banking industry

operational risks including data processing system failures or fraud asset/liability matching risks and liquidity

risks continued access to liquidity sources changes in our borrowers performance on loans changes in critical

accounting policies and judgments changes in accounting policies or procedures as may be required by the

Financial Accounting Standards Board or other regulatory agencies changes in the equity and debt securities

markets governmental action as result of our inability to comply with regulatory orders and agreements the

effect of additional provision for loan losses the effect of an impairment charge on our deferred tax asset

fluctuations of our stock price the success and timing of our business strategies the impact of reputation risk

created by these developments on such matters as business generation and retention funding and liquidity the

impact of regulatory restrictions on our ability to receive dividends from our subsidiaries and political

developments wars or other hostilities may disrupt or increase volatility in securities or otherwise affect economic

conditions

The Company does not undertake and spec4fically disclaims any obligation to update any forward-looking

statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances after the date of such

statements

Item Business

General

The Company Central Bancorp Inc the Company Massachusetts corporation was organized by

Central Co-operative Bank the Sank on September 30 1998 to acquire all of the capital stock of the Bank as

part of its reorganization into the holding company form of ownership which was completed on January 1999

Upon completion of the holding company reorganization the Companys common stock par value $1.00 per share

the Common Stock became registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange

Act The Company is registered bank holding company subject to regulation and examination by the Board of

Governors of the Federal Reserve System the Federal Reserve Board The Company has no significant assets or

liabilities other than loans to the Central Co-operative Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan ESOP and

subordinated debentures as well as common stock of the Bank and various other liquid assets in which it invests in

the ordinary course of business For that reason substantially all of the discussion in this Annual Report on Form

10-K relates to the operations of the Bank and its subsidiaries

The Bank Central Co-operative Bank was organized as Massachusetts chartered co-operative bank in

1915 and converted from mutual to stock form of ownership in 1986 The primary business of the Bank is to

generate funds in the form of deposits and use the funds to make mortgage loans for the purchase refinancing and

construction of residential properties and to make loans on commercial real estate in its market area In addition the

Bank makes limited amount of consumer loans including secured and unsecured personal loans and commercial

and industrial loans The Bank sells some of its residential mortgage loan production in the secondary mortgage



market The Bank also maintains an investment portfolio of various types of debt securities including corporate

bonds and mortgage-backed securities and common and preferred equity securities The Bank also offers

investment services including annuities to its customers through third party broker-dealer

The Bank is headquartered in Somerville Massachusetts and its operations are conducted through nine full-

service office facilities located in Somerville Arlington Burlington Chestnut Hill Malden Medford Meirose and

Wobum Massachusetts limited service high school branch in Wobum Massachusetts stand-alone 24-hour

automated teller machine ATM in Somerville Massachusetts as well as over the Internet Each full-service

branch office also has 24-hour ATM The Bank is member of the Federal Home Loan Bank FHLB of

Boston and its deposits are inæured to applicable limits by the Deposit Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation PDIC Due to issues associated with the recent economic downturn FDIC deposit

insurance costs have increased considerably See Regulation and Supervision of the Bank Insurance of Deposit

Accounts for additional information regarding deposit insurance premiums

All Massachusetts chartered co-operative banks are required to be members of the Share Insurance Fund

The Share Insurance Fund maintains deposit insurance fund which insures all deposits in member banks which are

not covered by federal insurance In past years premium of 1/24 of 1% of insured deposits had been assessed

annually on member banks such as the Bank for this deposit insurance However no premium has been assessed in

reºent years

The main offices of the Company and Bank are located at 399 Highland Avenue Somerville

Massachusetts 02144 and their telephone number is 617 628-4000 The Batik also maintains website at

www.centralbk.com Infonnation on the Banks website should not be considered part of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K

The operations Of the Bank are generally influenced by overall economic conditions the related monetary

and fiscal policies of the federal government and the regulatory policies of financial institution regulatory

authorities including the Massachusetts Commissioner of Banks the Commissionerthe Federal Reserve Board

and the FDIC

Market Area

All of the Banks offices are located in the northwestern suburbs of Boston which are its principal market

area for deposits The majority of the properties securing the Banks loans are located in Middlesex County

Massachusetts The Banks market area consists of established suburban areas and includes portions of the Route

128 high-technology corridor

Competition

The Banks competition for savingsdeposits has historically Łome from other co-operative banks savings

banks credit unions savings and loan associations and commercial banks located in Massachusetts generally and in

the Boston metropolitan area specifically With the advent of interstate banking the Bank also faces competition

from out-of-state banking organizations In the past during times of high interest -rates the Bank has also

experienced additional significant competition for deposits from short-term money market funds and other corporate

and government securities The Bank has faced continuing competition for deposits from other financial

intermediaries including those Operating over the Internet

The Bank competes for deposits principally by offering depositors wide variety of savings programs

convenient branch locations 24-hour automated teller machines Internet banking preauthorized payment and

withdrawal systems tax-deferred retirement programs and other miscellaneous services such as money orders

travelers checks and safe deposit boxes The Bank usually does not rely upon any individual group or entity for

material portion of its deposits

The Banks competition for real estate loans comes principally from mortgage banking companies co

operative banks and savings banks credit unions savings and loan associations commercial banks insurance

companies and other institutional lenders The Bank competes for loan originations primarily through the interest



rates and loan fees it charges and the efficiency and quality of services it provides borrowers real estate brokers and

builders The cothpetition for loans encountered by the Bank as well as the types of institutions with which the

Bank competes varies from time to time depending upon certain factors including the general availability of

lendable funds and credit general and local economic conditions current interest rate levels volatility in the

mortgage markets and other factors which are not readily predictable

Changes in bank regulation such as changes in the products and services banks can offer and involvement

in non-banking activities by bank holding companies as well as bank mergers and acquisitions can affect the

Banks ability to compete successfully Legislation and regulations have also expanded the activities in which

depository institutions may engage The ability of the Bank to compete successfully will depend ipon how

successfully it can respond to the evolving competitive regulatory technological and demographic developments

affecting its operations

Lending Activities

The Banks lending focus is concentrated in real estate secured transactions including residential mortgage

and home equity loans commercial mortgage loans and construction loans For the year ended March 31 2011 the

Bank originated loans totaling $70.0 million Of the total loans originated during fiscal 2011 $64.8 million or

92.6% were residential mortgage and home equity loans $4.4 million or 6.3% were commercial real estate loans

and $800 thousand or 1.1% were commercial and industrial and other loans During the years ended March 31
2011 and 2010 the Bank sold $21.2 million and $38.9 million respectively of residential mortgage loan

originations The sale of loans in the tucondary market allows the Bank to continue to make loans during periods

when savings deposit flows decline or funds are not otherwise available for lending purposes and to manage interest

rate risk

The Banks loan portfolio decreased by $67.3 million or 14.6% to $394.2 million at March 31 2011 from

$461.5 million at March 31 2010 The decrease was primarily due to decreases in the commercial real estate

construction and land and residential loan portfolios During fiscal 2011 and 2010 management de-emphasized

higher-risk commercial real estate and construction and land lending in accordance with the Companys business

plan Construction and land loans totaled $456 thousand at March 31 2011 compared to $2.7 million at March 31

2010 Conunercial and industrial loans decreased primarily due to the repayment of such loans During fiscal 2011

and 2010 management focused on increasing the residential real estate portfolios as these loans generally have less

risk compared to commercial and construction lending however these balances declined during fiscal 2011 due to

higher than anticipated loan payoffs



Residential Lending Residential mortgage loans at March 31 2011 totaled $183.2 million or 46.5% of

the total loan portfolio Fixed-rate residential mortgages totaled $142.6 million or 77.8% of the residential loan

portfolio and adjustable-rate loans totaled $40.5 million or 22.2% of the residential loan portfolio

In recent years the Bank has sought to increase its origination of residential mortgage loans and to generate

additional noninterest income via loan sale gains management regularly assesses the desirability of holding or

selling newly-originated long-term fixed-rate residential mortgage loans number of factors are evaluated to

determine whether or not to hold such loans including current and projected liquidity current and projected interest

rate risk profile projected growth in other interest-earning assets e.g commercial real estate loans and projected

interest rates and economic conditions During fiscal 2009 the economy experienced recession that resulted in

declines in home values and high unemployment rates During fiscal 2010 demand strengthened somewhat in the

residential real estate market and home prices experienced modest increases However during fiscal 2011

residential property values in the Companys primary market area decreased slightly reversing what appeared to he

turnaround in the housing market

Also during fiscal 2011 and 2010 management strategically increased its emphasis on residential lending

to reduce credit risk and increase regulatory capital levels Despite the emphasis on increasing residential lending

the relatively low interest rate environment contributed to faster than expected pay-downs and the Banks residential

loan portfolio decreased by $33.9 million or 15.6% during fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010

The Banks adjustable-rate residential mortgage loans have maximum term of 30 years and allow for

periodic interest rate adjustments The Bank prices the initial rate competitively but generally avoids initial deep

Loan Portfolio Composition The following table summarizes the composition of the Banks loan

portfolio by type of loan and the percentage each type represents of the total loan portfolio at the dates indicated

2011

Amount

At March 31

2010 2009 2008

Amount Amount Amount

Dollars in Thousands

$183157

199074

456

8.426

39 1.113

46.56%

50.50

0.12

2.14

99.21

Mortgage loans

Residential

Commercial

Construction and Land

Home equity

Total mortgage loans

Other loans

Commercial and industrial.

Consumer

Total other loans

Total loans

Less

Allowance for loan losses

Loans net

2007

Amount

$183327

249941

14089

7.347

454.704

4834

1.132

5.966

460670

$217053 47.03%

227938 49.39

2722 0.59

8.817 1.91

456.530 98.92

4037 0.88

943 0.20

4980 1.08

461.510 J.QQQ%

3.038

8458.472

39.80%

54.25

3.06

1.59

98.70

1.05

0.25

1.30

2212 0.56

892 0.23

3104 0.79

394.217 WQAl%

3.892

8390.325

37.6%

51.5

6.5

14

97.0

2.8

0.2

3.0

100A2%

$178727

244496

311950

559

460.732

13173

1.037

14.210

474942

3.6 13

38.1%

51.1

7.6

1.5

98.3

1.4

0.3

1.7

lQthO%

$175259

235535

35011

6.901

452.706

6605

1.231

7.836

460.542

3.88

8456.661

3191

8457.479

Loan Portfolio Sensitivity The following table sets forth certain maturity information as of

March 31 2011 regarding the dollar amount of commercial and industrial loans as well as construction and land

loans in the Banks portfolio including scheduled repayments of principal based on contractual terms to maturity

Demand loans loans having no schedule of repayments and no stated maturity are reported as due in one year or

Due After

Due Within One Through Due After

One Year Five Years Five Years Total

In Thousands

less

Commercial and industrial loans

Land loans

Total

$1087

305

1.392

733

22

755

392

129

521

2212

456

2.668



discounts from contracted indices and margins The Bank has adopted the U.S Treasury Securities Index adjusted

to constant maturity of one to three years as its primary index The margin at which adjustable-rate loans is

generally set is 2.875 percentage points over the stated index Interest rate adjustments on adjustable mortgage loans

are capped at two percentage points per adjustment and six percentage points over the life of the loan

Residential loans may be granted as construction loans or permanent loans on residential properties

Construction loans on owner-occupied residential properties may convert to residential loans at fixed or adjustable

rates upon completion of construction Loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties are typically

written in amounts up to 80% of the appraised value of the residential property The Bank generally requires private

mortgage insurance for loans in excess of 80% of appralsed value The maximum loan-to-value ratio on owner

occupied residential properties is 95% The maximum loan-to-value ratio on non-owner-occupied residential

properties is 80%

Commercial Real Estate and Construction Lending The Bank originates permanent commercial

mortgages and construction loans on commercial and.residential real estate projects Commercial real estate loans

are typically secured by income-producing properties such as apartment buildings office buildings industrial

buildings and various retail properties and are written with either fixed or adjustable interest rates Commercial real

estate loans with fixed interest rates have terms generally ranging from one to five years while the interest rate on

adjustable rate loans is generally set to the five-year FHLB classic advance rate plus margin of 175 to 300 basis

points As of March 31 2011 the Banks commercial mortgage portfolio totaled $199.1 million and constituted

50.5% of the total loan portfolio compared to balance of $227.9 million or 49.4% of total loans at March 31

2010 The decline in the commercial mortgage loan portfolio during fiscal 2011 which totaled $28.9 million or

12.7% is attributable to managements decreased emphasis on this type of lending in the current economic

environment

Commercial real estate loans are generally made for up to 75% of the appraised value of the property

Commercial real estate loans currently offered by the Bank can have amortization periods of up to 20 to 25 years

Title insurance fire casualty insurance and flood insurance are required in amounts sufficient to protect the Banks

interest where applicable In some cases commercial real estate loans are granted in participation with other

lenders

.The.Banks land loans totaled $456 thousand or 0.12% of the Banks loan portfolio at March 31 2011

compared to construction and land loan balance of $2.7 million or 0.6% of totiil loans at March 31 2010 The

decline in these loans is attributable to managements decreased emphasis on this
type

of lending in the current

economic environment Construction loans are generally short-term in nature and have maturities of up to two

years The Bank grants loans to construct residential dwellings and commercial real estate projects The Bank also

originates loans for the construction of single-family homes for resale by professional builders Construction loans

are made for up to 75% of the projected value of the completed property based on independent appralsals Funds

are disbursed based on schedule of completed work presented to the Bank and confirmed by physical inspection of

the property by construction consultant and after receipt of title updates

Home Equity Lines of Credit The Bank offers home equity lines of credit that are secured by the

borrowers equity in his or her primary residence and may take the form of first or second mortgage Equity loans

are made in amounts up to 80% of the appraised value less any first mortgage .Payment of interest is required

monthly and the rate is adjusted monthly based on changes in the prime rate as quoted in the Wall Street Journal

Loans are not contingent upon proceeds being used for home improvement Generally the loan term is 20 years

with interest only due during the first 10 years and then principal and interest due for the remaining 10 years The

Banks home equity loans outstanding totaled $8.4 million or 2.1% of total loans at March31 2011

Commercial and Industritl Consumer and Other Loans The Banks commercial and industrial

consumer and other loans totaled $2.2 million or 0.56% of the total loan portfolio on March 31 2011 The

commercial and industrial portfolio consists primarily of time demand and line-of-credit loans to variety of local

small businesses that are generally made on secured basis The decrease in commercial and industhal loans in

fiscal 2011 was primarily attributable to the repayment of loans The Bank engages in consumer lending primarily

as an accommodation to existing customers



Risks of Residential and Commercial Real Estate Construction and Land and Commercial and

Industrial Lending Declining home values and default risk are the primary risks associated with residential

lending However commercial real estate construction and land and commercial and industrial lending entail

significant additional risks compared to residential mortgage lending The repayment of loans secured by income-

producing properties is typically dependent on the successful operation of the properties and thus may be subject to

greater extent to adverse conditions in the local real estate market or in the economy generally Construction loans

involve higher degree of risk of loss than long-term financing on improved occupied real estate because of the

uncertainties inherent in estimating construction costs delays arising from labor problems material shortages and

other unpredictable contingencies Commercialand industrial loans are generally not secured by real estate and may
involve greater risks than other types of lending Because payments on such loans are often dependent on the

successful operation of the business involved repayment of such loans may be subject to greater extent to adverse

conditions in the economy For more information see Nonperforming Assets below

Origination Fees and Other Fees The Bank currently collects origination fees on some of the real estate

and commercial loan products it offers Fees to cover the cost of appraisals credit reports and other direct costs are

also collected Loan origination fees collected vary in proportion to the level of lending activity as cvell as

competitive and economic conditions

The Bank imposes late charges on all loan products it offerr with the exception of equity lines of bredit and

loans secured by deposits The Bank also collects prepayment premiums and partial release fees on commercial real

estate and construction loans where such items are negotiated as part of the loan agreement

Loan Solicitation and Processing Loan originàtions come from number of sources and are attributable

to walk-in customers existing customers real estate brokers and builders as well as the purchase of residential and

commercial loans from other financial institutions The Bank also utilizes in-house originators in the origination of

residential real estate loans Commercial real estate loans are originated by the Banks team of commercial loan

officers Consumer loans rsult from both walk-in and existing custorhers

Each loan originated by the Bank is underwritten by lending personnel of the Bank or in the case of certain

residential mortgage loans to be sold qualified independent contract underwriters Individual lending officers

committee of loan officers and the Banks Security Committee have the authority to approve loans up to various

limits Bank-approved independent certified and licensed appraisers are used to appraise the property iiitended to

secure real estate loans The Bank underwriting criteria are designed to minimize the risks of each loan There are

detailed guidelines concŁming the types of loans that may be made the nature of the collateral the information that

must be obtained conceming the loan applicant and follow-up inspections of collateral after the loan is made

Nonperforming Assets The Bank notifies borrower of delinquency when any payment becomes 15

days past due Repeated contacts are made if the loan remains delinquent for 30 days or more The Bank will

consider working out payment schedule with borrower to clear delinquency if necessary If however

borrower is unwilling or unable to resolve such default after 90 days the Bank will generally proceed to foreclose

and liquidate the property to satisfy the debt

Loans on whichthe accrual of interest has been discontinued are designated as nonaccrual loans Accrual

of interest on loans and amortization of net deferred loan fees or costs are discontinued either when reasonable doubt

exists as to the full and timely collection of interest or principal or when loan becomes contractually past due 90

days with respect to interest or principal The accrual on some loans however may continue even though they are

more than 90 days past due if management deems it appropriate provided that the loans are well secured and in the

process of collection When loan is placed on nonaccrual status all interest previously accrued but not collected is

reversed against current period interest income Interest accruals are resumed on such loans only when they are

brought fully current with respect to interest and principal and when in the judgment of management the loans are

estimated to be fully collectable as to both principal and interest For some nonaccrual loans that are generally well-

secured cash interest payments that are received are treated as interest income on cash basis as long as the

remaining recorded investment is determined by management to be fully collectible

The Bank has instituted additional procedures to closely monitot loans and bring potential problems to

managements attention early in the collection
process The Bank

prepares monthly watch list of potential



problem loans including currently performing loans and the Banks Senior Loan Officer reviews delinquencies with

the Security Committee of the Board of Directors at least monthly Due to the high priority given to monitoring

asset quality senior management is involved in the early detection and resolution of problem loans Additionally

the Bank has workout committee comprised of the Banks Senior Loan Officer and other lending and Bank

personnel that meets regularly to discuss the ongoing resolution of any loans identified for special review

The following table sets forth information with respect to the Banks nonperforming assets at the Jates

indicated

At March 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Dollars in Thousands

Loans accounted for on nonaccrual

basis

Nonperformin loans 857 5575 $4617 $9606 $330

esuctured loans 1003 671 150 --

Real estate acquired by foreclosute or

deddin lieu of foreclosuiŁ 132 60 2986

Thtal æonperæVrming asets 9.7 13 6.3O6 57.753 59.606

Impaired loans accruing 7.171 10.597 -- 136

Nonperfdrniing loans to total loans 142% 135% L03%

Nonperforming assets to total assets fl9% 116% 135%

The Companys nonperforming assets at March 31 20F1 exceeded the balances at March 31 2010 and

March 31 2009 At March 2008 loans to two customers totaled $8.3 million or 86.3% of total nonperforming

assets One relationship was comprised of residential construction loans to construct two homes andthe other

relationship was commercial real estate loan secured by property containing residential and commercial

condominiums During fiscal 2009 the two residential properties were acquired through deed in lieu of

foreclosure and these two properties represented the majority of the balance of other real estate owned OREO at

March 31 2009

Nonperforming assets decreased from $7.8 million at March 31 2009 to $6.3 million at March 31 2010

primarily due to the salein fiscal 2010 of the two OREO properties acquired during fiscal 2009 Partially offsetting

the decrease in OREO were increases in nonperforming and restructured loans which represented eleven customer

relationships totaling $6.2 million at March 31 2010 compared to seven customer relationships totaling $4.8 million

atMarch 31 2009

If the interest on Conaccrual loans had been recognized in accordance with original interest rates interest

income would have increased by $208 thousand for fiscal year 2011 and $94 thousand for fiscal 2010

Impaired loans which were accruing interest at March 31 2010 totaled $10.6 million comprised of 16

commercial loans to seven borrowers which totaled $9.7 million and four residential ldans to four borrowers which

totaled $898 thousand Two customer relationships which totaled $7.0 million comprised most of the impaired but

accruing commercial real estate loans at March 31 2010 One relationship which totaled $4.6 million was

troubled debt restructuring TDR and for which this customers loans were accruing interest prior to the

restructuring Managements conclusion that it was appropriate for this relationship to continue to accrue interest

subsequent to the restructuring was based on the customers satisfactory repayment performance prior to the

restructuring and managements analysis which determined that the remaining contractual principal and interest are

expected to be collected The other impaired but accruing commercial real estate loan relationship at March 31

2010 was comprised of five loans which totaled $2.4 million As of March 31 2011 this customer has paid-in-full



four of the five loans The remaining loan which totaled $764 thousand was placed on nonaccrual status during

fiscal 2011 however management expects to collect the outstanding principal balance

At March 31 2011 impaired accruing loans totaled $7.2 million and were primarily comprised of the

aforementioned $4.6 million commercial real estate relationship which was restructured in fiscal 2010 and totaled

$4.5 million at March 31 2011 and $1.4 million commercial real estate loan added during fiscal 2011 The $4.5

million commercial real estate relationships TDR was renewed during fiscal 2011 as the customer exercised six

month interest only option The $1.4 million relationship added during fiscal 2011 was experiencing temporary cash

flow difficulties and the restructuring included the advancement of funds to pay past due real estate taxes and six

months

of interest only payments Nonperforming assets increased by $3.4 million from $6.3 million at March 31

2010 to $9.7 million at March 31 2011 primarily due to the addition of three commercial real estate customer

relationships which totaled $2.3 million and six residential customer relationships which totaled $1.5 million

partially offset by the removal of three loans totaling $400 thousand At March 31 2011 TDRs which were

accruing interest totaled $7.2 million compared to $5.7 million at March 31 2010 While bankruptcy filings have

extended the time required to resolve some situations involving nonperforming assets management continues to

work with borrowers and bankruptcy trustees to resolve these situations as soon as possible Management believes

there are adequate reserves and collateral securing these loans to cover losses that may result from nonperform.jng

loans At March 31 2011 there were no loans that are not listed on the table above where known infonnation about

possible credit problems of borrowers caused management to have serious doubts as to the ability of such borrowers

to comply with present loan repayment terms For more information regarding non-performing loans see Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Provision for Loan

Losses

Allowance for Loan Losses The Company provides for loan lostas in order to maintain the allowance for

loan losses at level that management estimates is adequate to absorb probable losses based on an evaluation of

known and inherent risks in the portfolio In determining the appropriate level of the allowanc for loan losses

management considers past and anticipated loss experience evaluations of underlying collateral financial condition

of the borrower prevailing economic conditions the nature and volume of the loan portfolio and the levels of non

performing and other classified loans The amount of the allowance is based on estimates and ultimate losses may

vary from such estimates Management assesses the allowance for loan losses on quarterly basis and provides for

loan losses monthly when appropriate to maintain the adequacy of the allowance The Company uses process of

portfolio segmentation to calculate the appropriate reserve level at the end of each quarter Management analyzes

required reserve allocations for loans considered impaired under Accounting Standards Codification ASC 310

Receivables ASC 310 and the allocation percentages used when calculating potential losses under ASC 450

Contingencies ASC 450 Although management uses available information to establish the appropriate level of

the allowance for loan losses future additions or reductions to the allowance may be necessary based on estimates

-- that are susceptible to change as result of changes in loan composition or volume changes in economic market

area conditions or other factors As result our allowance for loan losses may not be sufficient to cover actual loan

losses and future provisions for loan losses could materially adversely affect the Companys operating results In

addition various regulatory agencies as an integral part of their examination process periodically review the

Companys allowance for loan losses Such agencies may require the Company to recognize adjustments to the

allowance based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination During

fiscal year ended March 31 2011 $1.1 million provision was recorded based upon managements quarterly

evaluations of the loan portfolio Certain loan loss factor ratios were increased during fiscal 2011 due to the

continued recessionary economic conditions Management currently believes that there are adequate reserves and

collateral securing non-performing loans to cover losses that may result from these loans at March 31 2011 See

Note to the Consolidated-Financial Statements for detailed description of managements estimation process and

methodology-related to the allowance for loan losses



The following table presents activity in the allowance for loan losses during the years
indicated

At or For the Years Ended March 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Dollars in Thousands

Balance atbeginning of year 3038 3191 $3613 $3881 $3788

Provision reduction of provision 1100 600 2125 70 80

Charge-offs

Construction -- -- 2201 -- --

Residential mortgage 69 250 144 -- --

Commercial mortgage 171 469 178 173 --

Other loans 10 54 36 76 48
Total charge-offs 250 773 2.559 249 48

Recoveries

Residential mortgage -- -- -- --

Commercial mortgage -- -- -- 37 43

Other loans 20 14 18

Totairecoveries 20 12 51 61

Net charge-offs recoveries 246 753 2547 198 13

Balanceatendofyear 3.892 3.038 3.191 $3.613 $3.881

Average loans outstanding during the year $424993 $461592 $464288 $462164 $433935

Ratio of net charge-offs to average loans 0.06% 0.16 0.55% 0.04% n/a

Total loans outstanding at end of year $394217 $461510 $460670 $474942 $460542

Ratio of allowance for loan losses to

loans at end of year 0.99% 0.66% 0.69% 0.76% 0.84%

n/a means either not applicable or not meaningful

Does not include loans held for sale
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Investment Activities

The primary objectives of the investment portfolio are to achieve competitive rate of return over

reasonable period of time and to provide liquidity As Massachusetts chartered bank the Bank is authorized to

invest in various obligations of federal and state governmental agencies corporate bonds and other obligations and

within certain limits common and preferred stocks The Banks investment policy requires that corporate debt

securities be rated as investment grade at the time of purchase security that is downgraded below investment

grade will require additional analysis relative to perceived credit quality market price and overall impact on

capital/earnings before decision is made as to hold or sell For all sub-investment grade corporate holdings

additional analysis of creditworthiness is required The Banks investment in common and preferred stock is

generally limited to large well-known corporations whose shares are actively traded The size of the Banks

holdings in an individual companys stock is also limited by policy portion of the Banks investment portfolio

consists of mortgage-backed securities which represent interests in pools of residential mortgages Such securities

include securities issued and guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association FNMA Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation FFILMC and the Government National Mortgage Association GNMA as well as

collateralized mortgage obligations CMOs issued primarily by FNMA and FHLMC

Investments are classified as held to maturity available for sale or trading Investments classified as

trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings Investments

classified as available for sale are reportedat fair value with unrealized gains and losses net of taxes reported as

separate component of stockholders equity Securities held to maturity are carried at amortized cost At March 31

2011 all of the Banks marketable investments were classified as available for sale

As previously reported the Companys investments in the perpetual preferred stock of the FNMA and

FHLMC were significantly impacted by the September 2008 .conservatorship of FNMA and FHLMC giving control

of their management to the Federal Housing Finance Agency and prohibiting FNMA and FHLMC from paying

dividends on their existing common and preferred stock This event resulted in $9.4 million impairment of the

value of the Companys investment in these entities during the quarter ended September 30 2008 These

impainnent changes were partially offset by tax benefit of approximately $3.5 million due to the October 2008

enactment of the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 which pennitted the Company to treat losses

incurred on the FNMA and FHLMC preferred stock as ordinary losses for federal income tax purposes
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The following table sets forth summary of the Banks investment securities as well as the percentage

such investments comprise of the Banks total assets at the dates indicated

At March 31
2011 2010 2009

Dollars in Thousands

U.S Government and agency obligations -- 1503

Corporate bonds 1752 701

Government agency and government sponsored

enterprise mortgage-backed securities 18823 24993 28353

Single issuer trust preferred securities issued by

financial institutions 1049 1045 750

Total debt securities 19872 27790 31307

Perpetual preferred stock issued by financial

institutions 3185 3255 1650

Common stock 2.128 3.323 2258

Total investment securities $25.185 534.368 535.215

Percentage of total assets 5.16% 6.35% 6.12%

There were no investment holdings other than those of the U.S government and its agencies for which the

Cornpany aggregate holding of one issuer exceeded 10% of stockholders equity as of March 31 2011

The following table sets forth the ccheduled maturities amortized cost fair values and average yields for

the Banks debt securities at March 31 2011

One Year or Less One to Five Years Five to Ten Years More than Ten Years Total Investment Portfolio

Amortized Average Amortized Average Ansortized Average Amortized Average Amortized Fair Average

Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Cost Cost Yield Cost Valne Yield

Dollars in Thousands

Government agency and

government sponsored

enterprise mortgage-backed

securities --% $2970 4.1891 11 4.75% $15148 4.71% $18129 18823 4.62%

Single issuer trust preferred

securities issued by

financial institutions -- -- -- -- 1.002 7.78 1.002 1049 7.78

Total $_ S2.970 11 516.150 $19131 19.872

Deposits Borrowed Funds and Other Sources of Funds

General Savings accounts and other types of deposits have traditionally been an important source of the

Banks funds for use in lending and for other general business purposes In addition to deposits the Bank derives

funds from loan repayments loan sales borrowings and from other operations The availability of funds is

influenced by the general level of interest rates and other market conditions Scheduled loan repayments are

relatively stable source of funds while deposit inflows and outflows vary widely and are influenced by prevailing

interest rates and market conditions Borrowings may be used on short-term basis to compensate for reductions in

deposits or deposit inflows at less than projected levels and may be used on longer term basis to support expanded

lending activities During fiscal 2003 the Bank entered into retail CD brokerage agreement with major

brokerage firm Since entering into the agreement the Bank has not obtained brokered deposits but rather maintains

the relationship as potential secondary source of liquidity

Deposits Consumer business and municipal deposits are attracted principally from within the Banks

market area through the offering of broad selection of deposit instruments including demand deposit accounts

NOW accounts money market deposit accounts regular savings accounts term deposit accounts and retirement

savings plans The Bank has historically not actively solicited or advertised for deposits outside of its market area or

12



solicited brokered deposits The Bank attracts deposits through its branch office network automated teller

machines the Internet and by paying rates competitive with other financial institutions in its market area From time

to time the Bank bids on short-term c.ertificates of deposit from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts which

periodically awards deposits to financial institution bidders throughout Massachusetts

Deposit Accounts The following table shows the distribution of the average balance of the Banks deposit

accounts at the dates indicated and the weighted average rate paid for each category of account for the
years

indicated

Years Ended March 31
2011 2010 2009

Average Average Average

Average of Rate Average of Rate Average of Rate

Balance Deposits Paid Balance Deposits Paid Balance Deposits Paid

Dollars in Thousands

Demand deposit accounts 42534 12.84% --% $42247 12.04% -% 38807 10.92%

NOW accounts 28697 8.66 0.27 27856 7.93 0.29 26029 7.32 0.37

Passbook and other savings

accounts 54584 16.48 0.23 51577 14.69 0.45 50240 14.13 0.51

Money market deposit

accounts 79089 23.88 0.69 79583 22.67 1.32 67111 18.88 2.30

Term deposit certificates 126326 38.14 1.31 149.8 14 42.67 2.08 173303 48.75 2.95

Total depdsits $33 1.230 100.00% $35 1.077 100.00% 1.45% $355.490 100.00% LZ
Time Deposits in Excess of $100000 The following table indicates the amount of the Banks time

deposits of $100000 or more by time remaining until maturity as of March 31 2011 In Thousands

Maturity Period

Three months or less 13522

Three through six months 8107
Six through twelve months 11366

Over twelve months 7848

Total 40.843

Borrowings From time to time the Bank borrows funds from the FHLB of Boston All advances from the

FHLB of Boston are secured by blanket lien on residential first mortgage loans certain investment securities and

commercial real estate loans and all of the Banks stock in the FHLB of Boston At March 31 2011 the Bank had

advances outstanding from the FHLB of Boston of $117.4 million and unused borrowing capacity based on

available collateral of approximately $53.6 million Proceeds fràm these advances were primarily used to fund the

Banks loan growth Additional sources of borrowed funds include The Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund

the Federal Reserve Bank and line of credit with correspondent bank

The following table sets forth certain information regarding borrowings from the FHLB of Boston

including short-term FHLB of Boston borrowings under line of credit at the dates and for the periods indicated

At or for the

Years Ended March 31
2011 2010 2009

Dollars in Thousands

Amounts outstanding at end of period $117351 $143469 $144583

Weighted average rate at end of period 3.68% 3.98% 4.52%

Maximum amount of borrowings outstanding at any month end $139460 $161509 $156682

Approximate average amounts outstanding at any month end $129505 $146210 $147117

Approximate weighted average rate during the year 3.83% 4.43% 4.59%
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Troubled Asset Relief Program Capital Purchase Program On Decethber 2008 the Company sold

$10.0 million in Series preferred stock the Series PreferrecFStock to the U.S Department of Treasury U.S
Treasury as participant in the federal governments Troubled Asset Relief Program TARP Capital Purchase

Program This represented approximately 2.6% of the Ccimpanys risk-weighted sssets as of September 30 2008

The TARP Capital Purchase Program is voluntary program for healthy U.S financial institutions designed to

encourage these institutions to build capital to increase the flow of financing to U.S businesses and consumers and

to support the weakened U.S economy Participation in this program provided an additional source of funds during

the fiscal year ended March 31 2009

Subsidiaries

In September 2004 the Company established Central Bancorp Capital Trust the Trust Delaware

statutory trqst The Trust issued and sold $5.1 million of trust preferred securities in private placement and issued

$158000 of trust common securities to the Company The Trust used the proceeds of these issuances to purchase

$5.3 million of the Companys floating rate junior subordinated debentures due September 16 2034 the Trust

Debentures The interest rates on the Trust Debentures and trust preferred securities are variable and adjustable

quarterly at 2.44% over the three month LIBOR At March 31 2011 the interest rate was 2.75%

On January 31 2007 the Company completed trust preferred securities financing in the amount of $5.9

million In the transaction the Company formed Connecticut statutory trust known as Central BanØorp Statutory

Trust II Trust II Trust II issued and sold $5.9 million of trust preferred securities in private placethent and

Issued $183PQO of trust common securities to the Compan Trust used the pinceeds of these isuances to

purchase $6.1 million of the Companys floating rate junior subordinated debentures due March 15 2037 the Trust

II Debentures From January 31 2007 until March 15 2017 the Fixed Rate Period the .inteest rate on the

Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities is fixed at 7.015% per annum Upon the expiration of the

Fixed Rate Period the interest rate on the Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities will be at variable

per annum rate reset quarteriy equal to three month LIBOR plus 1.65% The Trust II Debentures are the sole assets

of Trust II The Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities each have 30-year lives The trust preferred

securities and the Trust II Debentures will each be callable by the Company or Trust II at their respective option

after ten years and sooner in certain specific events including in the event that the securities are not eligible for

treatment as Tier capital subject to prior approval by the Federal Reserve Board if then required Jnterest on the

trust preferred securities and the Trust II Debentures may be deferred at any time or from time to time for period

not exceeding 20 consecutive quarterly payments five years provided there is no event of default

The Trust Debentures and the Trust IlDebelitures are the sole assets of Trust and Trust II respectively

and are subordinate to all of the Companys existing and future obligations for borrowed money

The trust preferred securitiçs generally rank equal to the trut cpmmon securities in priority of payment but

will rank prior to the trust common securitie if and so Jong as the Company fails to make principal or interest

payments on the Trust Debentures and the Trust II Debentures Concurrently with the issuance of the Trust and

Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities the Company issued guarantees related to each trusts

securities for the benefit of the holders otTrust and Trust II

In April 1998 and July 2003 the Bank established Central Securities Corporation and Central Securities

Corporation II respectively Massachusetts corporations as wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Bank for the purpose

of engaging exclusively in buying selling and holding on their own behalf securities that may be held directly by

the Bank From time to time these subsidiaries hold securities such as govemment agency obligations corporate

bonds mortgage-backed securities preferred stocks and trust preferred securities and qualify under Section 38B of

Chapter 63 of the Massachusetts General Laws as Massachusetts securities corporations

During January 2009 the Bpnk dstablished wholly-owned subsidiary Metro Real Estate Holdings LLC
The subsidiary was formed to among other things hold maiiitain and dispose of certain foreclosed properties

acquired from the Bank
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REGULATION AND SUPERVISION

Regulation and Supervision of the Company

The Bank is Massachusetts-chartered co-operative bank and is the wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company Massachusetts corporation and registered bank holding company The Banks deposits are insured up to

applicable limits by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and by the Share Insurance Fund of Massachusetts

for amounts in excess of the FDIC insurance limits The Bank is subject to extensive regulation by the

Massachusetts Commissioner of Baits as its chartering agency an by the FDIC as its primary federal regulator

and deposit insurer The Bank is required to file reports with and is periodically examined by the FDIC and the

Massachusetts Commissioner of Banks conceming its activities and financial condition and must obtain regulatory

approvals prior to entering into certain transactions including but not limited to mergers with or acquisitions of

other financial jnstitutions As registered bank holding company the Company is regulated by the Federal Reserve

Board This regulation and supervision establishes comprehensive framework of activities in which an institution

can engage and is intended primarily for the protection of depositors-md the deposit insurance funds rather than for

the protection of stockholders and creditors The regulatory structure also gives the regulatory authorities extensive

dicretion in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities und examination policies including

policies with respect to the establishment of deposit insurance assessment fees the classification of assets and the

establishment of adequate loan loss reserves for regulatory purposes Any change in such regulatory requirements

and policies whether by the Massachusetts legislature the Massachusetts Commissioner of Banks the FDIC the

Federal Reserve Board or Congress could have material adverse impact on the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company and the Bank

Set forth below is brief description of certain regulatory requirements applicable to the Company and the

Bank The description below is limited to certain material aspects of the statutes and regulations addressed and is

not intended to be complete description of such statutes and regulations and their effects on the Company and the

Bank

Recent Regulatory Reform

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank Act which was

enacted on July 21 2010 will significantlr change the current bank regulatory structure and affect the lending

investment trading and operating activities of financial institutions and their holding companies The Dodd-Frank

Act will eliminate the Office of Thrift Supervision and require that federal savings associations be regulated by the

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency the primary federal regulator for national banks The Dodd-Frank Act

also authorizes the Federal Reserve Board to supervise and regulate all savings and loan holding companies

The Dodd-Frank Act requires the Federal Reserve Board to set minimum capital levels for bank holding

companies that are as stringent ai those required for insured depository institutions and the components of Tier

capital would be festricted to capital instruments that are currently considered to be Tier capital for insured

depository institutions In addition the proceeds of trust preferred securities are excluded from Tier capital unless

such securities were issued prior to May 19 2010 by bank or savings and loan holding companies with less than $15

billion of assets The legislation also establishes floor for capital of insured depository institutions that cannot be

lower than the standards in effect today and directs the federal banking regulators to implement new leverage and

capital requirements within 18 months These new leverage and capital requirements must take into account off

balance sheet activities and other risks including risks relating to securitized products and derivatives

--

The Dodd-Frank Act also creates new Constimer Financial Protection Bureau with broad powers to

supervise and enforce consumer protection laws The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau has broad rulemaking

authority for wide range of consumer protectIon laws that apply to all banks and savings institutions including the

authority to prohibit unfair decepthe or abusive acts and practices The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

has examination and enforcement authority over all banks and savings institutions with more than $10.0 billion in

assets Banks and savings institutions with $10.0 billion or less in assets will be examined by their applicable bank

regulators The new legislation also weakens the federal preemption available for national banks and federal savings

associations and gives the state attorneys general the ability to enforce applicable federal consumer protection laws
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GeneraL The Company is bank holding company subject to regulation by the Federal Reserve Board

under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 as amended the BHCA As result the activities of the

Company are subject to certain limitations which are described below In addition as bank holding company the

Company is required to file annual and quarterly reports with the Federal Reserve Board and to furnish such

additional information as the Federal Reserve Board may require pursuant to the BHCA The Company is also

subject to regular examination by and the enforcement authority of the Federal Reserve Board

Activities With certain exceptions the BHCA prohibits bank holding company from acquiring direct or

indirect ownership or control of more than 5% of the voting shares of company that is not bank or bank holding

company or from engaging directly or indirectly in activities other than those of banking managing or controlling

banks or providing services for its subsidiaries The principal exceptions to these prohibitions involve certain

non-bank activities which by statute or by Federal Reserve Board regulation or order have been identified as

activities closely related to the business oLbanking The activities of the Company are subject to these legal and

regulatory limitations under the BHCA and the related Federal Reserve Board regulations Notwithstanding the

Federal Reserve Boards prior approvalof specific nonbanking activities the Federal Reserve Board has the power

to order holding company or its subsidiaries to terminate any activity or to terminate its ownership or control of

any subsidiary when it has reasonable cause to believe that the continuation of such activity or such ownership or

control constitutes serious risk to the financial safety soundness or stability of any bank subsidiary of that holding

company

Effective with the enactment of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act the G-L-B Act on November 12 1999

bank holding companies whose financial institution subsidiaries are well capitalized and well managed and have

satisfactory Community Reinvestment Act CRA records can elect to become financial holding companies

which are permitted to engage in broader range of financial activities than are permitted to bank holding

companies including investment banking and insurance companies Financial holding companies are authorized to

engage in directly or indirectly financial activities financial activity is an activity that is financial in nature

ii incidental to an activity that is financial in nature or iiicomplementary to financial activity and that does not

pose safety and soundness risk The G-L-B Act includes list of activities that are deemed to be financial in

nature Other activities also may be decided by the Federal Reserve Board to be financial in nature or incidental

thereto if they meet specified criteria fmancial holding company that intends to engage in new activity or to

acquire company to engage in such an activity is required to give prior notice to the Federal Reserve Board If the

activity is not either specified in the G-L-B Act as being financial activity or .one that the Federal Reserve Board

has determined by rule or regulation to be financial in nature the prior approval of the Federal Reserve Board is

required

Acquisitions Under the BHCA bank holding company must obtain the prior approval of the Federal

Reserve Board before acquiring direct or indirect ownership or control of any voting shares of any bank or bank

holding company if after such acquisition the bank holding company would directly or indirectly own or control

more than 5% of such shares acquiring all or substantially all of the assets of another bank or bank holding

company or merging or consolidating with another bank holding company Satisfactory financial condition

particularly with regard to capital adequacy and satisfactory CRA ratings generally are prerequisites to obtaining

federal regqlatory approval to make acquisitions

Under the BHCA any company must obtain approval of the Federal Reserve Board prior to acquiring

control of the Company or the Bank For puoses of the BHCA control is defined as ownership of more than

25% of any class of voting securities of the Company or the Bank the ability to control the election of majority of

the directors or the exercise of controlling influence over management or policies of the Company In addition

the Change in Bank Control Act and the related regulations of the Federal Reserve Board require any person or

persons acting in concert except for companies required to make application under the BHCA to file written

notice with the Federal Reserve Board before such person or persons may acquire control of the Company The

Change in Bank Control Act defines control as the power directly or indirectly to vote 25% or more of any

voting securities or to direct the management or policies of bank holding company or an insured bank There is

presumption of control where the acquiring person will own control or hold with power to vote 10% or more of
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any class of voting security of bank holding company or insured bank if like the Company the company involved

has registered securities under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Under Massachusetts banking law prior approval of the Massachusetts Division of Banks is also required

before any person may acquire control of Massachusetts bank or bank holding company Massachusetts law

generally prohibits bank holding company from acquiring control of an additional bank if the bank to be acquired

has been in existence for less than three years or if after such acquisition the bank holding company would control

--

more than 30% of the FDIC-insured deposits in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Capital Requirements The Federal Reserve Board has adopted guidelines regarding the capital adequacy

of bank holding companies which require bank holding companies to maintain specified minimum ratios of capital

to total assets and capital to risk-weighted assets See Regulation and Supervision of the BankCapital

Requirements

Dividends The Federal Reserve Board has the power to prohibit dividends by bank holding companies if

their actions are believed to constitute unsafe or unsound practices The Federal Reserve Board has issued policy

statement on the payment of cash dividends by bank holding companies which expresses the Federal Reserve

Boards view that bank holding company should pay cash dividends only to the extent that the companys net

income for the past year is sufficient to cover both the cash dividends and rate of earnings retention that is

consistent with the companys capital needs asset quality and overall financial condition The Federal Reserve

Board also indicated that it would be inappropriate for bank holding company experiencing serious financial

problems to borrow funds to pay dividends Under the prompt corrective action regulations adopted by the Federal

Reserve Board pursuant to the Federal Deposit Insurance COrporation Improvement Act of 1991 FDICIA the

Federal Reserve Board may prohibit bank holding company from paying any- dividends if the holding companys
bank subsidiary is classified as undercapitalized or worse See Regulation and Supervision of the Bank
Prompt Corrective Regulatory Action

In addition under the terms of the TARP Capital Purchase program prior to the earlier of December

2011 or ii the date on which all of the Companys preferred shares held by the U.S Department of Treasury have

been redeemed in full the Company cannot increase its quarterly cash dividend above $0.18 per common share

Stock Repurchases Bank holding companies are required to give the Federal Reserve Board prior written

notice of any purchase or redemption of its outstanding equity securities if the gross consideration for the purchase

or redemption when combined with the net consideration paid for all such purchases or redemptions during the

preceding 12 months is equal to 10% or more of the Companys consolidated net worth The Federal Reserve

Board may disapprove such purchase or redemption if it determines that the proposal would violate
any law

regulation Federal Reserve Board order directive or any condition imposed by or written agreement with the

Federal Reserve Board This requirement does not apply to bank holding companies that are well-capitalized

received one of the two highest examination ratings at their last examination and are not the subject of any

unresolved supervisory issues

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 implemented legislative reforms intended to address corporate and

accounting fraud The Sarbanes-Oxley Act restricts the scope of services that may be provided by accounting firms

to their public company audit clients and any non-audit services being provided to public company audit client will

require pre-approval by the companys audit committee In addition the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires chief

executive officers and chief financial officers or their equivalents to certify to the accuracy
of periodic reports filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission subject to civil and criminal penalties if they knowingly or willingly
.J

violate this certification requirement

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act bonuses issued to top executives before restatement of companys
financial statements are now subject to disgorgement if such restatement was due to corporate misconduct

Executives are also prohibited from insider trading during retirement plan blackout periods and loans to company

executives other than loans by financial institutions permitted by federal rules and regulations are restricted The

legislation accelerates the time frame for disclosures by public companies of changes in ownership in companys
securities by directors and executive officers
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The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also increaEes the oversightof and codifies certain requirements relating to audit

committees of public companies and how they interact with the companys registered public accounting firm

Among other requirements companies must disclose whether at least one member of the audit committee is

financial expert as such term is defmed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and if not why not

Although the Company hs incurred additional expense in complying with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

and the resulting regulations management does not believe that such compliance has had material impact on the

Companys results pf operations or fihancial condition

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act we are required to report on our assessment of the

effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting during the fiscal year ending March31 2011 in this

annual report on Form 10-K We have performed reviews regarding our internal controls over financial reporting

during the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 and we believe that such internal controls are adequate The Company
is currently considered smaller reporting company with the SEC and is not required to comply with Section 404 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requirements regarding external auditor attestation of internal controls over

financial reporting

Regulation and Supervision of the Bank

General The Bank is subject to extensive.regulatioii by the iMassachusetts Commissioner of Banks

Commissioner and the FDIC The lending activities and other investments of the Bank must comply with

various regulatory requirements The Commissioner and FDTC periodically examine the Bank for compliance with

these requirements The Bank must file reports .with the Commissioner and the FDIC describing its activities and

financial condition The Bank is also subject to certain reserve requirements promulgated by the Federal Reserve

Board This supervision and regulation is intended primarily for the protection of depositors

Massachuse ifs State Law As Massachusetts-chartered co-operative bank the Bank is subject to the

applicable provisions of Massachusetts law and the regulations of the Commissioner The Bank derives its lending

and investment powers from these laws and is subject to periodic examination and reporting requirements by and of

the Commissioner Certain powers granted under Massachusetts law may be constrained by federal regulation In

addition the Bank is required to make periodic reports to the Co-operative Central Bank The approval of the

Commissioner is required prior to any merger or consolidation or the establishment or relocation of any branch

office Massachusetts co-operative banks are subject to the enforcement authority of the Commissioner who may
suspend or remove directors or officers issue cease and desist orders and appoint conservators or receivers in

appropriate circumstances .Co-operative banks are required to pay fees and assessments to the Commissioner to

fund that offices operations The cost of state examination fees and assessments for the fiscal year ended March 31
2011 totaled $50 thousand

Capital Requirements Under FDIC regulations state-chartered banks that are dot members of the Federal

Reserve System are required to maintain minimum leverage capital requirement consisting of ratio of Tier

capital to total assets of 3% if the FDIC determines that the institution is not anticipating or experiencing significant

growth and has well-diversified risk including no undue interest rate risk exposure excellent asset quality high

liquidity good earnings and in general strong banking organization rated composite under the Uniform

Financial Institutions Rating System the CAMELS rating system established by the Federal Financial Institutions

Examination Council For all but the most highly-rated institutions meeting the conditions set forth above the

minimum leverage capital ratio is not less than 4% Tier capital is the sum of common stoctholders7 equity

noncumulative perpetual preferred stock including any related surplus and minority interests in consolidated

subsidiaries minus all intangible assets other than certain mortgage and non-mortgage servicing assets and

purchased credit card relationships minus identified losses disallowed deferred tax assets investments in financial

subsidiaries and certain non-financial equity investments

In addition to the leverage ratio the ratio of Tier capital to total assets state-chartered nonmember banks

must maintain minimum ratio of qualifying total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 8% of which at least

half must be Tier capital Qualifying total capital consists of Tier capital plus Tier or supplementary capital

items Tier capital items include allowances for loan losses in an amount of up to 1.25% of risk-weighted aSsets

cumulative preferred stock and preferred stock with maturity of over 20 years term subordinated debt certain

other capital instruments and up to 45% of pre-tax net unrealized holding gains on equity securities The includable
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amount of Tier capital cannot exceed the institutions Tier capital Qualifying total capital is further reduced by

the amount of the banks investments in banking and finance subsidiaries that are not consolidated for regulatory

capital purposes reciprocal cross-holdings of capital securities issued by other banks most intangible assets and

certain other deductions Under the FDIC risk-weighting system all of banks balance sheet assets and the credit

equivalent amounts of certain off-balance sheet items are assigned to one of five broad risk weight categories from

0% to 200% based on the risks inherent in the type of assets or item The aggregate dollar amount of each category

is multiplied by the risk weight assigned to that category The sum of these weighted values equals the banks risk-

weighted assets

At March 31 2011 the Banks ratio of Tier capital to average assets was 9.58% its ratio of Tier capital

to risk-weighted assets was 15.40% and its ratio of total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets was 16.72%

Dividend Limitations The Bank may not pay dividends on its capital stock if its-regulatory capital would

thereby be reduced below the amount then required for the liquidation account established for the benefit of certain

depositors of the Bank at the time of-its conversion to stock form The approval of the Commissioner is
necessary

for the payment of any dividend which exceeds the total net profits for the year combined with retained net profits

for the prior two years

Earnings of the Bank appropriated to bad debt reserves and deducted for Federal income tax purposes are

not available for payment of cash dividends or other distributions to stockholders without payment of taxes at the

then current tax rate by the Bank on the amount of earnings removed from the reserves for such distributions The

Bank intends to make full use of this favorable tax treatment and does not contemplate use of any eamings in

manner which would limit the Banks bad debt deduction or create federal tax liabilities

Under .FDIC regulations the Bank is prohibited from making any capital distributions if after making the

distribution the Bank would be undercapitalized within the meaning of the Prompt Corrective Action regulati6ns

See Regulation and Supervision of the BankPrompt Corrective Regulatory Action

In addition as previously mentioned under the terms of the TARP Capital Purchase program prior to the

earlier of December 2011 or iithe date on which all of theff Companys preferred shares held by the U.S

Department of Treasury have been redeemed in full the Company cannot increase its quarteriy cash dividend above

$0.18 per common share

Investment Activities Under federal law all state-chartered FDIC-insured banks have generally been

limited to activities as principal and equity investments of the type and in the amount authorized for national banks

notwithstanding state law The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act and the FDTC permit

exceptions to these limitations For example state chartered banks such as the Bank may with FDIC approval

continue to exercise grandfathered state authority to invest in common or preferred stocks listed on national

securities exchange or the NASDAQ Global Market and in the shares of an investment company registered under

federal law In addition the FDIC is authorized to pennit institutions that meet all applicable capital requirements to

engage in state authorized activities or investments that do not meet this standard other than non-subsidiary equity

investments if it is determined that such activities or investments do not pose significant risk to the Deposit

Insurance Fund All non-subsidiary equity investments unless otherwise authorized or approved by the FDIC must

have been divested by December 19 1.996 under FDIC-approved divestiture plan unless such investments were

grandfathered by the FDIC The Bank has received grandfathering authority from the FDIC to invest in listed stocks

and/or registered shares The maximum permissible investment is 100% of Tier capital as specified by the

FDICs regulations or the maximum amount permitted by Massachusetts Banking Law whichever is less Such

grandfathering authority may be terminated upon the FDICs determination that such investments pose safety and

soundness risk to the Bank or if the Bank converts its charter or undergoes change in control

Insurance of Deposit Accounts The Banks deposits are insured up to applicable limits by the Deposit

Insurance Fund of the FDIC The Deposit Insurance Fund is the successor to the Bank Insurance Fund and the-

Savings Association Insurance Fund which were merged in 2006

Under the FDICs previous risk-based assessment system insured institutions were assigned to one of four

risk categories based on supervisory evaluations regulatory capital levels and certain other factors with less risky
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institutions paying lower assessments An institutions assessment rate depends upon the category to which it is

assigned and assessment rates ranged from seven to 77.5 basis points On February 2011 however the FDIC

approved final rule that implemented changes to the deposit insurance assessment system mandated by the Dodd-

Frank Act The final rule which took effect for the quarter beginning April 2011 requires that the base on which

deposit insurance assessments are charged be revised from one that is based on domestic deposits to one that is

based on average consolidated total assets minus average tangible equity Under the final rule insured depository

institutions are required to report their average consolidated total assets on daily basis using the regulatory

accounting methodology established for reporting total assets For purposes of the final rule tangible equity is

defined as Tier capital

The FDIC may adjust rates uniformly from one quarter to the next except that no adjustment can deviate more than

three basis points from the base scale without notice and comment rulemaking No institution may pay dividend if

in default of the FDIC assessment

The FDIC imposed on all insured institutions special emergency assessment of five basis points of total

assets minus Tier capital as of June 30 2009 capped at ten basis points of an institutions deposit assessment

base in order to cover losses to the Deposit Insurance Fund That special assessment was collected on September

30 2009 The FDIC provided for similar assessments during the final two quarters of 2009 if deemed necessary

Howevei in lieu of further special assessments the FDIC required insured institutions to prepay estimated quarterly

risk-based assessments for the fourth quarter of 2009 through the fourth quarter of 2012 The estimated

assessments which include an assumed annual assessment base increase of 5% were recorded as prepald expense

asset as of December 30 2009 As of December 31 2009 and each quarter thereafter charge to earnings will be

recorded for each regular assessment with an offsetting credit to the prepald asset

Due to the recent difficult economic conditions deposit insurance per account owner has been raised to

$250000 for all types
of accounts until January 2014 In addition the FDIC adopted an optional Temporary

Liquidity Guarantee Program TLGP under 1which for fee noninterest-bearing transaction accounts would

receive unlimited insurance coverage until June 30 2010 subsequently extended to December 31 2012 The TLGP

also included debt component under which certain senior unsecured debt issued by institutions and their holding

companies between October 13 2008 and October 31 2009 would be guaranteed by the FDIC through June 30

2012 or in some cases December 31 2012 The Bank opted to participate in the unlimitenoninterest-bearing

transaction account coverage
and the Bank and Company also opted to participate in the unsecured debt guarantee

program

In addition to the assessment for deposit insurance institutions are required to make payments on bonds

issued in the late l980s by the Financing Corporation to recapitalize predecessor deposit insurance fund This

payment is established quarterly and during the calendar year ended March 31 2011 averaged 1.0 basis point of

assessable deposits

The FDIC has authority to increase insurance assessments significant increase in insurance premiums

would likely have an adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations of the Bank Management

cannot predict what insurance assessment rates will be in the future

Insurance of deposits may be terminated by the Federal Deposit insurance Corporation upon finding that

the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue

operations or has violated any applicable law regulation rule order or condition imposed by the FDIC The

management of the Bank does not know of any practice condition or violation that might lead to termination of

deposit insurance

All Massachusetts chartered co-operative banks are required to be members of the Share Insurance Fund

The Share Insurance Fund maintains deposit insurance fund which intures all deposits in member banks which are

not covered by federal insurance In past years premium of 1/24 of 1% of insured deposits has been assessed

annually on member banks such as the Bank for this deposit insurance However no premium has been assessed in

recent years
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Prompt Corrective Regulatory Action Federal banking regulators are required to take prompt corrective

action if an insured depository institution fails to satisfy certain minimum capital requirements including leverage

limit risk-based capital requirement and any other measure deemed appropriate by the federal banking regulators

for measuring the capital adequacy of an insured depository institution All institutions regardless of their capital

levels are restricted from making any capital disthbution or paying any management fees if the institution would

thereafter fail to satisfy the minimum levels for any of its capital requirements An institution that fails to meet the

minimum level for any relevant capital measure an undercapitalized institution may be subject to increased

monitoring

by the appropriate federal banking regulator ii required to submit an acceptable capital restoration plan

-. .-

within 45 days iii subject to asset growth him and iv required to obtain prior regulatory approval for

acquisitions branching and new lines of businesses The capital restoration plan must include guarantee by the

institutions holding company that the institution will comply with the plan until it has been adequately capitalized

on average for four consecutive quarters under which the holding company would be liable up to the lesser of 5% of

the institutions total assets or the amount necessary to bring the institution into capital compliance as of the date it

failed to comply with its capital restoration plan significantly undercapitalized institution as well as any

undercapitalized institution that does not submit an acceptable capital restoration plan may be subject to regulatory

demands for recapitalization broader application of restrictions on transactions with affiliates limitations on interest

rates paid on dcposits asset growth and other activities possible replacement of directors and officers and

restrictions on capital distributiotis by any bank holding company controlling the institution Any company

controlling the institution may also be required to .divest the institution or the institution could be required to divest

subsidiaries The senior executive officers of significantly undercapitalized institution may not receive bonuses or

increases in compensation without prior approval and the institution is prohibited from making payments of

principal or interest on its subordinated debt In their discretion the federal banking regulators may also impose the

foregoing sanctions on an undercapitalized institution if the regulators determine that such actions are necessary to

carry out the purposes of the prompt corrective provisions

Under the implementing regulations the federal banking regulators generally measure an institutions

capital adequacy on the basis of its total risk-based capital ratio the ratio of its total capital to risk-weighted assets

Tier risk-based capital ratio the ratio of its core capital to risk-weighted assets and leverage ratio the ratio of its

core capital to adjusted total assets The following table shows the capital ratios required for the various prompt

corrective action categories

Adequately Sigaificantly

Well Capitalized Capitalized Undercapitalized Undercapitalized

Total risk-based

capital ratio 10.0% or more 8.0% or more Less than 8.0% Less than 6.0%

Tier risk-based

capital ratio 6.0% or more 4.0% or more Less than 4.0% Less than 3.0%

Leverage ratio 5.0% or more 4.0% or more Less than 4.0% Less than 3.0%

3.0% if the institution has composite CAMELS rating

If an institutions capital falls below the critically undercapitalized level it is subject to conservatorship

or receivership within specified time frames critically undercapitalized institution is defined as an institution

that has ratio of tangible equity to total assets of less than 2.0% Tangible equity is defined as core capital plus

cumulative perpetual preferred stock and related surplus less all intangible assets other than certain purchased

mortgage servicing rights The FDIC may reclassify well capitalized depository institution as adequately

capitalized and may require an adequately capitalized or undercapitalized institution to comply with the supervisory

actions applicable to institutions in the next lower capital category but may not reclassify significantly

undercapitalized institution as critically undercapitalized if the FDIC determines after notice and an opportunity for

hearing that the savings institution is in an unsafe or unsound condition or that the institution has received and not

corrected less-than-satisfactory rating for any CAMELS rating category

Loans to Executive Officers Directors and Principal Stockholders Loans to directors executive officers

and principal stockholders of state non-member bank like the Bank must be made on substantially the same terms

as those prevailing for comparable transactions with
persons who are not executive officers directors principal

stockholders or employees of the Bank unless the loan is made pursuant to compensation or benefit plan that is

widely available to employees and does not favor insiders Loans to any executive officer director and principal
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stockholder together with all other outstanding loans to such person
and related interests generally may not exceed

15% of the banks unimpaired capital and surplus and aggregate loans to all such persons may not exceed the

institutions unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus Loans to directors executive officers and
principal

stockholders and their respective
related interests in excess of the greater of $25000 or 5% of capital and surplus

and any loans or loans aggregating $500Q00 or more must be approved in advance by majority of the board of

directors of the bank with any interested director not participating in the voting State non-member banks are

generally prohibited from paying the overdrafts of any of their executive officers or directors unless payment is

made pursuant to written pre-authorized interest-bearing extension of credit plan that specifies method of

repayment or transfer of funds from another account at the bank Loans to executive officers are restricted as to

type amount and terms of credit Massachusetts law also contains restrictions on lending to directors and officers

whieh are in some cases stricter than federal law In addition federal law prohibits extensions of credit to

executive officers directors and greater than 10% stockholders of depository institution by any other institution

which has correspondent banking relationship with the institution unless such extension credit is on

substantially the same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactiotis with other persons and does

not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or ptesent other unfavorable features.

Transactions with Affiliates state non-member bank or its subsidiaries may not engage in covered

transactions with any one affiliate in an amount greater than 10% of such banks capital stock and surplus and for

all such transactions with all affiliates state non-member bank is limited to an amount equal to 20% of capital

stock and surplus All such transactions must also be on terms substantially the same or at least as favorable to the

bank or subsidiary as those provided to non-affiliatei The term covered transaction includes the making of

loans purchase of assets issuance of guarantee and similar other types of transactions Specified collateral

requirements apply to certain covered transactions such as loans and guarantees issued on behalf of an affiliate An

affiliate of state non-member bank is any company or entity which controls or is under common coptrol with the

state non-member bank and for purposes of the aggregate limit on transactions with affiliates any subsidiary that

would be deemed financial subsidiary of national bank In holding company context the parent holding

company of state non-member bank such as the Company and any companies which are controlled by such

parent holding company are affiliates of the state non-member bank Federal law fuither prohibits depository

institution from extending credit to or offering any other services or fixing or varying the consideration for such

extension of credit or service on the condition that the customer obtain some additional service from the institution

or certain of its affiliates or not obtain services of competitor of the institution subject to certain limited

exceptions

Enforcement The FDIC has extensive enforcement authority over insured non-member banks including

the Bank This enforcement authority includes among other things the ability to assess civil money penalties to

issue cease and desist orders and to remove directors and officers In general these enforcement actions may be

initiated in response to violations of laws and regulations and unsafe or unsound practices

The FDIC has authority under federal law to appoint conservator or receiver for an insured bank under

limited circumstances The FDIC is required with certain exceptions to appoint receiver or conservator for an

insured state non-member bank if that bank was critically undercapitalized on average during the calendar quarter

beginning 270 days after the date on which the institution became critically undercapitalized See Prompt
Corrective Regulatory Action The FDIC may also appoint itself as conservator or receiver for an insured state

non-member institution under specific circumstances on the basis of the institutions financial condition or upon the

occurrence of other -events including insolvency substantial dissipation of assets or earnings through

violations of law or unsafe or unsound practices existence of an unsafe or unsound condition to transact

business and insufficient capital or the incurring of losses that will deplete substantially all of the institutions

capital with no reasonable prospect of replenishment without federal assistance

Federal Reserve System The Federal Reserve Board regulations require depository institutions to

maintain noninterest-earning reserves against their transaction accounts primarily NOW and regular checking

accounts The Federal Reserve Board regulations generally provide that reserves be maintained against aggregate

transaction accounts as follows for that portion of transaction accounts aggregating $55.8 million less an exemption

of $10.7 million which may be adjusted annually by the Federal Reserve Board the reserve requirement is 3% and

for accounts greater than $58.8 million the reserve xequirement is 10% which may be adjusted annually by the
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Federal Reserve Board between 8% and 14% of the portion in excess of $58.8 million The Bank is in compliance

with these requirements

Community Reinvestment Act Under the Community Reinvestment Act as implemented by FDIC

regulations state non-member bank has continuing and affirmative obligation consistent with its safe and sound

operation to help meet the credit needs of its entire community including low and moderate-income neighborhoods

The Community Reinvestment Act neither establishes specific lending requirements or programs for financial

institutions nor limits an institutions discretion to develop the
types of products and services that it believes are best

suited to its particular commumty The Community Remvestment Act requires the FDIC in connection with its

examination of an institution to assess the institutions record of meeting the credit needs of its community and to

consider such record when it evaluates applications made by such institution The Community Reinvestment Act

requires public disclosure of an institutions Community Reinvestment Act rating The Banks latest Community

Reinvestment Act rating received from the FDIC was Satisfactory

The Bank is also subject to similar obligations under Massachusetts Law The Massachusetts Community
Reinvestment Act requires the Massachusetts Banking Commissioner to consider banks Massachusetts

Community Reinvestment Act rating when reviewing banks application to engage in certain transactions

including mergers asset purchases and the establithment of branch offices or automated teller machines and

provides that such assessment may serve aS basis for the denial of such application The Banks latest

Massachusetts Cominupity Reinvestment Act rating received from theMassachusetts Division of Banks was High

Satisfactory

Federal Home Loan Bank System The Bank is member of the Federal Home Loan Bank system which

consists of 12 regionaL Federal Home Loan Banks The Fedçral Home Loan Banks provide central credit facility

primarily for member institutions and provide funds for certain other purposes including affordable housing

programs The Bank as member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston FHLB oLBoston is required to

acquire and hold shares of capital stock in the FHLB of Boston The Bank was in compliance with this requirement

with an investment in FHLB of Boston stock at March 31 2011 of $8.5 million

During February 2011 the FHLB of Boston declared dividend based upon average
stock outstanding for

the fourth quarter of 2010 The FHLB--of Bostons board of directors anticipates that it will continue to declare

modest cash dividends through .2011 but cautioned that adverse events such as negative trend in credit losses on the

Federal Home Loan Bank of Bostons private label mortgage backed securities or mortgage portfolio meaningful

decline in income or regulatory disapproval could lead to reconsideration of this plan

For the years ended March 31 2011 2010 and 2009 cash dividends from the Federal Home Loan Bank of

Boston to the Bank amounted to $6 $0 and approximately $202 thousand respectively Further there can be no

assurance that the impact of economic events or recent or future legislation on the Federal Home Loan Banks will

not also cause decrease in the value of the Federal Home Loan Bank stock held by the Bank

Employees

At March 31 2011 the Company and the Bank employed 92 full-time and 37 part-time employees The

Companys and Banks employees are not represented by any collective bargaining agreement Management of the

Company and Bank considers its relations with its employees to be good
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Item 1A Risk Factors

An investment in shares of our common stock involves various risks Before deciding to invest in our

common stock you should carefully consider the risks described below in conjunction with the other information in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K and information incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

including our consolidated financial statements and related notes Our business financial condition and results of

operations could be harmed by any of the following risks or by other risks that have not been identified or that we

may believe are immaterial or unlikely The value or market price of our common stock could decline due to any of

these risks and you may lose all or part of your investment The risks discussed below also intlude forward-looking

statements and our actual results maydiffer substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements

Our nonresidential real estate land and construction lending may expose us to greater risk of loss and hun our

earnings and profitability

Our business strategy centers in part on offering nonresidential real estate and construction loans in order

to expand our net inteitst margin These types of loans generally have higher risk-adjusted returns and shorter

maturities than traditional one-to four-family residential mortgage loans At March 31 2011 nonresidential real

estate and land loans totaled $199.5 million which represented 50.6% of total loans If we increase the level of our

nonresidential real estate and construction and land loans we will increase our credit risk profile relative to other

financial institutions that have higher concentrations of one to four-family residential mortgage loans

Loans secured by commercial land or nonresidential real estate properties are generally for larger amounts

and involve greater degree of risk than one-to four-family residential mortgage loans Payments on loans secured

by nonresidential real estate buildings generally are dependent on the income produced by the underlying prOperties

which in turn depends on the successful operation and management of the properties Accordingly repayment of

these loans is subject to adverse conditions in the real estate market or the local economy While we seek to

minimize these risks in variety of ways including limiting the size of our nonresidential real estate loans generally

restricting such loans to our primary market area and attempting to employ conservative underwriting criteria there

can be no assurance that these measures will protect against credit-related losses

Construction financing typically involves higher degree of credit risk than long-term financing on

improved owner-occupied real estate Risk of loss on construction loan is largely dependent upon the accuracy of

the initial estimate of the propertys value at completion of construction and the bid price and estimated cost

including interest of construction If the estimate of construction costs proves to be inaccurate the Bank may be

required to advance funds beyond the amount originally committed to permit completion of the project If the

estimate of the value proves to be inaccurate the Bank may be confronted at or prior to the maturity of the loan

with project whose value is insufficient to assure full repayment When lending to builders the cost of

construction breakdown is provided by the builder as well as supported by the appraisal Although management

believes that the Banks underwriting criteria are designed to evaluate and minimize the risks of each construction

loan there can be no guarantee that these practices will safeguard against material delinquencies and losses to our

operations

Severe adverse and precipitous economic and market conditions have adversely affected us and our industry

The recent negative events in the housing market including significant and continuing home price

reductions coupled with the upward trends in delinquencies and foreclosures have resulted and will likely continue

to result in poor performance of mortgage and construction loans and in significant asset write-downs by many
financial institutions Reduced availability of commercial credit and increasing unemployment further contribute to

deteriorating credit performance of commercial and consumer credit resulting in additional write-downs Financial

market and economic instability have caused financial institutions to severely restrict their lending to customers and

each other This market turmoil and credit tightening has exacerbated commercial and consumer deficiencies the

lack of consumer confidence market volatility and widespread reduction in general business activity Financial

institutions also have experienced decreased access to deposits and borrowings The resulting economic pressure on

consumers and businesses and the lack of confidence in the financial markets has and may continue to adversely

affect our business financial condition results of operations and stock price We do not expect that the difficult
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conditions in the financial markets are likely to improve in the near future In particular we may face the following

risks in connection with these events

We potentially face increased regulation of our industry including heightened legal standards and

regulatory requirements or expectations imposed in connection with recent and anticipated legislation

Compliance with such regulation may increase our costs and limit our ability to pursue business

opportunities

The process we use to estimate losses inherent in our credit exposure requires difficult subjective and

complex judgments including forecasts of economic conditions and how these economic conditions

might impair the ability of our borrowers to repay their loans The level df uncertainty conceming

economic conditions may adversely affect the accuracy of our estimates which may in turn impact

the reliability of the process

We may be required to pay significantly higher FDIC premiums because market developments have

significantly depleted the insurance fund of the FDIC and reduced the ratio of reserves to insured

deposits also our current risk profile may cause us to pay higher premiums

The number of our borrowers that may be unable to make timely repayments of their loans or the

decrease in value of real estate collateral securing the payment of such loans could continue to

escalate and result in significant credit losses increased delinquencies foreclosures and customer

bankruptcies any of which could have material adverse effect on our operating results

Further disruptions in the capital markets or other events including actions by rating agencies and

deteriorating investor expectations may result in an inability to borrow on favorable terms or on any

terms from other financial institutions

Increased competition among financial services companies due to the recent consolidation of certain

competing financial institutions the conversion of certain investment banks to bank holding

companies and the favorable govemmental treatment afforded to the largest of the financial

institutions may adversely affect our ability to market our products and services and continue to

obtain market share

Legislative and regulatory initiatives to address d/flcult market and economic conditions may not stabilize the

U.S banking system If current levels of market disruption and volatility continue or worsen there can be no

assurance that we will not experience an adverse effect which may be material on our ability to access capital

and on our businessflnancial condition results of operations and cash flows

The legislation that established the U.S Treasurys Troubled Assets Relief Program TARP was signed

into law on October 2008 As part of TARP the U.S Treasury established the TARP Capital Purchase Program

CPP to provide up to $700 billion of funding to eligible financial institutions through the purchase of capital

stock and other financial instruments for the purpose of stabilizing and providing liquidity to the U.S financial

markets Subsequently on February 17 2009 the American RecoVery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 the

ARRA sas signed into law aä sweeping economic recovery package iniended to stimulate the economy and

provide for broad infrastructure energy health and education needs There can be no assurance as to the actual

impact any of this legislation will have on the national economy or financial markets The failure of these

significant legislative measures to help stabilize the financial markets and continuation or worsening of current

financial market ôonditions could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of

operations access to credit or the trading price of our common stock

There have been numerous actions undertaken in connection with or following the recent legislation by the

Fedetal Reserve Congress U5 Treasury the Securities and Exchange Commission and the federal bank regulatory

agencies in efforts to address the current liquidity and credit crisis in the financial industry that followed the sub

prime mortgage market meltdown which began in late 2007 These measures include homeowner relief that

encourages loan restructuring and modification the temporary increase in FDIC deposit insurance from $100000 to
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$250000 the establishment of significant liquidity and credit facilities for financial institutions and investment

banks the lowering of the federal funds rate emergency action against short selling practices temporary guaranty

program for money market funds the establishment of commercial
paper funding facility to provide back-stop

liquidity to commercial paper issuers and coordinated international efforts to address illiquidity and other

weaknesses in the banking sector The purpose
of these legislative and regulatory actions is to help stabilize the U.S

banking system The recent legislation and the other regulatory initiatives described above may not have theft

desired effects If the volatility in the markets continues and economic conditions fail to improve or worsen our

business financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

U.S and international financial markets and economic conditions particularly in our market area could

adversely affect our liquidity results of operations and financial condition

Recent turmoil and downward economic trends have been particularly acute in the financial sector We are

considered well-capitalized under the FDICs prompt corrective action regulations While our management has

taken aggressive measures to maintain and increase our liquidity the cost and availability of funds may be adversely

affected by illiquid credit markets and the demand for our products and services may decline as our borrowers and

customers experience the impact of an economic slowdown and recession In view of the concentration of our

operations and the collateral securing our loan portfolio in the metropolitan Boston area we may be particularly

susceptible to adverse economic conditions in the metropolitan Boston area where our business is concentrated In

addition the severity and duration of these adverse conditions is unknown and may exacerbate our exposure to

credit risk and adversely affect the ability of borrowers to perform under the terms of theft lending arrangements

with us In addition the severity and duration of these adverse conditions is unknown and may exacerbate our

exposure to credit risk and adversely affect the ability of borrowers to perform under the terms of theft lending

arrangements with us Accordingly continued turbulence in the U.S and intematignal markets and economy may

adversely affect our liquidity financial condition results of operations and profitability

Recently enacted regulatosy reform may have material impact on our operations

On July 21 2010 the President signed into law The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer

Protection Act the Dodd-Frank Act The Dodd-Frank Act contains various provisions desjgned to enhance the

regulation of depository institutions and prevent the recurrence of financjal crisis such as occurred in 2008-2009

These include provisions strengthening holding company capital requirements requiring retention of portion of the

risk of securitized loans and regulating debit card interchange fees The Dodd-Frank Act also creates new federal

agency to administer consumer protection and fair lending laws function that is now performed by the depository

institution regulators The full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on our business and operations wijl not be known for

years
until regulations implementing the statute are written and adopted. However it is likely that the provisions of

the

Dodd-Frank Act will have an adverse impact on our operations particularly through increased regulatory burden

and compliance costs

Liquidity is essential to our businesses and we rely on external sources to finance significant portion of our

operations

Liquidity is essential to our businesses Our liquidity could be substantially affected in negative fashion

by an inability to raise funding in the long-term or short-term debt capitLmarkets or the equity capital markets or an

inability to access the secured lending markets Current conditions iii the capital markets are such that traditional

sources of capital may not be available to us on reasonable terms if it needed to raise capital As previously

reported the Companys investments in the perpetual preferred stock of the FNMA and FHLMC were significantly

impacted by the September 2008 conservatorship of FNMA and FHLMC giving control of their management to the

Federal Housing Finance Agency and prohibiting FNMA and FHLMC from paying dividends on their aisting

common and preferred stock This impairment to the Companys securities portfolio caused the Company to be

adequately capitalized under the federal prompt corrective action regulations as of September 30 2008 On

December 2008 the Company sold $10.0 ipillion in preferred shares to the U.S Treasury as participant in the
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TARP Capital Purchase Program which represented approximately 2.6% of the Companys risk-weighted assets as

of September 30 2008 With the U.S Treasurys $10.0 million investment in the Company the Company and the

Bank jnet all regulatory requirements to be considered well capitalized under the federal prompt corrective action

regulations at both March 31 2010 and March 31 2011 In the event that the Company needs to raise additional

capital in the future there is no guarantee that we will be able to borrow funds or successfully raise additional

capital at all or on terms that are favorable or otherwise not dilutive to existing shareholders If we are unable to

raise funding using the methods described above we would likely need to finance or liquidate unencumbered assets

to meet maturing liabilities We may be unable to sell some of our assets or we may have to sell assets at discount

from market value pither of which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition

The limitations on executive compensation imposed through our participation in the TARP Capital Purchase

Program may restrict our ability to attract retain and motivate key employees which could adversely affect our

operations

As part.of our participation in the TARP Capital Purchase Program we agreed to be bound by certain

executive compensation restrictions including limitations on severance payments and the clawback of any bonus

and incentive compensatipn that were based on materially inaccurate fmancial statements or any other materially

inaccurate performance metric criteria Subsequent to the issuance of the preferred stock the ARRA was enacted

which proyides more stringent limitations on severance pay and the payment of bonuses To the extent that any of

these compensation restrictions do not permit us to provide comprehensive compensation package to our key

employees that is competitive in our market area we have difficulty in attracting retaining and motivating our key

employees which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations

Future dividend payments an4 pommon stock repurchases are restricted by the terms of the U.S Treasurys

equity investment in us

Under the terms of the TARP Capital Purchase Program until the earlier of the third anniversary of the date

of issuance of the Companys Series Preferred Stock and the date on which the Series Preferred Stock has been

redeemed in whole or the U.S Treasury has transferred all of the Series Preferred Stock to third parties we are

prohibited from increasing dividends on our common stock from the last quarterly cash dividend per share $0.18

declared op the common stock prior to December 2008 as adjusted for subsequent stock dividends and other

similar actions and from making certain repurchases of equity securities including our common stock without the

consent of tle U.S Treasury Furthermore as long as the Series Preferred Stock is outstanding dividend

payments and repurchases or redemptions relating to certain equity securities including our common stock are

prohibited until all accrued and unpaid dividends are paid on such preferred stock subject to certain limited

exceptions

The terms governing the issuance of the preferred stock to the U.S Treasury may be changed the effect of which

may have an adverse effect on our operations

The terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement in which we entered into with U.S Treasury pursuant to

the TARP Capital Purchase Program provides that the U.S Treasury may unilaterally amend any provision of the

Purchase Agreement to the extent required to comply with any changes in applicable federal law that may occur in

the future We have no assurances that changes in the terms of the transaction will not occur in the future Such

changes may place restrictions on our business or results of operation which may adversely affect the market price

of our common stock

Our business is subject to the success of the local economy in which we operate

Because the majority of our borrowers and depositors are individuals and businesses located and doing

business in the northwestern suburbs of Boston our success depends to significant extent upon economic

conditions in that market area Adverse economic conditions in our market area could reduce our growth rate affect

the ability of our customers to repay their loans and generally affect our financial condition and results of operations

Conditions such as inflation recession unemployment high interest rates short money supply scarce natural
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resources international disorders terrorism and other factors beyond our control may adversely affect our

profitability We are less able than larger institution to spread the risks of unfavorable local economic conditions

across large number of diversified economies Any sustained period of increased payment delinqueiTcies

foreclosures or losses caused by adverse market or economic conditions in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts

could adversely affect the value of our assets revenues results of operations and financial condition Moreover we

cannot give any assurance we will benefit from any market growth or favorable economic conditions in our primary

market areas

If the value of real estate in northwestern suburbs of Boston were to decline materially significant portion of

our loan portfolio could become under-collateralized which could have material adverse effect on us

With most of our loans concentrated in the northwestern suburbs of Boston decline in local economic

conditions could adversely affect the value of the real estate collateral securing our loans Generally it appears that

the local commercial real estate and residential real estate markets remain weak Commercial real estate prices have

generally declined by 5% during calendar year 2010 compared to 10% decline during calendar 2009 and 2%

decline during calendar 2008 Boston area residential property valuesdecreased slightly during calendar
year 2010

reversing what appeared to be turnaround in the housing market Housing prices increased slightly during 2009

compared to decline of approximately 8% to 9% during calendar 2008 Further declines in property values would

diminish our ability to recover on defaulted loans by selling the real estate collateral making it more likely that we

would suffer losses on defaulted loans Additionally decrease in asset quality could require additions to our

allowance for loan losses through increased provisions for loan losses which would hurt our profits Also decline

in local economic conditions may have greater effect on our earnings and capital than on the earnings and capital

of larger financial institutions whose real estate loan portfolios are more geographically diverse Real estate values

are affected by various factors in addition to local economic conditions including among other things changes in

general or regional economic conditions governmental rules or policies and natural disasters

Our continued pace of growth may require us to raise additional capital in the future but that capital may not be

available when it is needed

We are required by regulatory authorities to maintain adequate levels of capital to support our operations

We anticipate our capital resources will satisfy our capital requirements for the foreseeable future We may at some

point however need to raise additional capital to support our continued growth If we raise capital through the

issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other securities it could dilute the ownership interests of

current investors and may dilute the per share book value of our common stock New investors may also have

rights preferences and privileges senior to our current stockholders which may adversely impact our current

shareholders

Our ability to raise additional capital if needed will depend on conditions in the capital markets at that

time which are outside our control and on our financial performance Accordingly we cannot assure you of our

ability to raise additional capital if needed on terms acceptable to us If we cannot raise additional capital when

needed our ability to further expand our operations through internal growth and acquisitions could be materially

impaired

Competitionfromfinancial institutions and other financial service providers may adversely affect our growth and

profitability

The banking business is highly competitive and we experience competition in each of our markets from

many other financial institutions We compete with commercial banks credit unions savings and loan associations

mortgage banking firms consumer finance companies securities brokerage firms insurance companies money

market funds and other mutual funds as well as other super-regional national and international financial

institutions that operate offices in our primary market areas and elsewhere We compete with these institutions both

in attracting deposits and in making loans This competition has made it more difficult for us to make new loans and

has occasionally forced us to offer higher deposit rates Price competition for loans and deposits might result in us

earning less on our loans and paying more on our deposits which reduces net interest income While we beliee we

can and do successfully compete with these other financial institutions in our primary markets we may face

competitive disadvantage as result of our smaller size smaller resources and smaller lending limits lack of
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geographic diversification and inability to spread our marketing costs across broader market Although we

compete by concentrating our marketing efforts in our primary markets with local advertisements personal contacts

and greater flexibility and responsiveness in working with local customers we can give no assurance this strategy

will be successful

Future FDIC assessments may reduce our earnings

On September 29 2009 the FDIC adopted an Amended Restoration Plan to enable the Deposit Insurance

Fund to return to its minimum reserve ratio of 1.15% over eight years Under this plan the FDIC did not impose

previously-planned second special assessment on September 30 2009 the Bank paid the first special assessment

which totaled $270 thousand Also the plan calls for deposit insurance premiums to increase by basis points

effective January 2011 Additionally to meet bank failure cash flow needs the FDIC assessed three year

insurance premium prepayment which was paid by banks in December 2009 covers the period of January 2010

through December 31 2012 The FDIC estimates that bank failures will total approximately $100 billion during the

period but only projects revenues of approximately $60 billion The shortfall will be met through the collection of

the prepaid premiums which is estimated to be $45 billion The Banks prepaid premium totaled $2.3 million and

was paid during the quarter ended December 31 2009 and it is being amortized monthly over the three year period

This prepaid deposit premium is carried on the balance sheet in the other assets category and amounted to $1.6

million at March 31 2011 Any additional emergency special assessment imposed by the FDIC will further reduce

the Companys earnings

Fluctuations in interest rates could reduce our pofitability and affect the value of our assets

Like other financial institutions we are subject to interest rate risk Our primary source of income is net

interest income which is the difference between interest earned on loans and investments and the interest paid on

deposits and borrowings We expect that we will periodically experience imbalances in the interest rate sensitivities

of our assets and liabilities and the relationships of various interest rates to each other Over any defined period of

time our interest-earning assets may be more sensitive to changes in market interest rates than our interest-bearing

liabilities or vice versa In addition the individual market interest rates underlying our loan and deposit products

e.g prime may not change to the same degree over given time period In any event if market interest rates

should move contrary to our position our earnings may be negatively affected In addition loan volume and quality

and deposit volume and mix can be affected by market interest rates Changes in levels of market interest rates

could materially adversely affect our net interest spread asset quality origination volume and overall profitability

During fiscal 2006 short-term market interest rates which we use as guide to price our deposits had

risen from historically low levels while longer-term market interest rates which we use as guide to price our

longer-term loans did not This flattening of the market yield curve existed during fiscal 2007 and for part of

2008 and had negative impact on our interest rate spreadand net interest margin as rates on our deposits repriced

upwards faster than the rates on our longer-term loans and investments For fiscal
years 2007 2008 2009 2010 and

2011 our interest rate spread was 2.21% 2.06% 2.63% 2.92% and 3.26% respectively In addition the U.S

Federal Reserve has decreased the federal funds target rate from 5.25% in September 2007 to rate of 0.25% at

March 31 2011 However decreases in interest rates can result in increased prepayments of loans and mortgage-

related securities as borrowers refinance to reduce their borrowing costs Under these circumstances we are subject

to reinvestment risk as we may have to redeploy such loan or securities proceeds into lower-yielding assets which

might also negatively impact our income

We principally manage interest rate risk by managing our volume and mix of our earning assets and

funding liabilities In changing interest rate environment we may not be able to manage this risk effectively If

we are unable to manage interest rate risk effectively our business financial condition and results of operatidns

could be materially harmed

Changes in the level of interest rates also may negatively affect our ability to originate real estate loans the

value of our assets and our ability to realize gains from the sale of our assets all of which ultimately affect our

earnings
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For more information on how changes in interest rates could impact us see Item 7A Quttntitative and

Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our allowance for loan losses may prove to be insufficient to absorb losses in our loan portfolio

Like all financial institutions we maintain an allowance for loan losses to provide for loans in our portfolio

that may not be repaid in their entirety We believe that our allowance for loan losses is maintained at level

adequate to absorb probable losses inherent in our loan portfolio as of the corresponding balance sheet date

Howeyer our allowance for loan losses may not be sufficient to cover actual loan losses and future provisions for

lqan losses could materially adversely affect our operating results

In evaluating the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses we consider numerous quantitative factors

including our historical charge-off experiencç.growth of our loan portfolio changes in the composition of our loan

portfolio and the volume of delinquent and criticized loans In addition we use information about specific borrower

situations including their financial position -and estimated collateral values to estimate the risk and ainoant of loss

for those borrowers Finally we also consider many qualitative factors including general and economic business

conditions duration of the current lusiness cycle quality of underwriting standards curyent general market

collateral valuations trends apparent in loan concentrations loan to value ratios lenders experience past due and

nonaccrual loans and other matters which are by nature more subjective and fluid Our estimates of the risk of loss

and amount of loss on any loan are complicated by the significant uncertainties surrounding our borrowers abilities

to successfully execute their business models through changing economic environments competitive challenges and

other factors Because of the degree of uncertainty and susceptibility of these factors to change our actual losses

may vary from our current estimates

At March 31 2011 our allowance for loan losses as percentage of total loans was 0.99% The FDIC and

the Massachusetts Commissioner of Banks periodically review our allowance for loan losses and may require us to

increase our allowance for loan losses by recognizing additional provisions for loan losses charged to expense or to

decrease our allowance for loan losses by recognizing loan charge-offs net of recoveries Any such additional

provisions for loan losses or charge-offs as required by these regulatory agencies could have material adverse

effect on our financial condition and results of operations

We are dependent upon the services of our management team

Our future success and profitability is substantially dependent upon the management and banking abilities

of our senior executives We believe that our future results will also depend in part upon our attracting and retaining

highly skilled and qualified management We are especially dependent ow limited number of key management

prsonnel and the loss of our chief executive officer or other senior executive officers could have material adverse

impact on our operations because other officers may not have the experience and expertise to readily replace thesç

individuals Competition for such personnel is intense and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in

attracting or retaining such personnel Changes in key personnel and their responsibilities may be disruptive to our

business and could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results .f operations

Our failure to continue to recruit and retain qua4fied loan originators could adversely affect our ability to

compete successfully and affect our profitability

Our continued success and future growth depend heavily on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled

atud motivated loan priginators and other banking professionals We compete against many institutions with greater

financial resources both within our industry and in other industries to attract these qualified individuals Qur

failure to recruit and retain adequate talent could reduce our ability to compete successfully and adversely affect our

business and profitability

We operate in highly regulated environment and we may be adyersely affected by changes in laws and

regulations

The Bank is subject to regulation supervision and examination by the Massachusetts Commissioner of

Banks and the FDIC as insurer of its deposits Such regulation and supervision govern the activities in which co
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operative bank and its holding company may engage and are intended primarily for the protection of the deposit

insurance funds and for the depositors of Central Co-operative Bank and are not intended to protect the interests of

investors in our common stock Regulatory authorities have extensive discretion in theft supervisory and

enforcement activities including the imposition of restrictions on our operations the classification of our assets and

determination of the level of our allowance for loan losses Any change in such regulation and oversight whether in

the form of regulatory policy regulations legislation or supervisory action may have material impact on our

operations In addition the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations promulgated by the

Securities and Exchange Commission and NASDAQ that are applicable to us have increased the scope complexity

and cost of coorate governance reporting and disclosure practices including the costs of completing our audit and

maintaining our internal controls

We are subject to security and operational risks relating to our use of technology that SÆld damage our

reputation and our business

Security breaches in our Internet banking activities could expose us to possible liability and damage our

reputation Any compromise of our security also could deter customers from using our intemet banking services that

involve the transmission of confidential information We rely on standard internet security systems to provide the

security and authentication necessary to effect secure transmission of data These precautions may not protect our

systems from compromises or breaches of our security measures that could result in damage to our reputation and

our business Additionally we outsource our data processing to third parties If our third party providerS encounter

difficulties or if we have difficulty in communicating with such third parties it will significantly affect our ability to

adequately process and account for customer transactions which would significantly affect our business operations

We may have fewer resources than many of our competitors to invest in technological improvements

The financial services industry is undergoing rapid technological changes with frequent introductions of

new technology-driven products and services The effective use of technology increases efficiency and enablçs

financial institutions to better serve customers and to reduce costs Our future success will depend in part upon our

ability to address the needs of our customers by using technology to provide products and services that will satisfy

customer demands for convenience as well as to create additional efficiencies in our operations Many of our

competitors have substantially greater resources to invest in technological improvements We may not be able to

effectively implement new technology-driven products and services or be successful in marketing these products

and services to our customers

Our ability to service our debt pay dividends and otherwise pay our obligations as they come due is substantially

dependent on capital distributions from Central Co-operative Bank and these distributions are subject to

regulatory limits and other restrictions

substantial source of our income from which we service our debt pay our obligations and from which we

can pay dividends is the receipt of dividends from Central Co-operative Bank The availability of dividends from

Central Co-operative Bank is limited by various statutes and regulations It is also possible depending upon the

financial condition of Central Co-operative Bank and other factors that the applicable regulatory authorities could

assert that payment of dividends or other payments is an unsafe or unsound practice In the event that Central Co
operative Bank is unable to pay dividends to us we may not be able to service our debt pay our obligations or pay

dividends on our common stock The inability to receive dividends from Central Co-operative Bank would

adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and prospects

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable
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Item Properties

The Bank owns all its offices except the Burlington Maiden and Woburn High School branch offices the

stand-alone ATM the loan centers located in Somerville and the branch and operations center located in Medford

Net book value includes the cost of land buildings and improvements as well as leasehold improvements net of

depreciation and amortization At March 31 2011 all of the Banks offices were in reasonable condition and met

the business needs of the Bank The following table sets forth the location of the Banks offices as well as certain

information relating to these offices as of March 31 2011

Net Book
Year Value at

Office Location Opened March 31 2011

In Thousands
Main Office

399 Highland Avenue

Somerville MA owned 1974 366

Branch Offices
175 Broadway

--

Arlington MA owned 1982 105

85 Wilmington Road

Burlington MA leased 1978 15

1192 Boylston Street

Chestnut Hill Brookline MA owned 1954 250

137 Pleasant Street

Malden MA leased 1975 27

846 Main Street

Meirose MA owned 1994 175

275 Main Street

Wobum MA owned 1980 433

198 Lexington Street

Wobum MA owned 1974 164

Wobum High School

Wobum MA leased 2002 11

Stand-Alone ATM
94 Highland Avenue

Somerville MA leased 2004

Loan Center

401 Highland Avenue

Somerville MA leased 2002 170

Operations Center/Branch Office

270 Mystic Avenue

Medford MA leased 2006 384

The lease for the Burlington branch expires October 31 2012 with five-year renewal option

The lease for the Malden branch expires August 31 2015
The lease for the Woburn High School branch is for one year renewable annually on an automatic basis

The lease for the stand-alone ATM expires November 30 2013 with an option to extend for two additional three-year terms

The lease for the Commercial Loan Center expires May 2015 with two five-year renewal options

In March 2005 the Bank signed lease for combined retail branch and operations center to be located at 270 Mystic

Avenue Medford The lease was subsequently renegotiated and the Bank took occupancy in May 2006 The initial rent

under the lease is for $150000 per year and the initial term is 10 years There are options to extend the lease by two five

year terms

At March 31 2011 the aggregate net book value of the Banks premises and equipment was $2.7 million
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Item Legal Proceedinus

Periodically there have been various claims and lawsuits involving the Company such as claims to enforce

liens condemnation proceedings on properties in which we hold security interests claims involving the making and

servicing of real property loans and other issues incident to our business We are not party to any pending legal

proceedings that we believe would have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or

cash flows

Item IRemoved and Reservedi

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

The Companys common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global MarketSM under the symbol CEBK
At March 31 2011 there were 1681071 shares of the Companys common stock outstanding and approximately

196 holders of record The foregoing number of holders does not reflect the number of persons or entities who held

the stock in nominee or street name through various brokerage firms In October 1996 the Company established

quarterly cash dividend policy and made its first dividend distribution on November 15 1996 The Company has

paid cash dividends on quarterly basis since initiating the dividend program

The following tables list the high and low prices for the Companys common stock during each quarter of

fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 as reported by NASDAQ and the amounts and payable dates of the cash dividends paid

during each quarter of fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 The stock quotations constitute interdealer prices without retail

markups markdowns or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions

Common Stock Prices Cash Dividends payable dates

2011

Fiscal 2011 High Low

June3O2010 11.51 $8.56

September 30 2010 14.17 9.80

December31 2010 15.30 12.43

March 31 2011 20.00 13.50

Fiscal 2011 Amount

May 21 2010 $0.05

August 20 2010 0.05

November 19 2010 0.05

Februaryl82011 0.05

Fiscal 2010 High Low Fiscal 2010 Amount

June 30 2009 8.00 4.05 May 15 2009 $0.05

September 30 2009 9.40 5.60 August 21 2009 0.05

December 31 2009 10.80 7.96 November 20 2009 0.05

March3l2010 10.09 8.11 Febmaryl92010 0.05

The Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal
year
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Selected Ratios

Item Selected Financial Data

The Company has derived the following selected consolidated fmancial and other data in part from its

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

At or for the Year Ended March 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data

Balance Sheet

Total assets $487625 $566140

Total loans 394217 460542
Investments available for sale 25185 65763

Deposits 309077 388573

Total borrowings 128692 137053

Total stockholders equity 47121 37702

$hars outstanding 1681071 1639951 1639951 1639951

Statements of Operations

Net interest and dividend income $17382 $17013 $15862 $13596 $14449

Provision for loan losses reduction of provision 1100 600 2125 70 80

Net gain loss from sales and write-downs of

investment securities 136 465 9796 645 581

Gainonsalesofloans 251 329 111 158 99

Other noninterest income 1671 1547 1640 1429 1314

Total noninterest expenses 15669 15146 15159 13859 14856

Net income loss 1725 1993 6205 1447 1020

Earnings loss per common share diluted 0.68 0.92 4.58 1.07 0.70

$542444

4615 10

34368

339169

154810

45113

1667151

$575827

460670

35215

375074

156938

40239

$571245

474942

52960

361089

168
38816

Interest rate spread 3.25% 2.92% 2.63% 2.06% 2.21%

Net yield on interest-earning assets 3.50 3.21 2.96 2.51 2.68

Noninterest expenses to average assets 3.01 2.73 2.73 2.49 2.69

Book equity-to-assets

Return on average assets

9.66

0.33

8.32

0.36

6.99

1.12

6.79

0.26

6.66

0.18

Retum on average stockholders equity 3.74 4.66 16.68 3.76 2.59

Dividend payout ratio for common shares 29.41 21.74 n/a 67.29 100.00

Book value per common share 22.26 21.31 18.76 23.67 22.99

Tangible book value per common shard 20.93 19.97 17.40 22.31 21.63
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Quarterly Results of Operations In Thousands Except Per Share Data

The following tables summarize the Companys operating results on quarterly basis for the years ended

March 31 2011 and 2010

2011

First Second Third

6845

2210

4635

300

578

3.752

1111

372

739

0.39

0.37

6605

2.070

4535

300

291

3.927

599

198

401

0.16

0.15

$6187
1.939

4248

300

552

3.825

675

330

345

0.13

0.12

Fourth

5668

1704

3964

200

686

4163

287

46

241

0.06

0.05

Interest and dividend income

Interest expense

Net interest and dividend incbme

Provision for loan losses

Noninterest income

Noninterest expenses

Income before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net income

Earnings per common share basic

Earnings per.common share diluted

Interest and dividend income

Interest expense

Net interest and dividend income

Provision for loan losses

Noninterest income

Noninterest expenses

Income before income taxes

Income tax provision benefit

Net income

Earnings per
comnin share basic

Earnings er common share diluted

2010

First Second Third Fourth

7188 7225 7088 7037

3.340 3.039 2.711 2.435

3848 4.186 4377 4.602

50 200 100 250

534 410 379 87

3.922 3.485 3.983 3.756

410

112

911

307

673

307

683

42
298 604 366 725

0.10 0.31 0.15 0.39

0.10 0.31 0.14 0.37
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Item Mana2ements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General

The operations of the Company and its subsidiary the Bank are generally influenced by overall economic

conditions the related monetary and fiscal policies of the federal government and the regulatory policies of financial

institution regulatory authorities including the Massachusetts Commissioner of Banks the Federal Reserve Board

and the FDIC

The Bank monitors its exposure to earnings fluctuations resulting from market interest rate changes

Historically the Banks earnings have been vulnerable to changing interest rates due to differences in the terms to

maturity or repricing of its assets and liabilities For example in rising interest rate environment the Banks net

interest income and net income could be negatively affected as interest-sensitive liabilities deposits and

borrowings could adjust more quickly to rising interest rates than the Banks interest-sensitive assets loans and

investments

The following is discussion and analysis of the Companys results of operations for the last two fiscal

years and its financial condition at the end of fiscal years 2011 and 2010 Managements discussion and analysis of

financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements

and accompanying notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Managements discussion and analysis of the Companys financial condition and results of operations are

based on the consolidated financial statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America The preparation of such fmancial -statements requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and

expenses and related diclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On an ongoing basis management evaluates its

estimates including those related to the allowance for loan losses fair value of investments and other-than

temporØry impairment income taxes impairment of goodwill valuation of other real estate owned and valuation of

stock options under ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation and other equity based instruments Accounting

policies involving significant judgments and assumptions by management which have or could have material

impact on the carrying value of certain assets and impact income are considered critical accounting policies The

company considers the allowance for loan losses loans fair value of other real estate owned fair value of

investments and other-than-temporary impairment income taxes accounting for goodwill and impairment .and

stock-based compensation to be its critical accounting policies There have been no significant changes in the

methods or assumptions used in the accounting policies that require material estimates and assumptions Actual

results could differ from the amount derived from managements estimates and assumptions under different

assumptions or conditions

Allowance for Loan Losses The allowance for loan losses is maintained at level determined to be

adequate by management to absorb probable losses based on an evaluation of known and inherent risks in the

portfolio This allowance is increased by provisions charged to operating expense and by recoveries on loans

previously charged-off and reduced by charge-offs on loans or reductions in the provision credited to operating

expense

The Bank provides for loan losses in order to maintain the allowance for loan losses at level that

management estimates is adequate to absorb probable losses based on an evaluation of known and inherent risks in

the portfolio In determining the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses management considers past and

anticipated loss experience evaluations of underlying collateral financial condition of the borrower prevailing

economic conditions the nature and volume of the loan portfolio and the levels of non-performing and other

classified loans The amount of the allowance is based on estimates and ultimate losses may vary from such

estimates Management assesses the allowance for loan losses on quarterly basis and provides for loan losses

monthly when appropriate to maintain the adequacy of the allowance
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Regarding impaired loans the Bank individually evaluates each loan and documents what management

believes to be an appropriate reserve level in accordance with ASC 310 If management does not believe that any

separate reserve for such loan is deemed necessary at the evaluation date in accordance with ASC 310 that loan

would continue to be evaluated separately and will not be returned to be included in the general ASC 450

Contingencies ASC 45Q formula based reserve calculation In evaluating impaired loans all related

management discounts of appraised values selling and resolution costs are taken into consideration in determining

the level of reserves required when appropriate

The methodology employed in calculating the allowance for loan losses is portfolio segmentation For the

commercial real estate CRE portfolio this is further refined through stratification within each segment based on

loan-to-value LTV ratios The CRE portfolio is further segmented by type of properties securing those loans This

approach allows the Bank to take into consideration the fact that the various sectors of the real estate market change

value at differing rates and thereby present different risk levels CRE loans are segmented into the following

categories

Apartments

Offices

Retail

Mixed Use

Industrial/Other

Monthly CRE loans are segmented using the above collateral-types and three LTV ratio categories 40%
40%-60% and 60% While these

ranges are subjective management feels that each category represents

significantly different degree of risk from the other CRE loans carrying higher LW ratios are assigned

incrementally higher ASC 450 reserve rates Annually for the CRE portfolio management adjusts the appraised

values which are used to calculate LTV ratios in our allowance for loan losses calculation The data is provided by

an independent appraiser and it indicates annual changes in value for each property type in the Banks market area

for the last ten years Management then adjusts the appraised or most recent appraised values based on the year the

appraisal was made These adjustments are believed to be appropriate based on the Banks own experience with

collateral values in its market area in recent years Based on the Companys allowance for loan loss methodology

with respect to CRE unfavorable trends in the value of real estate will increase the level of the Companys ASC 450

allowance for loan losses

In developing ASC 450 reserve levels recent regulatory guidance focuses on the Banks charge-off history

as starting point The Banks charge-off history in recent years has been minimal therefore management

continues to utilize more conservative historical loss ratios which are believed to be appropriate Those ratios are

then adjusted based on trends in delinquent and impaired loans trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in

underwriting practices experience of loan staff national and local economic trends industry conditions and

changes in credit concentrations There is concentration in CRE loans but the concentration is decreasing

Managements efforts to reduce the levels of commercial real estate and construction loans are reflected in changes

in the Banks commercial real estate concentration ratio which is calculated as total non-owner occupied

commercial real estate and construction loans divided by the Banks risk-based capital At March 31 2011 the

commercial real estate concentration ratio was 330% compared to ratio of 466% at March 31 2010 and 600% at

March 31 2009

Residential loans home equity loans and consumer loans other than TDRs and loans in the
process

of

foreclosure or repossession are collectively evaluated for impairment Factors considered in determining the

appropriate ASC 450 reserve levels are trends in delinquent and impaired loans changes in the value of collateral

trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in underwriting practices experience of loan staff national and local

economic treids industry conditions and changes in credit concentrations TDRs and loans that are in the process

of foreclosure or repossssion are evaluated under ASC 310

Commercial and Industi al and construction loans that are not impaired are evaluated under ASC 450 and

factors considered in determining the appropriate reserve levels include trends in delinquent Sand impaired loans

changes in the value of collateral trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in underwriting practices experience

37



of loan staff national and local economic trends industry conditions and changes in credit concentrations Those

loans that are individually reviewed for impairment are evaluated according to ASC 310

Although management uses available information to establish the appropriate level of the allowance for

loan losses future additions or reductions to the allowance may be necessary based on estimates that are susceptible

to change as result of changes in loan composition or volume changes in economic market area conditions or

other factors As result our allowance for loan losses may not be sufficient to cover actual loan losses and future

provisions for loan losses could materially adversely affect the Companys operating results In addition various

regulatory agencies as an integral part of their examination process periodically review the Companys allowance

for loan losses Such agencies may require the Company to recognize adjustments to the allowance based on their

judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination Management currently believes that

there are adequate reserves and collateral securing non-performing loans to cover losses that may result from these

loans at March 31 2011

Loans Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future are reported at

the principal amount outstanding adjusted by unamortized discounts premiums and net deferred loan origination

costs and fees

Loans classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value Fair value is

estimated based on outstanding investor commitments Net unrealized losses if any are provided for in valuation

allowance by charges to operations The Company enters into forward commitments generally on best efforts

delivery basis to sell loans held for sale in order to reduce market risk associated with the originatidn of such loans

Loans held for sale are sold on servicing released basis As of March 31 2011 loans held for sale totaled $0

compared to $392 thousand at March 31 2010 and at that date the aggregate cost of loans held for sale

approximated fair value

Mortgage loan commitments that relate to the origination of mortgage that will be held for sale upon funding

are considered derivative instruments Loan commitments that are derivatives are recognized at fair value on the

consolidated balance sheet in other assets and other liabilities with changes in their fair values recorded in

noninterest income

The Company carefully evaluates all loan sales agreements to determine whether they meet the definition of

derivative as facts and circumstances may differ significantly If agreements qualify to protect against the price risk

inherent in derivative loan commitments the Company generally uses best efforts forward loan sale commitments

to mitigate the risk of potential decreases in the values of loans that wouldresult from the exercise of the derivative

loan conmiitments Mandatory delivery contracts are accounted for as derivative instruments Accordingly forward

loan sale commitments are recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet in other assets and liabilities

with changes in their fair values recorded in other noninterest income

Loan origination fees net of certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and are amortized into

interest income over the contractual loan term using the level-yield method At March 31 2011 and 2010 net

deferred loan fees of $23 thousand and net deferred loan costs of $88 thousand respectively were included with the

related loan balances for financial presentation purposes

Interest income on loans is recognized on an accrual basis using the simple interest method only if deemed

collectible Loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued are designated as nonaccrual loans

Accrual of interest on loans and amortization of net deferred loan fees or costs are discontinued either when

reasonable doubt exists as to the full and timely- collection of interest or principal or when loan becomes

contractually past due 90 days with respect to interest or principal The accrual on some loans however may
continue even though they are more than 90 days past due if management deems it appropriate provided that the

loans are well secured and in the process of collection When loan is jlaced on nonaccmal status all interest

previously accrued but not collected is reversed against current period interest income Interest accruals are resumed

on suh loans only when they are brought fully current with respect to interest and principal and when in the

judgment of management the loans are estimated to be fully collectible as to both principal and interest The Bank

records interest income on nonaccrual and impaired loanson the cash basis of accounting
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Loans are classified as impaired when it is probable that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts

due in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement Impaired loans except those loans that are

accounted for at fair value or at lower of cost or fair value such as loans held for sale are accounted for at the

present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loans effective interest rate or as practical

expedient in the case of collateral dependent loans the lower of the fair value of the collateral less selling and other

costs or the recorded amount of the loan In evaluating collateral values for impaired loans management obtains

new appraisals or opinions of value when deemed necessary and may discount those appraisals depending on the

likelihood of foreclosure generally by 20 percent to 30 percent Other factors considered by management when
--

discounting appraisals are the age of the appraisal availability of comparable properties geographic considerations

and property type Management considers the payment status net worth and earnings potential of the borrower and

the value and cash flow of the collateral as factors to determine if loan will be paid in accordance with its

contractual terms Management does not set any minimum delay of payments as factor in reviewing for

impairment classification For all loans charge-offs occur when management believes that the collectibility of

portion or all of the loans principal balance is remote Management copsiders nonaccrual loans except for certain

nonaccrual residential and consumer loans to be impaired However all troubled debt restrueturings TDRs are

considered to be impaired TDR occurs when the Bank grants concession to borrower with financial

difficulties th4t it would not otherwise consider The majority of TDRs involve modification in loan terms such as

temporary reduction in the interest rate or temporary period of interest only and escrow if required TDRs are

accounted for as set forth in ASC 310 Receivables ASC 310 TDR is typically on non-accrual until the

borrower successfully performs under the new terms for at least six consecutive months However TDR may be

kept on accrual immediately following the restructuring in those instances where borrowers payments are current

prior to the modification and management determines that principal and interest under the new terms are fully

collectible

Existing performing loan customers who request loan non-TDR modification and who meet the Banks

underwriting standards may usually for fee modify their original loan terms to terms currently offered The

modified terms of these loans are similar to the terms offered to new customers with similar credit income and

collateral Each modification is examined on loan-by-loan basis and if the modification of terms represents more

than minor change to the loan then the unamortized balance of the pre-modification deferred fees or costs

associated with the mortgage loan are recognized in interest income at the time of the modification If the

modification of terms does not represent more than minor change to the loan then the unamortized balance of the

pre-modification deferred fees or costs continue to be deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the loan

Income Taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences

attributable to differences between the accounting basis and the tax basis of the Banks assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the

years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled The Banks deferred tax asset is

reviewed periodically and adjustments to such asset are recognized as deferred income tax expense or benefit based

on managements judgments relating to the realizability of such an asset

Accounting for Goodwill and- Impairment ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350
addresses the method of idefltifying and measuring goodwill and other intangible assets having indefinite lives

acquired in business combination eliminates further amortization of goodwill and requires periodic impairment

evaluations of goodwill using fair value methodology prescribed in ASC 350 In accordance with ASC 350 the

Company does nçt amortize the goodwill balance of $2.2 million and the Company consists of single reporting

unit Impairxnpnt testing is required at least annually or more frequently as result of an event or change in

circumstances e.goperating losses by the acquired entity that would indicate an impairment adjustment

may be necessary Thç Company adopted December 31 as its assessment date Annual impairment testing was

performed dining epch year and in each analysis it was determined that an impairment charge was not required

The most recent testing was performed as of December 31 2010 utilizing average earnings and
average book and

tangible book multiples of sales transactions of banks considered to be comparable to the Company and

management determined that no impairment existed at that date Management utilized 2010 sales transaction data of

financial institutions in the New England area of similarsize credit quality net income and retum on average assets

levels and management feels that the overall assumptions utilized in the testing process were reasonable During the

December 31 2010 impairment testing management also considered utilizing market capitalization but ultimately

concluded that it was not an appropriate measure of the Companys yalue due to the overall depressed valuations in
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the fmancial sector and the significance of the Companys insider ownership and the lack of volume in trading in the

Companys shares of common stock Management also does not believe that this measure generally reflects the

premium that buyer would typically pay for controlling interest No events have occurred during the three

months ended March 31 2011 which indicate that the impainnent test would need to be re-performed

Fair Value of Other Real Estate Owned ORBO is recorded at the lower of book value or fair value less

estimated selling costs Property insurance is obtained for each parcel and each property is properly maintained and

secured during the holding period Property management vendors may be utilized in those instances when direct

sale does not seem probable during reasonable period of time or if the property requires additional oversight It is

the Companys policy and strategy to sell all OREO as soon as possible consistent with maximizing value and retum

to the Company

Investments Debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are

classified as held-to-maturity and reported at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts

both computed by method that approximates the effective yield method Debt and equity securities that are bought

and held principally for the
purpose

of selling them in the near term are classified as trading and reported at fair

value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings Debt and equity securities not classified as either held-

to-maturity or trading are classified as available for sale and reported at fair value-with unrealized gains and losses

determined by management to be temporary excluded from earnings and reported as separate component of

stockholders

equity and comprehensive income At March 31 2011 and 2010 all of the Banks investment

securities were classified as available for sale

Gains and losses on sales of securities are recognized when realized with the cost basis of investments solcl

determined on specific-identification basis Premiums and discounts on investment and mortgage-backed securities

are amortized or accreted to interest income over the actual or expected lives of the securities using the level-yield

method

If decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis of an investment is judged to be other-than-

temporary the cost basis of the investment is written down to fair value as new cost basis and the amount of the

write-down is included in the results of operations Fordebt securities when the Bank does not intend to sell the

security and it is more-likely-than-not that the Bank will not have to sell the security before recovery
of its cost

basis it will recognize the credit component of an other-than-temporary impairment loss in earnings and the

remaining portion in other comprehensive income The credit loss component recognized in earnings is identified as

the amount of principal cash flows not expected to be received over the remaining term of the security as estimated

based on the cash flows projections discounted at the applicable original yield of the security

Stock-Based Compensation The Company accounts for stock based compensation pursuath ui ASC 718

Compensation-Stock Compensation ASC 718 The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model as its

method for determining fair value of stock option grants The Company has previously adopted two qualified stock

option plans for the benefit of officers and other employees under which an aggregate of 281500 shares have been

reserved for issuance One of these plans expired in 1997 and the other plan expired in 2009 Awards outstanding

at the time the plans expire will continue to remain outstanding according to their terms

On July 31 2006 the Companys stockholders approved the Central Bancorp Inc 2006 Long-Term

Incentive Plan the Incentive Plan Under the Incentive Plan 150000 shares havebeen reserved for issuance as

options to purchase stock restricted stock or other stock awards however maximum of 100000 restricted shares

may be granted under the plan The exercise price of an option may not be less than the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant of the option and may not be exercisable more than ten years after

the date of grant However awards may become available again if participants forfeit awardsunder the plan prior to

its expiration As of March 31 2011 49880 shares remained availablefor issue under the incentive Plan of which

9880 were available to be issued in the fonn of stock grants

Forfeitures of awards granted under the Incentive Plan are estimated at the time of grant and revised if

necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ froth those estimates in order to derive the Companys
best estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest Forfeitures represent only the unvested portion of surrendered

option and are typically estimated based on historical experience Based on an analysis of the Companys historical
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data the Company applied forfeiture rate of 0% to stock options outstanding in determining stock compensation

expense for each of the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

Troubled Asset Relief Program Capital Purchase Program

On December 2008 the Company sold $10.0 million in preferred shares to the U.S Department of

Treasury as participant in the federal governments Tronbled Asset Relief Program TARP Capital Purchase

Program This represented approximately 2.6% of the Companys risk-weighted assets as of September 30 2008

The TARP Capital Purchase Program is voluntary program for healthy U.S financial institutions designed to

encourage these institutions to build capital to increase the flow of financing to U.S businesses and consumers and

to support the weakened U.S economy In connection with the investment the Company entered into Letter

Agreement and related Securities Purchase Agreement with the U.S Treasury pursuant to which the Company
issued 10000 shares of Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock Series liquidation preference $1000

per share the Series Preferred Stock.and ii warrant the Warrant to purchase 234742 shares of the

Companys common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million in cash The warrant term is 10 years

and it is immediately exercisable in whole or in part at an exercise price of $6.39 per share With the U.S

Treasurys $10.0 million investment in the Company the Company and theBank met all regulatory requirements to

be considered well-capitalized under the federal prompt corrective action regulations as of March 31 2011 For

more information on the Series Preferred Stock and Warrant issued to the U.S Treasury in Æonnection with the

TARP Capital Purchase Program see Note 14 to the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements included in this

Annual Report

Results of Operatious

Overview Net income available to common shareholders for the year ended March 31 2011 was $1.1

million or $0.68 per diluted share as compared to net income available to common shareholders of $1.4 million or

$0.92 per diluted share during the year ended March 31 2010 Items primarily affecting the Companys earnings

for the year ended March 31 2011 when compared to the year ended March 31 2010 were increases in the

provision of loan losses of $500 thousand and noninterest expenses of $523 thousand offset by $3.6

milliondecrease in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities Noninterest expense increased primarily due to increases

in salaries and benefits of $1.2 million and professional fees of $149 thousand partially offset by decreases in FDIC

deposit insurance expense of $590 thousand foreclosure and collection expenses of $244 thousand and occupancy

and equipment of $47 thousand Additionally for the years
ended March 31 2011 and 2010 net income available

to common shareholders was reduced by $620 thousand and $613 thousand respectively as result of dividends

and accretion allocated to preferred shareholders related to the Companys December 2008 sale of $10.0 million of

preferred stock and warrant to purchase common stock to the U.S Treasury Department as participant in the

federal governments TARP Capital Purchase Program

Net interest and dividend income increased by $369 thousand during fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010

primarily due to 62 basis point decrease in the average rates paid on deposits partially offset by 29 basis

decrease on the yield on interest-earning assets

The provision for loan losses increased by $500 thousand during fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010

The increase was primarily associated with additional provisions required for certain customer relationships in fiscal

2011

Noninterest income increased by $647 thousand to $2.1 million for the year
ended March 31 2011 when

compared to fiscal 2010 primarily due to net gains on the sales of investment securities which totaled $136

thousand for fiscal 2011 compared to net losses on the sales of investment securities of $465 thousand for fiscal

2010

Noninterest expenses increased by $523 thousand during fiscal 2011 when compared to fiscal 2010

primarily due to increases in salaries and benefits expenses
of $1.2 million offset by $590 thousand decrease in

deposit insurance premium expense and decreases in foreclosure and collection advertising and marketing

professional fees and occupancy and equipment expenses

41



The Company recognized income tax expense of $946 thousand during fiscal 2011 compared to $685

thousand in fiscal 2010

Net Interest Rate Spread and Net Interest Margin The Companys and the Banks operating results are

significantly affected by the net interest rate spread which is the difference between the yield on loans and

investments and the interest cost of deposits and botrowings The net interest rate spread is affectedby economic

conditions and market factors that influence interest rates loan demand and deposit flows The net interest margin

reflects .the relationship of net interest income to interest earning assets and it is calculated by dividing net interest

income before the provision for loan losses by average interest earning assets The net interest spread and net

interest margin improved from 2.92% and 3.2 1% respectively for the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 to 3.25%

and 3.50% respectively for the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 due to several factors The cost of funds

decreased by 63 basis points during fiscal 2011 mainly due to decreases in the average rates pald on deposits

resulting from comprehensive liability management .as some maturing certificates of deposit were either not renewed

or were replaced with lower cost deposits or FHLB borrowings During the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 the

yield on interest-earning assets declined by 29 basis points primarily due to 26 basis point reduction in interest

income on mortgage loans Contributing to the reduced yield on mortgage loans were decreases in commercial real

estate and construction loans as management refocuspd its lending emphasis in the currentmarket environment in an

effort to reduce risk and increase regulatory capital ratios in accordance with the Companys business plan and

general decline in the market interest rates on loans
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Assets

Interest-earning assets

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Interest-bearing liabilities

Deposits

Other borrowings

Advances from FHLB of Boston

Total interest-bearing liabilities

Noninterest-beaiingdeposits

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stoºkholders

equity

Net interest and dividend income

Interest rate spread

Net yield on interest-earning assets

The following table presents average balances interest income and
expense

and yields earned or rates paid

on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities for the years indicated For purposes of the follothg table

average loans include nonperforming loans

Years Ended March 31
2011 2010

Average

Average Yield Average

Balance Interest Cost Balance

Dollars in Thousands

Average

Yield

Interest Cost

Mortgage loans

Qther loans

Total loans

Short-term investments

Investment securities

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock

Total investments

Total interest-earnings assets

Allowance for loan losses

Noninterest-earning assets

Total assets

$425720

4112

429832

27506

30235

66259

496091

3527
27945

5520.509

$23707 5.57% $458214 $26694
226 5.50 5560 320

23933 5.57 463774 27.014

71 0.26 20504 50

1295 4.28 36667 1473

0.07 8.518 --

1372 2.07 65689 1523

25305 5.10 s29 28531

2962
28.537

5555.038

5.83%

5.76

5.82

0.24

4.02

2.32

5.39

1.45

4.86

4.43

2.47

232%
3.21%

$288696 2399

11341 558

129.616 4966

429653 7923

42534

1911

474098

46411

$520.509

$17.382

0.83 $308830

4.92 11892

3.83 146210

1.84 466932

42247

3056

512235

42.803

$555038

3.25%

3.50%

4468

578

6478

11524

$17.01
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Rate/Volume Analysis The effect on net iqteyçt income of changes in interest rates and changes in the

amounts of iiIterest-earning assets and interSt-bearing liabilities is shown in the following table Information is

provided on changes for the fiscal
years indicated attributable to changes in interest rates and changes in volume

Changes due to combined changes in interest rates and volume are allocated between changes in rate and changes in

volume proportionally to the change aue to Qôlume and the change due to rate

2011 vs 2010 2010 vs 2009

-.Changes due to Changes due to

Increase decrease in Increase decrease in

Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total

In Thousands

Interest income

Mortgage loans 1834 1153 2987 136 583 447
Other loans 80 14 94 173 40 213

Total income from loans 1913 1167 3081 37 623 660
Short-term investments 17 21 26 74 100
Investment securities 269 91 178 10 984 994
Federal Home Loan Bank Stock -- -- -- --

Total income from investments 252 101 151 1058 1.094

Total interest and dividend income 2.165- 1.066 3.232 J2 1681 1.754

Interest expense

Deposits 285 1783 2069 170 2346 2516
Other borrowings including short-term

advancesfromFHLB 689 823 1512 13 98 111
Long-term advance FHLB of Boston... 27 20 41 237 278

Total interest expense 1.001 2599 3.601 224 2681 2.905

Net interest and dividend income 1.164 1.533 369 J..5J 1.000 $l.151

Interest and Dividend Income Interest and dividend income decreased by $3.2 million or 11.3% to

$25.3 million for the year ended March 31 2011 compared to $28.5 million for the year ended March 31 2010

primarily due to decreases in the average balances of loans and investments as well as decrease in the average

yield on loans The average balance of commercial real estate and construction loans decreased as management

continued to shift its focus from those loan types in order to decrease risk and to increase capital ratios in accordance

with the Companys business plan The average balance of
resi4ential

loans decreased due to higher than expected

residential loan payoffs The average balance of investment securities decreased as mattirities and principal

repayments were used to fund deposit withdrawals and repayment of borrowings The yield on short-term

investments was 0.26% during the year ended March 31 2011 as compared to 0.24% for the year ended March 31

2010 as the average yields on these inestments are closely tied to the federal funds target rate which averaged

approximately 0.25% during the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

Interest Expense Interest expense decreased by $3.6 million or 31.2% to $7.9 million for the year
ended

March 31 2011 compared to $11.5 million for the year ended March 31 2010 The cost of deposits decreased by 62

basis points from 1.45% during the year
ended March 31 2010 to 0.83% during the year ended March 31 2011 as

some high-cost certificates of deposit were replaced by lower-costing deposits The average balance of certificates

of deposit totaled $149.8 million during the
year ended March 31 2010 compared to $126.3 million for the year

ended March 31 2011 decline of $23.5 million The average balance of lower-costing non-maturing deposits

increased by $3.6 million to $204.9 million for the
year

ended March 31 2011 as compared to an average balance

of $201.3 million for the year ended March 31 2010 The average balance of FHLB of Boston borrowings

decreased by $16.6 million from $146.2 million during the year ended March 31 2010 to $129.6 million during the

year ended March 31 2011 The average cost of FHLB of Boston bonowings declined as management did not

replace maturing relatively high-rate advances during the year ended March 31 2011 The average cost of other

borrowings increased as portion of these borrowings are adjustable and the average rate paid during the year ended

March 31 2011 was 4.92% compared to an average rate of 4.86% during the year ended March 31 2010
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Provision for Loan Losses

Provision for Loan Losses The Company provides for loan losses in order to maintain the allowance fdr

loan losses at level that management estimates is adequate to absorb probable losses based on an evaluation of

known and inherent risks in the portfolio In determining the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses

management considers past and anticipated loss experience evaluations of underlying collateral financial condition

of the borrower prevailing economic conditions the nature and volume of the loan portfolio and the levels of non-

performing and other classified loans The amount of the allowance is based on estimates and ultimate losses .may

vary from such estimates Management assesses the allowance for loan losses on quarterly basis and provides for

loan losses monthly when appropriate to maintain the adequacy of the allowance The Company uses process of

portfolio segmentation to calculate the appropriate allowance level at the end of each quarter Periodically the

Company evaluates the allocations used in these calculations During the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

management performed thorough analysis of the loan portfolio as well as the required allowance allocations for

loans considered impaired under ASC 310 and the allocation percentages used when calculating potential losses

under ASC 450 During the year ended March 31 2011 management increased the ASC 450 loss factors related to

trends in delinquent and impaired loans for residential condominium and commercial real estate loans increased

loss factors related to national and local economic conditions for commercial real estate loans and increased the loss

factors related to changes in collateral values for residential loans As result of the aforementioned ASC 450

factor changes the impact to the allowance for loan losses were increases in ASC 450 reserves of $57 thousand for

residential and residential condominium loans and $48 thousand for CRE loans

Nonperforming loans totaled $9.6 million as compared to $6.2 million on March 31 2010 Of the eighteen

loans constituting this category at March 31 2011 all are secured by real estate collateral that is predominantly

located in the Banks market area Seventeen ofthese real estate secured loans have an active plan for resolution in

place from either the sale of the real estate directly by the borrOwer through foreclosure or repossession or through

loan workout efforts The borrower for the other nonperforming real estate secured loan has entered into

bankruptcy court approved resolution program with the ongoing net cash flow generated from apartment rents from

the property collateral being paid to the Bank While bankruptcy filings have extended the time required to resolve

some nonperforming loans management continues to work with borrowers to resolve these situations as soon as

possible

Noninterest Income Noninterest income increased by $647 thousand from $1.4 million for the year ended

March 31 2010 to $2.1 million for the year ended March 31 2011 The increase of $647 thousand was primarily

due to net gains on the sales and write-downs of investment securities which totaled $136 thousand for the year

ended March 31 2011 compared to net losses of $465 during the prior year $67 thousand increase in other income

and $44 thousand increase in brokerage income to $181 thousand as compared to $137 thousand at March 31

2011 The aforementioned $67 thousand increase in other income was primarily the result of the change in net gain

on sale of foreclosed property which totaled $2 thousand for fiscal 2011 compared to net loss of $62 thousand for

fiscal 2010 These inceases were partially offset by $78 thousand decrease in gains on sale of loans Income on

bank-owned life insurance policies totaled $300 thousand during the year ended March 31 2010 compared to $295

thousand during the year ended March 31 2011

Noninterest Expenses Noninterest expenses increased by $523 thousand or 3.5% to $15.6 million during

the year ended March 31 2011 as compared to $15.1 million during the year ended March 31 2010 This increase

is primarily due to $1.2 million increase in salaries and benefits expenses and $149 thousand increase in

professional fees partially offset by $590 thousand decrease in deposit insurance premiums expense and $244

thousand decrease in foreclosure and collection costs Management continues to closely monitor operating expenses

throughout the Company

Salaries and eniployee benefits increased by $1.2 million or 14.4% to $9.1 million during the year ended

March 31 2011 as compared to $8.0 million during the year ended March 31 2010 primarily due to increases of

$131 thousand for staffmg increases and merit pay increases $141 thousand for commissions primarily related to

increased residential loan originations $89 thousand for retirement benefits related to the aforementioned increases

in salaries and commissions $301 thousand for stock-related compensation $80 thoçsand for increased contract

labor and $150 thousand recovery from vendor for benefits related settlement that was recorded during fiscal

2010
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FDIC insurance premiums decreased by $590 thousand to $561 thousand during the year ended March 31
2010 compared to $1.2 million during the year ended March 31 2010 priniarily due to change in the calculation

methodology mandated by the FDIC for deposit insurance premiums and lower deposit insurance costs due to

declining average balances of deposits

Advertising and marketing expenses increased by $30 thousand to $193 thousand during the year ended

March 31 2011 as compared to $163 thousand during the year ended March 31 2010 as management strategically

decided to increase advertising and marketing efforts on lumted basis in fiscal 2011

Office occupancy and equipment expenses decreased by $47 thousand or 2.2% to $2.1 million during the

year ended March 31 2011 as compared $2.2 million during the year ended March 31 2010 primarily due to

decreases in the amortization of leasehold improvements and depreciation of fumiture fixtures and equipment and

maintenance costs partially offset by increases in utilities real estate taxes security expenses and rents

Data processing costs decreased by $10 thousand or 1.2% to $844 thousand during the year
ended March

31 2011 as compared to $854 thousand during the year ended March 31 2010 due to decreases in certain processing

costs

Professional fees increased by $149 thousand or 16.6% to $1.0 million during the year ended March 31

2011 as compared to $895 thousand for the year ended March 31 2010 primarily due to increases in loan workout-

related
expenses

and compliance-relatedcosts partially offset by lower legal fees

Other
expenses

decreased by $163 thousand or 8.59% to $1.7 million during the
year

ended March 31

2011 as compared to $1.9 million during the year ended March 31 2010 primarily as result of decrease in OREO

expenses of $244 thousand and other recruiting expenses of $27 partially offset by an increase of $33 thousand for

telephone expenses and an increase in bank policy losses of $30 thousand

Income Taxes The effective income tax rates for the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010 were 35.4%

and 25.6% respectively The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2010 was affected by one-time $271 thousand

reduction in state income taxes associated with the Banks sale of an investment security previously held by

subsidiary The investment security was transferred to the Bank prior to the sale of the investment which occurred

during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010

Comparison of Financial Condition at March 31 2011 and March 31 2010

Total assets were $487.6 million at March 31 2011 compared to $542.4 million at March 31 2010

representing decrease of $54.8 million or 10.1% The decrease in total assets reflected strategic actionstaken by

management to reduce risk and increase capital ratios in accordance with the Companys business plan including

the use of loan repayment and investment maturity and repayment proceeds to fund certain maturing deposits and

borrowings Total loans excluding loans held for sale were $394.2 million at March 31 2011 compared to $461.5

million at March 31 2010 representing decrease of $67.3 million or 14.6% This decrease was primarily due to

decreases in residential and home equity loans of $33.9 million and $391 thousand respectively as well as

decreases in construction and land and commercial real estate loans of $31.1 million Construction and land and

commercial real estate loans declined as management de-emphàsized this type of lending in the current economic

environment in an effort to reduce risk and increase regulatory capital ratios in accordance with the Companys

business plan Residential and home equity loans decreased from $225.9 niillion at March 31 2010 to $191.6

million at March 31 2011 due to higher than expected residential loan payoffs Commercial and industrial loans

decreased from $4.0 million at March 31 2010 to $2.2 million at March 31 2011 primarily due to the scheduled

repayment of principal Managements efforts to reduce the levels of commercial real estate and construction loans

are reflected in changes in the Banks commercial real estate concentration ratio which is calculated as total non

owner occupied commercial real estate and construction loans divided by the Banks risk-based capital At March

31 2011 the commercial real estate concentration ratio was 330% compared to ratio of 466% at March 31 2010.

The allowance for loan losses totaled $3.9 million at March 31 2011 compared to $3.b million at March

31 2010 representing net increase of $854 thousand or 28.1% This net increase was primarily due to provision
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of $1.1 million resulting from managements review of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses Based upon

managements regular analysis of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses management considered the

allowance for loan losses to be adequate at both March 31 2011 and March 31 2010

Management regularly assesses the desirability of holding newly originated residential mortgage loans in

the Banks portfolio or sellingsuch loans in the secondary market number of factors are evaluated to determine

whether or not to hold such loans in the Banks portfolio including current and projected liquidity current and

projected interest rates projected growth in other interest-earning assets and the current and projected interest rate

risk profile Baled on its consideration of these factors management determined that most long-term residential

mortgage loans originated during the year ended March 31 2011 should be sold in the secondary market rather than

being retained in the Banks portfolio The decision to sell or hold loans is made at the time the loan commitment is

issued Upon making determination not to retain loan the Bank simultaneously enters into best efforts forward

commitment to sell the loan to manage the interest rate risk associated with the decision to sell the loan Loans are

sold servicing released

Cash and cash equivalents
totaled $40.9 million at March 31 2011 compared to $16.5 million at March 31

2010 representing an increase of $24.4 million During the twelve months ended March 31 2011 in general

proceeds from loan and investment pay-downs and maturities were utilized to fund deposit withdrawals and

maturing borrowings with the remaining funds contributing to the increase in cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities totaled $35.3 million at March 31 2011 compared to $44.5 million at March 31

2010 representing decrease of $9.2 million or 20.7% The decrease in investment securities is primarily due to

the repayment of $9.1 million in principal on mortgage-backed securities the sale of $3.3 million in corporate

bonds common stocks and preferred stocks partially offset by the purchase of two govemment sponsored mortgage

backed securities totaling $3.2 million and net increase of $1.2 million in the fair value of available for sale

securities Stock in the FHLB of Boston totaled $8.5 million at both March 31 2011 and March 31 2010

Banking premises and equipment net totaled $2.7 million and $2.8 million at March 31 2011 and March

31 2010 respectively

Other real estate owned totaled $132 thousand at March 31 2011 compared to $60 thousand at March 31
2010 as one residential condominium foreclosed pioperty wS sold during the quarter ended June 30 2010 and

another residential condominium was acquired during the quarter ended December 31 2010

Deferred tax asset totaled $3.6 million at March 31 2011 compared to $4.7 million at March 31 2010 The

decrease in deferred tax asset is primarily due to the sale of previously written-down preferred stock investments

during the year ended March 31 2011 resultingin current tax deduction for the prior book write-down

The cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance policies is carried as an asset titled Bank-Owned

Life Insurance and totaled $7.0 million at March 31 2011 as compared to $6.7 million as of March 31 2010

Total deposits amounted to $309.1 million at March 31 2011 compared to $339.2 million at March 31 2010

representing decrease of $30.1 million or 8.9% The decrease was result of the combined effect of $26.8

million decrease in certificates of deposit and net decrease in core deposits of $3.3 million consisting of all non-

certificate accounts Management utilized cash and short-term investments to fund certain maturing higher-cost

certificates of deposit in an effort to improve the Companys net interest rate spread and net interest margin

FHLB of ifoston advances amounted to $117.4 million at March 31 2011 compared to $143.5 million at March 31

2010

representing decrease of $26.1 million or 18.2% as maturing advances were not renewed but were instead

funded with available cash

The net increase in stockholders equity from $45.1 million at March 31 2010 to $47.1 million at March

31 2011 is primarily the result of net income of $1.7 million partially offset by $799 thousand of dividends paid to

common and preferted shareholders
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is the ability to meet current and future financial obligations of short-term nature The Banks

principal sources of liquidity are customer deposits short-term investments repayments of loans FHLB of Boston

advances maturities and repayments of various other investments and funds from operations These various sources

of liquidity as well as the Banks ability to sell residential mortgage loans in the secondary market are used to fund

deposit withdrawals loan originations and investment purchases and funds from operations In addition the

Company has access to the capital markets to raise additional equity On December 2008 the Company sold

$10.0 million of its preferred stock and issued warrant to purchase common stock to the U.S Department of

Treasury under the TARP Capital Purchase ogram See Troubled Asset Relief Program Capital Purchase

Program above

During the year ended March 31 2011 the Bank decreased deposits by $30.1 million or 8.9% The

decrease in deposits reflected strategic actions taken by management to reduce risk and increase capital ratios in

accordance with the Companys business plan which included the use of proceeds from loan repayments aud

investment maturities and repayments to fund certain maturing deposits and borrowings Differences in deposit

levels are primarily the result of managements decision focus at various times on the use of deposits to fund

growth while at other times to instead utilize FHLB of Boston advances These decisions are based on the relative

interest rates of the various sources of funds at any particular tithe

On September 29 2009 the FDIC adopted an Amended Restoration Plan to enable the Deposit Insurance

Fund to retum to its minimum reserve ratio of 1.15% over eight years Under this plan the FDIC did not impose

previously-planned second special assessment On June 30 2009 the Bank accrued the first special assessment

which totaled $270 thousand and was paid on September 30 2009 Also the plan calls for deposit insurance

premiums to increase by basis points effective January 2011 Additionally to meet bank failure cash flow

needs the FDIC assessed three
year

insurance premium prepayment which was paid by banks in December 2009

and will coverthe period of January 2010 through December 31 2012 The FDIC estimates that bank failures

will cost the fund approximately $100 billion during the next three years but only projects revenues of

approximately $60 billion The shortfall will be met through the collection of prepaid premiumswhich is estimated

to be $45 billion The Banks prepaid premium totaled $2.3 million and was paid during the quarter ended

December 31 2009 and is being amortized monthly over the three year period This prepaid deposit premium is

carried on the consolidated balance sheet in the other assets category and totaled $1.6 million at March 31 2011

At March 31 2011 the Company had conimitmeits to originate loans unused outstanding lines of credit

and undisbursect proceeds of loans totaling $27.6 million Since many of the commitments may expire without

being drawn upon the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements At March

31 2011 the Company believes it has sufficient funds available to meet its current loan commitments

The Bank is voluntary member of the FFILB of Boston and has the ability to borrow up to the value of its

qualified collateral that has not been pledged to others Qualified collaterai generally consists of FHLB of Boston

stock residential first mortgage loans commercial real estate loans U.S Government and agencies securities

mortgage-backed securities and funds on deposit at the FHLB of Boston At March 31 2011 and 2010 the Bank

had outstanding FHLB of Boston advances of $117.4 and $143.5 million respectively At March 31 2011 the

Bank had approximately $53.6 million in unused borrowing capacity at the FHLB of Boston

The Bank also may obtain funds from the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston the Co-operative Central Bank

Reserve Fund and trough retail CD brokerage agreement with major brokerage firm The Bank views these

borrowing facilities as secondary sources of liquidity and has had no inmediate need to use them

Commitments Contingencies and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

In the normal course of operations the Cpmpany engages in variety of financial transactions that in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles are not recorded in its consolidated financial statements

These transactions involve to varying degrees elements of credit interest rate and liquidity risk Such transactions

are used primarily to manage customers requests for funding and take the form of loan commitments and lines of

credit
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For the year
ended March 31 2011 the Company engaged in no off-balance sheet transactions reasonably

likely to have material effect on its financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Commitments to originate new loans or to extend credit are agreements to lend to customer as long as

there is no violation of any condition established in the contract Loan commitments generally expire within 30 to

45 days Most home equity line commitments are for term of 15 years and commercial lines of credit are

generally renewable on an annual basis Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination

clauses and may require payment of fee At March 31 2011 the Company had commitments to originate loans

unused outstanding lines of credit and undisbursed proceeds of loans totaling $27.6 million Since many of the

commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon the total commitment amounts do not necessarily

represent future cash requirements The Company evaluates each customers creditworthiness on case-by-case

basis The amount of collateral obtained if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit is based on

managements credit evaluation of the borrower

Commitments to sell loans held for sale are agreements to sell loans on best efforts delivery basis to

third party at an agreed upon price Additionally these loans are sold servicing released and without recourse

On September j6 2004 the Company completed $5.1 million trust preferred securities fmancing through

Central Bancorp Capital Trust On January 31 2007 the Company completed trust preferred securities financing

in the amount of $5.9 million through Central Bancorp Statutory Trust II Central Bancorp Capital Trust and

Central Bancorp Statutory Trust II are the Companys only special purpose subsidiaries The Company within the

financing transactions an4 concurrent with the issuance of the junior subordinated debentures and the trust preferred

securities issued guarantees related to the trust securities of both trusts for the benefit of their respective holders

Refer to Note Subordinated Debentures in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more detail

Management believes that at March 31 2011 the Company and Bank have adequate sources of liquidity to

fund these commitments

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Jhe consolidated financial statements and related data presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have

been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America which

require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical dollars without considering

changes in the relative purchasing power of mopey over time due to inflation Unlike many industrial companies

substantially all of the assts and liabilities of the Bank are monetary in nature As result interest rates have more

significant impact on the Banks performance than the general level of inflation Over short periods of time interest

rates may not necessarily move in the same direction or in the same magnitude as inflation

Capital Resources

The Company and the Bank are required to maintain minimum capital ratios pursuant to the federal prompt

corrective action regulations These regulations establish risk-adjusted ratio relating capital to different categories

of balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet obligations Two categories of capital are defined Tier or core capital

stockholders equity and Tier or supplementary capital Total capital is the sum of both Tier and Tier capital

According to the federal prompt corrective action regulations Tier capital must represent at least 50% of

qualifying total capital At March 31 2011 the minimum total risk-based capital ratio required to be well

capitalized was 10.00% The Companys and the Banks total risk-based capital ratios at March 31 2011 were

18.53% and 16.72% respectIvely

To complement the risk-based standards the FDIC has also adopted leverage ratio adjusted

stockholders equity divided by total average assets of 3.00% for the most highly rated banks and 4.00% for all

others The leverage ratio is to be used in tandem with the risk-based capital ratios as the minimum standards for

banks The Companys and the Banks leverage ratios were 10.66% and 9.58% respectively at March 31 2011
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Item 7A quantitative and Oualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Companys earnings are largely dependent on its net interest income which is the difference between

the yield on interest-earning assets and the cost of interest-bearing liabilities The Company seeks to reduce its

exposure to changes in interest rates or market risk through active monitoring and management of its interest-rate

risk exposure The policies and procedures for managing both on- and off-balance sheet activities are established by

the Banks asset/liability management commiuee ALCO The Board of Directors reviews and approves the

ALCO policy annually and monitors related activities on an ongoing basis

.- Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and rates The Companys market risk

arises primarily from interest rate risk inherent in its lending borrowing and deposit taking activities

The main objective in managing interest rate risk is to minimize the adverse impact of changes in interest

rates on the Banks net interest income and preserve capital while adjusting the Banks asset/liability structure to

control interest-rate risk However sudden and substantial increase or decrease in interest rates may adversely

impact earnings to the extent that the interest rates bome by assets and liabilities do not change at the same speed to

the same extent or on the same basis

The Company quantifies its interest-rate risk exposure using sophisticated simulation model Simulation

analysis is used to measure the exposure
of net interest income to changes in interest rates over specific time

horizon Simulation analysis involves projecting future interest income andexpense under various iate scenarios

The simulation is based on forecasted cash flows and assumptions of management about the future changes in

interest rates and levels of activity loan originations loan prepayments deposit flows etc The assumptions are

inherently uncertain and therefore actual results will differ from simulated results due to timing magnitude and

frequency of interest rate changes as well as changes in market conditions and strategies The net interest income

projection resulting from the use of forecasted cash flows and managements assumptions is compared to net interest

income projections based on immediate shifts of 300 basis points upward and 50 basis points downward for fiscal

2011 and 300 basis points upward and 50 basis points downward for fiscal year 2010 Intemal guidelines on

interest rate risk state that for every 100 basis points immediate shift in interest rates estimated net interest income

over the next twelve months should decline by no more than 5% Managements decision to utilize different rate

shift scenarios at March 31 2011 as compared to those used at March 31 2010 is based on the overall lower

interest rate environment that existed at March 31 2011 when compared to March 31 2010

The following table indicates the projected change in net interest income and sets forth such change as

percentage of estimated net interest income for the twelve-month period followitig the date indicated assuming an

immediate antI parallel shift for all market rates with other rates adjusting to varing degrees in each scenario based

on both historical and expected spread relationships

Twelve months followina at March 31
2011 2010

Amount Chance Amount Change

Dollars in Thousands

300basis point increase in rates $1095 6.58% $1631 9.00%
50 basis point decrease in rates 282 1.69 131 0.72

Ast noted this policy provides broad visionary guidance for managing the Banks balance sheet not

absolute limits When the simulation results indicate variance from stated parameters ALCO will intensify its

scrutiny of the reasons for the variance and take whatever actions are deemed appropriate under the circumstances

50



Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31 2011 and 2010 52

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended March 31 2011 and 2010 53

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income for the Years

EndedMarch3l2Olland2OlO 54

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended March 31 2011 and 2010 56

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 57

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms 92

51



CENTRAL BANCORP INC AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data

March31
2011 2010

ASSETS
Cash and due from banks 3728 4328
Short-term investments 37.190 12208

Cash and cash equivalents 40918 16536

Investment securities available for sale at fair value Note 25185 34368
Stock in Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston at cost Notes and 8518 8518
The Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund at cost Note 1.576 1.576

Total investments 35279 44462

Loans held for sale at fair value 392

Loans Note 394217 461510

Less allowance for loan losses Note 3892 3.03

Loans net 390325 458472

Accrued interest receivable 1496 1896

Banking premises and equipment net Note 2705 2759

Deferred tax asset net Note 3600 4681
Other real estate owned Note 132 60

Goodwill net 2232 2232
Bank-owned life insurance 6972 6686

Other assets 3966 4268

Total assets $487.625 $542.444

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Liabilities

Deposits Note $309077 $339169

Federal Home Loan Bank advances Notes and 117351 143469

Subordinated debentures 11341 11341

Advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance 1387 1649

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1.348 1703

Total liabilities 440504 497331

Commitments and Contingencies Notes and 12
Stockholders equity Note 10

Preferred stock Series Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual $1.00 par value

5000000 shares authorized 10000 shares issued and outstanding at March 31

2011 and 2010 with liquidation preference and redemption value of

$10063889 at March 31 2011 and 2010 Note 13 9709 9589

Common stock $1.00 par value 15000000 shares authorized 1681071 and

1667151 shares issued and outstanding at March 31 2011 and 2010

respectively 1681 1667

Additional paid-in capital 4589 4291

Retained income 35288 34482

Accumulated other comprehensive income Notes 12 and 11 892 810

Uneamed compensation Employee Stock Ownership Plan Note 11 5.038 5.726

Total stockholders equity 47.121 45.113

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 5487.625 $542.444

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Interest and dividend income

Mortgage loans

Other loans

Investments

Short-term investments

Total interest and dividend income

Interest expense

Deposits

Advances from Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston

Other borrowings

Total interest expense

Net interest and dividend income

Provision for loan losses Note

Net interest and dividend income after

provision for loan losses

Noninterest income

Deposit service charges

Net gain loss from sales and write-downs of investment securities Note

Net gains on sales of loans

Bank-owned life insurance income

Brokerage income

Other income

Total noninterest income

Noninterest expenses

Salaries and employee benefits Note 11

Occupancy and equipment Note

Data processing fees

Professional fees

FDIC deposit premiums

Advertising and marketing

Other expenses

Total noninterest expenses

Earnings per common share Note

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic

Weighted average common and equivalent shares outstanding diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Years Ended March 31

2011 2010

4468

6478

______ 578

_____ 11524

17013

_______ 600

_______ 16 .4 13

985

465
329

300

137

CENTRAL BANCORP INC AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Operations

In Thousands Except Share And Per Share Data

$26694
320

1473

50

28537

$23707
226

1301

71

25305

2399

4966

558

7923

17382

1100

16.282

1003

136

251

295

181

192

2058

9145

2137

844

1044

561

193

1.745

15669

2671
946

1.725

1.105

0.74

0.68

1503719

1621182

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes Note

Net income

Net income available to common stockholders

125

1.411

7991
2184

854

895

1151

163

1908

15146

2678
685

1.993

1380

0.95

0S2

1457232

1499912
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CENTRAL BANCORP INC AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income continued

In Thousands

The Companys other comprehensive income and related tax effect for the
years

ended March 31 2011 and

2010 are as follows

Year ended March 31 2011

Unrealized loss on post-retirement benefits

Unrealized gains on securities

Unrealized net holding gains during period

Less reclassification adjustment for net gains included in net

income

Other comprehensive income

Year ended March 31 2010

Unrealized gain on post-retirement benefits

Unrealized gains on securities

Unrealized net holding gains during period

Less reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net

income

Other comprehensive income

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

52 22 30

320 127 193

136 55 81

132 50 82

Before Tax Tax Expense After-Tax

Amount Benefit Amount

41 17 24

4553 1.8 16 2737

465 190 275
5.059 2023 3036

Before-Tax Tax Expense

Amount Benefit

After-Tax

Amount
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623 773

218 369

1100 600

1000 636

941 896

136 465

286 300
251 329

20795 36052
21438 39197

60

--

400 37
302 1230

317 317
5960 6.719

66915 1670
9137 14225

3223 11026
3371 335

-- 1500

569 214
-- 16

-- 10

62 2926

75693 6102

30092 35905
262 117

-- 26000

26118 27114
-- 1014

799 791

57.271 38.707

24382 25886
16.536 42422

$40.918 $16.536

8043 $11610

813

132 77

120 113

Years Ended March 31
2011 2010

1725 1993

.1

CENTRAL BANCORP INC AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dollars in Thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided

by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of premiums

Provision for loan losses

Stock-based compensation and amortization of unearned

compensation
-- ESOP

Deferred tax provision

Net gains losses from sales and write-downs of investment securities

Bank-owned life insurance income

Gains on sales of loans held for sale

Originations of loans held for sale

Proceeds from the sale of loans originated for sale

Gain loss on sale of other real estate

Gain on sale of equipment

Decrease increase in accrued interest receivable

Decrease increase in other assets net

Decrease in accrued expenses and other liabilities net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Loan principal collections originations net

Principal payments on mortgage-backed securities

Purchases of investment securities

Proceeds from sales of investment securities

Maturities and calls of investment securities

Purchases of banking premises and equipment

Net expenditures on other real estate

Proceeds from sale of equipment

Proceeds from sales of other real estate

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in deposits

Increase decrease in payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance

Advances from FHLB of Boston

Repayment of advances from FHL.B of Boston

Repayments of short-term borrowings

Cash dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash paid received during the period for

Interest

Income taxes

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities

Loans transferred to other real estate owned

Accretion of Series preferred stock discount and issuance costs

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CENTRAL BANCORP INC AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENIWD MARCH 31 2011

Note Sununary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Central Bancorp Inc the

-- Company Massachusetts corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary Central Co-operative Bank the

Bank as well as the wholly owned subsidiaries of the Bank Central Securities Corporation Central Securities

Corporation II and Metro Real Estate Holdings LLC

The Company was organized at the direction of the Bank in September 1998 to acquire all of the capital

stock of the Bank upon the consummation of the reorganization of the Bank into the holding company form of

ownership This reorganization was completed in January 1999 The Bank was organized as Massachusetts

chartered co-operative bank in 1915 and converted from mutual to stock form of ownership in 1986 The primary

business of the Bank is to generate funds in the form of deposits and use the funds to make mortgage loans for the

construction purchase and refinancing of residential properties and to make loans on commercial real estate in its

market area The Bank is subject to competition from other financial institutions The Company is subject to the

regulations of and periodic examinations by the Federal Reserve Bank FRB the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation FDIC and the Massachusetts Division of Banks The Banks deposits are insured by the Deposit

Insurance Fund of the FDIC for deposits up to $250000 for most accounts and up to $250000 for retirement

accounts and the Share Insurance Fund SIF for deposits in excess of the FDIC limits Additionally during 2010

amendments to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act were enacted providing unlimited insurance coverage for

noninterest bearing transaction accounts beginning December 31 2010 through December 31 2012

The Company conducts its business through one operating segment the Bank Most of the Banks

activities are with customers located in eastem Massachusetts As set forth in Note herein the Bank concentrates

in real estate lending Management believes that the Bank does not have any significant concentrations in any one

customer or industry

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America All significant intercompany balances and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation In preparing the consolidated financial statements management

is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date

of the balance sheet and income and expenses for the year Actual results could differ from those estimates

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to change relate to the allowance for loan losses fair value of

other real estate owned fair value of investments and other-than-temporary impairment income taxes accounting

for goodwill and impairment and stock-based compensation

The Company owns 100% of the common stock of Central Bancorp Capital Trust Trust and Central

Bancorp Statutory Trust II Trust II which have issued trust prefened securities to the public in private

placement offerings In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ASC 860 Transfers and Servicing

neither Trust nor Trust II are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements See Subordinated

Debentures below

The following is summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and the Bank

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows cash and cash equivalenis include cash and due from banks money
market mutual fund investments federal funds sold and other short-term investments having an original maturity at

date of purchase of 90 days or less
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The Bank is required to maintain cash and reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank Such required

reserves are calculated based upon deposit levels and amounted to approximately $2.2 million at March 31 2011

Investments

Debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-

to-maturity and reported at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretiOn of discounts both computed

by method that approximates the effective yield method Debt and equity securities that are bought and held

principally fOr the
purpose

of selling them in the near term are classified as trading and reported at fair value with

unrealIzed gains and losses included in earnings Debt and equity securities not classified as either held-to-mturity

or trading are classified as available for sale and reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses determined

by management to be temporary excluded from earnings and reported as separate component of stockholders

equity and comprehensive income At March 31 2011 and 2010 all of the Banks investment securities were

classified as available for sale

Gains and losses on sales of securities are recognized when realized with the cost basis of in\estments sold

determined on specific-identification basis Premiums and discounts on investment and mortgage-backed securities

are amortized or accreted to interest income over the actual or expected lives of the securities using the level-yield

method

If decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis of an investment judged to be other-than

temporary the cost basis of the investment is written down to fair value as new cost basis and the amount of the

write-dovn is included in the results of operations For debt securities when the Bank does not intend to sell the

security and it is more-likely-than-not that the Bank will not have to sell the security before recovery
of its cost

basis it will recognize the credit component of an other-than-temporary impairment loss in earnings and the

remalning portion in other cdmprehensive income The credit loss component recognized in earnings is identified as

the amount of principal cash flows not expected to be received over the remaining term of the security asestimated

based on the cash flows projections discounted at the applicable original yield of the security

The Companys investments in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston and the Co-operative Central Bank

Reserve Fund are accounted for at cost Such investments are reviewed for impairment when impairment

indications are present Factors considered in determining impairment include current financial analysis of the

issuet and an assessment of future financial performance

Loans

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future are reported at the

principal amount outstanding adjusted by unamortized discounts premiums and net deferred loan origination costs

and fees

Loans classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value Fair value is

estimated based on outstanding investor commitments Net unrealized losses if any are provided for in valuation

allowance by charges to operations The Company enters into forward commitments generally on best efforts

delivery basis to sell loans held for sale in order to reduce market risk associated with the origination of such loans

Loans held for sale are sold on servicing released basis As of March 31 2011 loans held for sale totaled $0

compared to $392 thousand at March 31 2010 and at that date the aggregate cost of loans held for sale

approximated fair value

Mortgage loan commitments that relate to the origination of mortgage that will be held for sale upon funding

are considered derivative instruments Loan commitments that are derivatives are recognized at fair value on the

consolidated balance sheet in other assets and other liabilities with changes in their fair values recorded in

noninterest income

The Company carefully evaluates all loan sales agreements to determine whether they meet the definition of

derivative as facts and circumstances may differ significantly If agreements qualify to protect against the price risk

inherent in derivative loan commitments the Company generally uses best efforts forward loan sale commitments
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to mitigate the risk of potential decreases in the values of loans that would result from the exercise of the derivative

loan commitments Mandatory delivery contracts are accounted for as derivative instruments Accordingly forward

loan sale commitments are recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet in other assets and liabilities

with changes in their fair values recorded in other noninterest income

Loan origination fees net of certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and are amortized into

interest income over the contractual loan term using the level-yield method At March 31 2011 and 2010 net

deferred loan fees of $23thousand and net deferred loan costs of $88 thousand respectively were included with the

related loan balances for financial presentation puoses

Interest income on loans is recognized on an accrual basis using the simple interest method only if deemed

collectible Loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued are designated as æonaccrual loans

Accrual of interest on loans and amortization of net deferred loan fees or costs are discontinued either when

reasonable doubt exists as to the full and timely collection of interest or principal or when loan becomes

contractually past due 90 days with respect to interest or principal The accrual on some loans however may
continue even though they are more than 90 days past due if management deems it appropriate provided that the

loans are well secured and in the process of collection When loan is placed on nonaccrual status all interest

previously accrued but not co1lectedis reversed againstcurrent period interest income Interest accruals are resumed

on such loans only when they are brought fully current with respect to interest and principal and when in the

judgment Of management the loans are estimated to be fully collectible as to both principal and interest

Loans are classified as impaired when it is probable that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts

due in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement Impaired loans except those loans that are

accounted for at fair value or at lower of cost or fair value such as loans held for sale are accounted for at the

present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loans effective interest rate or as practical

expedient in the case of collateral dependent loans the lower of the fair value of the collateral less selling and other

costs or the recorded amount of the loan In evaluating collateral values for impaired loans management obtains

neW appraisals Or opinions of value when deemed necessary and may discount those appraisals depending on the

likelihood of foreclosure generally by 20 percent to 30 percent Other factors considered by management when

discounting appraisals are the
age

of the appraisal availability of comparable properties geographic considerations

and property type Management considers the payment status net worth and earnings potential of the borrower and

the value and cash flow of the collateral as factors to determine if loan will be paid in accordance with its

contractual terms Management does not set any minimum delay of payments as factor in reviewing for

impairment classification For all loans charge-offs occur when management believes that the collectibility of

portion or all of the loans principal balance is remote Management considers nonaccrual loans except for certain

nonaccrual residential and consumer loans to be impaired However all troubled debt restructurings TDRs are

considered to be impaired TDR occurs when the Bank grants concession to borrower with financial

difficulties that it would not otherwise consider The majority of TDRs involve modification in load terms such as

temporary reduction in the interest rate or temporary period of interest only and escrow if required TDRs are

accounted for as set forth in ASC 310 Receivable ASC 310 TDR is typically on nonaccrual until the

borrower successfully performs under the new terms for at least six consecutive months However TDR may be

kept on accrual immediately following the restructuring in those instances where borrowers payments are current

prior to the modification and management determines that principal and interest under the new terms are fully

collectible

Existing performing loan customers who request loan non-TDR modification and who meet the Banks

underwriting standards may usually for fee modify their original loan terms to terms currently offered The

modified terms of these loans are similar to the terms offered to new customers with similar credit income and

collateral Each modification is examined on loan-by-loan basis and if the modification of terms represents more

than minor change to the loan then the unamortized balance of the pre-modification deferred fees or costs

assOciated with the mortgage loan are recognized in interest income at the time of the modification If the

modification of terms does not represent more than minor change to the loan then the unamortized balance of the

pre-modification deferred fees or costs continue to be deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the loan
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Allowance forLoan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at level determined to be adequate by management to absorb

probable losses based on an evaluation of known and inherent risks in the portfolio This allowance is increased by

provisions charged to operating expense and by recoveries on loans previously charged-off and reduced by charge

offs on loans or reductions in the provision credited to operating expense

The Bank provides for loan losses in order to maintain the allowance for loan losses at level that

management estimates is adequate to absorb probable losses based on an evaluation of known and inherent risks in

the portfolio In determining the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses management considers past and

anticipated loss experience evaluations of underlying collateral financial condition of the borrower prevailing

economic conditions the nature and volume of the loan portfolio and the levels of non-performing and other

classified loans The amount of the allowance is based on estimates and ultimate losses may vary
from such

estimates Management assesses the allowance for loan losses on quarterly basis and provides for loan losses

monthly when appropriate to maintain the adequacy of the allowance

Regarding impaired loans the Bank individually evaluates each loan and documents what management

believes to be an appropriate reserve level in accordance with ASC 310 If management does not believe that any

separate reserves for such loans are deemed necessary at the evaluation date in accordance with ASC 310 such

loans would continue to be evaluated separately and will not be returned to be included in the general ASC 450

Contingencies ASC 450 formula based reserve calculation In evaluating impaired loans all related

management discounts of appraised values selling and resolution costs are taken into consideration in determining

the level of reserves required when appropriate

The methodology employed in calculating the allowance for loan losses is portfolio segmentation For the

coimnercial real estate CRE portfolio this is further refmed through stratification within eachsegment based on

loan-to-valuç LTV ratios The CRE portfolio is further segmented by type of properties securing those loans This

approach allows the Bank to take into consideration the fact that the various sectors of the real estate market change

value at differing rates and thereby present different risk levels CRE loans are segmented into the following

categories

Apartments

Offices

Retail

Mixed Use

IndustriallOther

Monthly CRE loans are segmented using the above collateral-types and three LTV ratio categories 40%
40%-60% and 60% While these

ranges are subjective management feels that each category represents

significantly different degree of risk from the other CRE loans carrying higher LTV ratios are assigned

incrementally higher ASC 450 reserve rates Annually for the CRE portfolio management adjusts the appraised

values which are used to calculate LTV ratios in our allowance for loan losses calculation The data is provided by

an independent appraiser and it indicates annual changes in value for each property type in the Banks market area

for the last ten years Management then adjusts the appraised or most recent appraised values based on the year the

appraisal was made These adjustments are believed to be appropriate based on the Banks own experience with

collateral values in its market area in recent years Based on the Companys allowance for loan loss methodology

with respect to CRE unfavorable trends in the value of real estate will increase the level of the Companys ASC 450

allowance for loan losses

In developing ASC 450 reserve levels regulatory guidance suggests using the Banks charge-off history as

starting point The Banks charge-off history in recent years has been minimal The charge-off ratios are then

adjusted based on trends in delinquent and impaired loans trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in

underwriting practices experience of loan staff national and local economic trends industry conditions and

changes in credit concentrations There is concentration in CRE loans but the concentration is decreasing

Managements efforts to reduce the levels of commercial real estate and construction loans are reflected in changes

in the Banks commercial real estate concentration ratio which is calculated as total non-owner occupied
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commercial real estate and construction loans divided by the Banks risk-based capital. At March 31 2011 the

commercial real estate concentration ratio was 330% compared to ratio of 466% at March 31 2010 and 600% at

March 31 2009

Residential loans home equity loans and consumer loans other than TDRs and loans in the process of

foreclosure or repossession are collectively evaluated for impairment In addition to our charge-off experience

factors considered in determining the appropriate ASC 450 reserve levels are trends in delinquent and impaired

loans changes in the value of collateral trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in underwriting practices
--

experience of loan staff national and local economic trends industry conditions and changes in credit

concentrations TDRs and loans that are in the process
of foreclosure or repossession are evaluated under ASC 310

Commercial and Industrial and construction loans that are not impaired are evaluated under ASC 450 and

factors considered in determining the appropriate reserve levels include trends in delinquent and impaired loans

changes in the value of collateral trends in charge-offs and recoveries trends in underwriting practices experience

of loan staff national and local economic trends industry conditions and changes in credit concentrations Those

loans that are individually reviewed for impairment are evaluated according to ASC 310

During the year ended March 31 2011 management increased the ASC 450 loss factors related to trends in

delinquent and impaired loans for residential condominium and commercial real estate loans increased loss factors

related to national and local economic conditions for commercial real estate loans and increased the loss factors

related to changes in collateral values for residential loans As result of the aforementioned ASC 450 factor

changes the imkact to the allowance for loan losses were increases in ASC 450 reserves of $57 thousand for

residential and residential condominium loans and $48 thousand for CRE loans

Although management uses available information to establish the appropriate level of the allowance for

loan losses future additions or reductions to the allowance may be necessary based on estimates that are susceptible

to change as result of changes in loan composition or volume changes in economic market area conditions or

other factors As result our allowance for loan losses may not be sufficient to cover actual loan losses and future

provisions for loan losses could materially adversely affect the Companys operating results In addition various

regulatory agencies as an integral part of their examination process-periodically review the Companys allowance

for loan losses Such agencies may require the Company to recognize adjustments to the allowance based on their

judgments about information avallable to them at the time of their examination Management currently believes that

there are adequate reserves and cOllateral securing non-performing loans to cover losses that may result from these

loans at March 31 2011

In the ordinary course of business the Bank enters into commitments to extend credit commercial letters

of credit and standby letters of credit Such fmancial instruments are recorded in the consdlidated financial

statements when they become payable The credit risk associated with these commitments is evaluated in mabner

similar to the allowance for loan losses The reserve for unfunded lending commitments is included in other

liabilities in the balance sheet At March 31 2011 and 2010 the reserve for unfunded commitments was not

significant

Subordinated Debentures

On September 16 2004 the Company completed trust preferred securities financing in the amount of

$5.1 million In the transaction the Company formed Delaware statutory trust known as Central Bancorp Capital

Trust Trust Trust issued and sold $5.1 million of trust preferred securities in private placement and issued

$158000 of trust common securities to the Company Trust used the proceeds of these issuances to purchase $5.3

million of the Companys floating rate junior subordinated debentures due September 16 2034- the Trust

Debentures The interest rate on the Trust Debentures and the trust preferred securities is variable and adjustable

quarterly at 2.44% over three-month LIBOR At March 31 2011 the interest rate was 2.75% The Trust

Debentures are the sole assets of Trust and are subordinate to all of the Companys existing and future obligations

for borrowed money With respect to Capital Tmst the trust preferred securities and debentures dach have 30-year

lives and may be callable by the Company or the Trust at their respective option after five years and sooner in the

case of certaln specific events including in the event that the securities are not eligible for treatment as Tier

capital subject to prior approval by the Federal Reserve Board if then required Interest on the trust preferred

61



securities and the debentures may be deferred at any time or from time to time for period not exceeding 20

consecutive quarterly periods five years provided there is no event of default

On January 31 2007 the Company completed trust preferred securities financing in the amount of $5.9

million In the transaction the Company formed Connecticut statutory trust known as Central Bancorp Statutory

Trust II Trust II Trust II issued and sold $5.9 million of trust preferred securities in private placement and

issued $183000 of trust common securities to the Company Trust II used the proceeds of these issuances to

purchase $6.1 million of the Companys floating rate junior subordinated debentures due March 15 2037 the Trust

II Debentures From January 31 2007 until March 15 2017 the Fixed Rate Period the interest rate on the

Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities is fixed at 7.015% per annum Upon the expiration of the Fixed

Rate Period the interest rate on the Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities will be at variable per

annum rate reset quarterly equal to three month LIBOR plus 1.65% The Trust II Debentures are the sole assets of

Trust II The Trust II Debentures and the trust preferred securities each have 30-year lives The trust preferred

securities and the Trust II Debentures will each be callable by the Company or Trust II at their respective option

after ten years and sooner in certain specific events including in the event that the securities are not eligible for

treatment as Tier capital subject to prior approval by the Federal Reserve Board if then required Interest on the

trust preferred securities and the Trust II Debentures may be deferred at any time or from time to time for period

not exceeding 20 consecutive quarterly payments five years provided there is no event of default

The trust preferred securities generally rank equal to the trust common securities in priority of payment but

will rank prior to the trust common securities if and so long as the Company fails to make principal or interest

payments on the Trust and/or the Trust II Debentures Concurrently with the issuance of the Trust and the Trust II

Debentures and the trust preferred securities the Company issued guarantees related to each trusts securities for the

benefit of the respective holders of Trust and Trust II

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes income taxes under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the accounting basis and

the tax basis of the Banks assets and liabilities Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years iu which those temporary differences are expected to be

realized or settled The Banks deferred tax asset is reviewed periodically and adjustments to such asset are

recognized as deferred income tax expense or benefit based on managements judgments relating to the realizability

of such asset

When tax retums are filed it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon

examination by the taxing authorities while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken

or the amount of the position that would be ultimately sustained The benefit of tax position is recognized in the

consolidated financial statements in the period during which based on all availableevidence management believes

it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained upon examination including the resolution of appeals or

litigation processes if any Tax positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions Tax positions that

meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more

than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority The portion of the benefits

associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described above is reflected as liability

for unrecognized tax benefits along with any associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing

authorities upon examination Interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits if any would be

classified as additional provision for income taxes in the statement of income

Banking Premises and Equipment

Land is stated at cost Buildings leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at cost less allowances

for depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization are computed on the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets or terms of the leases if shorter Rental payments under long-term leases are

charge to expense on straight-line basis over the life of the lease
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Other Real Estate Owned

Other real estate owned OREO is recorded at the lower of book value or fair market value less

estimated selling costs Subsequent to foreclosure valuations are periodically performed by management and asset

values are adjusted downward if necessary

Accounting for Goodwill and Impairment

ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350 addresses the method of identifying and

measuring goodwill and other intangible assets having indefinite lives acquired in business combination

eliminates further amortization of goodwill and requires periodic impainnent evaluations of goodwill using fair

value methodology prescribed in ASC 350 In accordance with ASC 350 the Company does not amortize the

goodwill balance of $2.2 million The Company consists of single reporting unit Impairment testing is required

at least annually or more frequently as result of an event or change in circumstances e.g recurring operating

losses by the acquired entity that would indicate an impairment adjustment may be necessary The Company

adopted December 31 as its assessment date Annual impairment testing was performed during each year and in

each analysis it was determined that an impairment charge was not required The most recent testing was

performed as of December 31 2010 utilizing average earnings and average book and tangible book multiples of

sales transactions of banks considered to be comparable to the Company and management determined that no

impairment existed at that date Management utilized 2010 sales transaction data of financial institutions in the New

England area of similar size credit quality net income and return on average assets levels and management

believes that the overall assumptions utilized in the testing process were reasonable During the December 31 2010

impairment testing management also considered utilizing market capitalization but ultimately concluded- that it was

not an appropriate measure of the Companys fair value due to the overall depressed valuations in the financial

sector and the significance of the Companys insider ownership and the lack of volume in trading in the Companys
shares of common stock Management also does not believe that this measure generally reflects the premium that

buyer would typically pay for controlling interest No events have occurred during the three months ended March

31 2011 which would indicate that the impairment test would need to be re-performed

Pension Benefits and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

The Bank provides pension benefits for its employees in multi-employer pension plan through

membership in the Co-operative Banks Employees Retirement Association Pension costs are funded as they are

accrued and are accounted for on defined contribution plan basis

The Bank maintains supplemental retirement plans SERP for two highly compensated employees

designed to offset the impact of regulatory limits on benefits under qualified pension plans The Bank recognizes

retirement expense based upon an annual analysis performed by benefits administrator Annual SERP expense can

vary
based upon changes in factors such as changes in salaries or estimated retirement ages

The Bank also maintains post-retirement medical insurance plan and life insurance plan for certain

individuals The Bank recognizes the over funded or under funded status of the plan as an asset or liability in its

statement of financial condition and recognizes changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur

through other comprehensive income as set forth by ASC 715 Compensation Retirement Benefits ASC 715

Related Party Transactions

Directors and officers of the Company and their affiliates have been customers of and have had transactions

with the Bank and it is expected that such persons will continue to have such transactions in the future

Management believes that all deposit accounts loans services and commitments comprising such transactions were

made in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms including interest rates and collateral as

those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other customers who are not directors or officers In

the opinion of management the transactions with related parties did not involve more than normal risks of

collectibility nor favored treatment or terms nor present other unfavorable features
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock based compensation pursuant to ASC 718 CompensationStock

Compensation ASC 718 The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model as its method for

determining fair value of stock option grants The Company has previously adopted two qualified stock option

plans for the benefit of officers and other employees under which an aggregate of 281500 shares have been reserved

for issuance One of these plans expired in 1997 and the other plan expired in 2Q09 All awards under the plan that

expired in 2009 were granted by the end of 2005 Awards outstanding at the time the plans expire will continue to

remain outstanding according to their terms

On July 31 2006 the Companys stockholders approved the Central Bancorp Inc 2006 Long-Term

Incentive Plan the Incentive Plan Under the Incentive Plan 150000 shares have been reserved for issuance as

options to purchase stock restricted stock or other stock awards However maximum of 100000 restricted shares

may be granted under the plan The exercise price of an option may not be less than the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant of the option and may not be exercisable more than ten years
after

the date of grant However awards may become available again if participants forfeit awards under the plan prior to

its expiration As of March 31 2011 .49880 shares remained unissued and available for award under the Incentive

Plan of which 9880 wer available to be issued in the form of stock grants

Forfeitures of awards granted under the incentive plan are estimated at the time of grant and revised if

necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates in order to derive the Companys

best estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest Estimated forfeiture rates represent only the unvested portion of

surrendered option and are typically estimated based on historical experience Based on an analysis of the

Compnys historical data the Company applied forfeiture rate of 0% to stock options outstanding in determining

stock compensation expense for each of the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

The Company granted no stock options in the year ended March 31 2010 During the fiscal year ended

March 31 2010 30000 restricted shares were issued and 2800 unvested restricted shares were forfeited No

options were granted in fiscal 2011 During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 13920 shares were issued under the

Incentive Plan Of these shares 5871 shares vested immediately and 8049 shares vest over five-year life The

restricted shares granted in fiscal 2010 vest over two-year life The options to purchase 10000 and 30000

restricted shares granted in fiscal 2007 vest over five-year life Stock-based compensation totaled $512 thousand

for the year ended March 31 2011 and $321 thousand for the year ended March 31 2010

The number of shares and weighted average exercise prices of outstanding stock options at March 31 2011

and 2010 are as follows

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price

BalanceàtMarch3l2009 68218 $25.36

Exerced -- --

Forfeited 865 28.99

Expired 13.745 20.25

Balance atMarch 31 2010 53608 26.62

Exercised

Forfeited 12466 23.64

Expired 6684 16.63

Balance at March31 2011 34.458 29.63

Exercisable at March 31 2011 32.458 29.53

As of March 31 2011 the Company expects all non-vested stock options to vest over their remaining

vesting periods

As of March 31 2011 the expected future compensation costs related to options and restricted stock
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vesting is as follows $302 thousand for fiscal 2012 $30 thousand each year
for fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2015 and

$29 thousand for fiscal 2016

The range of exercise prices weighted average remaining contractual lives of outstanding stock options and

aggregate
intrinsic value at March 31 2011 are as follows

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number Contractual Average Aggregate Number of Contractual Average

Exercise of Shares Life Exercise Intrinsic Shares Life Exercise

Price Outstanding Years Price Value Outstandine Years Price

$28.99 24458 3.9 $28.99 -- 24458 3.9 $28.99

31.20 jQQQQ3 5.5 31.20 .... _$QQQ3 5.5 31.20

34S5 4.4 29.63 -- 32.458 4.4 29.53

Represents the total intrinsic value based on the Companys closing st6ck price of $19.00 as of March 31

2011 which would have been received by the option holders had all option holdrs exercised their options as of

that date As of March 31 2011 the intrinsic value of outstanding stock options and exercisable stock options

was $0

Fully vested and exercisable at the time of grant

Subject to vesting over five years 80% vested at March 31 2011

summary of non-vested restricted stock activity under all Company plans for the year epded March 31

2011 is as follows

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date

Non-Vested Shares Shares Fair Value

Balance at March 31 2009 29400 $31.20

Granted 30000 8.28

Vested 9800 31.20

Forfeited 2800 31.20

Non-vested at March 31 2010 46800 16.51

Granted 8049 18.48

Vested 15900 20.39

Forfeited -- --

Non-vested at March 31 2011 38.949 15.33

Regarding unrestricted stock activity 5871 shares of unrestricted stock grants were issued during the

fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 and the stock-based compensation expense associated with

those shares totaled $109 thousand

Earnings Per Share

Regarding earnings per share the Company adheres to guidance as set forth by ASC 360 Earnings Per

Share ASC 360 Basic earnings per share EPS is computed by dividing income available to common

stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted EPS reflects

the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock such as stock options

were exercised or converted into common stock Unallocated shares of common stock held by the Central Co
operative Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan Trust the ESOP are not treated as being outstanding in the

computation of either basic or diluted EPS At March 31 2011 and 2010 there were approximately 154000 and

176000 unallocated ESOP shares respectively
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Weighted average number of unallocated ESOP shares ___________ ___________

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in

calculation of basic earnings per share

Incremental shares from the assumed exercise of dilutive common

stock equivalents

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in

calculating diluted earnings per share
_________ ___________

Earnings per share

Basic ________ ______
Diluted

_______ _____

At March 31 2011 and 2010 respectively 34458 and 53608 stobk options were anti-dilutive and were

excluded from the above calculation

Bank-Owned Ljfe Insurance

During the quarter ended December 31 2007 the Bank purchased life insurance policies on one executive

which totaled $6.0 million The Bank follows ASC 325 Investments Other ASC 325 in accounting for this

asset Increases iii the cash value are recognized in other noninterest income and are not subject to income taxes

The Bank reviewed the financial strength of the insurance carrier prior to the purchase of the policies and continues

to conduct such reviews on an annual basis Bank-owned life insurance totaled $7.0 million at March 31 2011 and

$6.7 million at March 31 2010

Other Comprehensive Income

The Company has established standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income which is defmed

as all changes to equity except investments by and distributions to shareholders Net income is component of

comprehensive income with all other components referred to in the aggregate as other comprehensive income Other

comprehensive income consists of unrealized gains or losses on available for sale securities net of taxes and unrealized

gain or loss on post-retirement benefits net of taxes

The following depicts reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share

Net income as reported

Less preferred 4ivi4çnds and accretion

Net income available to common stockholders

Weighted average number of common shares outstançling

2011 2010

Amounts in thousands except

share afld per share amounts

1725

620
1.105

1933

613
1380

1667685 1642705

163966 185473

1503719 1457232

117463 42.680

1.621.182 149.912

0.74 0.95

0.68 0.92
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The components of accumulated other comprehensive income loss included in stdckholders equity are

as follows at March 31

2011 2010

In Thousands

Net unrealized gain on securities available for sale $1184 $1000

Tax effect 452 380

Net-of-tax amount 732 620

Unrealized gain on pensipn benefits 270 321

Tax effect 110 131

Net-of-tax amount 160 190

Accumulated other comprehensive income 892 810

The Company has established standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income which is defmed

as all changes to equity except investments by and distributions to shareholders Net income is component of

comprehensive income with all other components referred to in the aggregate as other comprehensive income Other

comprehensive income consists of unrealized gains or losses on available for sale securities net of taxes and unrealized

gain or loss on post-retirement benefits net of taxes

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009 the FASB issued guidance on Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets now

incorpqrated into ASC 860 Transfers and Servicing which amends prior accounting guidance to enhance reporting

about transfers of financial assets including securitizations and where companies have continuing exposure to the

risks related to transferred financial assets The new guidance eliminates the concept of qualifying special-

purpose entity and changes the requirements for derecognizing financial assets The new guidance significantly

impacts loans participations sold as these transactions must meet the additional criteria of aparticjpating interest

to be treated as sale Additioqally participation agreements that contain last in first out and similar loan

repayment arrangements will disallow the use of sale treatment The guidance also requires additional disclosures

about all continuing involvements with trnsferred financial assets including information about gains and losses

resulting from transfers during the period TIle guidance was adopted as of April 2010 and has not had material

impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements The guidance may impact the accounting for any loan

participations entered into by the Bank after April 2010

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 167 now incorporated into ASC 810-10 Amendments to FASB

Interpretation No 46R to arnnd certain requirements of FASB Intçrpretation No 46 revised December 2003
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities to improve financial reporting by enterprises involved with variable

inerest entities and to provide more relevant and reliable information users of financial statements The Statement

is effective as of the beginning of each reporting entity first annual reporting penod that begins after November 15

2009 for interim periods within that first annual reporting period and for interim and annual reporting periods

thereafter The adoption of this standard on April 2010 did not have material impact on our consolidated

financial statements
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In January 2010 the FASB issued AccQunting Standards Update ASU 2010-6 Improving Disclosures

About Fair Value Measurements which requires reporting entities to make new disclosures about recurring or

nonrecurring fair-value measurements including significant transfers into and out of Level and Level fair-value

measurements and information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on gross
basis in the reconciliation

of Level fair-value measurements ASU 20 10-6 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after

December 15 2009 except for Level reconciliation disclosures which are effective for annual periods beginning

after December 15 2010 The adoption of this standard on April 2010 did not have material impact on our

consolidated financial statements but has required disaggregation of ceftain fair-value measurements as well as

additional disclosures

In July 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-20 Disclosures About the Credit Quality of Financing

Receivables which amends Accounting Standards Codification Topic 310 Receivables The
purpose

of the Update

is to improve transparency by companies that hold financing receivables including loans leases and other long-term

receivables The Update requires such companies to disclose more information about the credit quality of their

financing receivables and the credit reserves against them The disclosures as of the end of reporting period are

effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15 2010 The disclosure

requirements as of March 31 2011 of ASU 2010-20 have been incorporated in the notes to the Companys
consolidated financial statements Disclosures about activity that occurs during reporting period will be required

beginning April 2011

In April 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-02 Receivables Topic

310 Creditors Determination of Whether Restructuring is Troubled Debt Restructuring For public entities

this update provides guidande and clarification to help creditors in determining whether creditor has granted

concession and whether debtor is experiencing financial difficulties for purposes of determining whether

restructuring constitutes troubled debt restructuring In addition the previously deferred disclosure requirements

originally included in Update No 2010-20 are effective upon adoption of this standard The amendments in this

update are effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after June 15 2011 and should be applied

retrospectively to the beginning of the annual period of adoption The Company does not anticipate that the adoption

of this guidance will have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

In April 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-03 Transfers and

Servicing Topic 860 Reconsideration of Effectie Control for Repurchase Agreements The main provisions in

this amendment remove from the assessment of effective control the criterion requiring the transferor to have the

ability to repurchaie or redeem the financial assets on substantially the agreed terms even in the event of default by

the transferee and the collateral maintenàhce implementation guidance related to that criterion Eliminating the

transferors ability criterion and related implementation guidance from an entitys assessment of effective control

should improve the accounting for repos and other similar transactiOns The guidance in this update is effective for

the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15 2011 and should be applied prospectively to

transactions or modifications of existing transactions that occur on or after the effective date Early adoption is not

permitted The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will have material impact on the

Companys consolidated financial statements

In May 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-04 Fair Value

Measurement Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements

in U.S GAAP and IFRSs The amendments iii this update are result of the work by the FASB and the Intemational

Accounting Standards Board to develop common requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing

information about fair value measutements in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS5 The amendments change the wording used

to describe many of the requirements in U.S GAAP for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about

fair value measurements For many of the requirements the FASB does not intend for these amendinents to result in

change in the application of the requirements of Topic 820 The amendments are to be applied prospectively The

amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15 2011 Early application

is not permitted The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will have material impact on

the Companys consolidated financial statements
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Note Investments In Thousands

The amortized cost and fair value of investments securities available for sale are summarized as follows

March 31 2011 ___________
Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

In Thousands

Corporate bonds --

Government agency and government

sponsored enterprise mortgage-backed

securities 18129 764 70 18823

Single issuer trust preferred securities

issued by financialinstitutions 1002 47 -- LQ49

Total debt securities 19131 811 70 19872

Perpetual preferred stock issued by

financial institutions 3071 194 80 3185

Ccmmon stock 1799 354 25 2128

Total $24.001 $1359 $175 $25185

March 31 2010

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

In Thousands

Corporate bonds 1752 -- -- 1752
Government agency and government

sponsored enterprise mortgage-backed

securities 24253 752 12 24993

Single issuer trust preferred securities

issued by financial institutions 1002 43 -- 1.045

Total debt securities 27007 795 12 27790

Perpetual preferred stock issued by

financial institutions 3394 56 195 3255

Common stock 2967 508 152 3.323

Total $33368 1.359 359 $34.368

During the twelve month period ended March 31 2011 three common stock holdings were determined to

be other-than temporarily impaired and their book values were reduced through an impairment charge of $118

thousand Also during the twelve month period ended March 31 2011 two preferred stock holdings were

determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired and their book values were reduced through an impairment charge

of $226 thousand This impairment charge is reflected in Net gain loss from sales and write-downs of investment

securities in the Companys consolidated statements of income
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Temporarily impaired securities as of March 31 2011 are presented in the following table and are

aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in continuous loss

position

Less Than or Equal to Greater Than

12 Months 12 Months

Fair Unrealized Unrealized

Value Losses Fair Value Losses

In Thousands

Govemment agency and govemment sponsored

enterprise mortgage-backed securities 3209 63 306

Perpetual preferred stock issued by financial

institutions -- -- 938 80
Common stock 199 14 .182 11

Total temporarily impaired securities 3408 77 1.426 98

As of March 31 2011 the Company has one govemment agency mortgage-backed security which has been

in continuous loss position for period greater than twelve months and seven which have been in continuous loss

position for less than twelve months These debt securities have total fair value of $3.5 million and unrealized

losses of $70 thousand as of March 31 2011 Management currently does not have the intent to sell these securities

and it is more likely that it will not have to sell these securities before recovery of their cost basis Based on

managements analysis of these secuiities it has been determined that none of the securities are other-than-

temporarily impaired as of March 31 2011

The Company has one preferred stock security which has been in continuous loss position for greater than

twelve months as of March 3l 2011 This security has fair value of $938 thousand and an unrealized loss of $80

thousand at March 31 2011 The preferred stock had loss to book value ratio of 7.8% at March 31 2011 compared

to loss to book value ratio of 6.6% at March 31 2010 Due to the long-term nature of prethned stocks

management considers these securities to be similar to debt securities for analysis purposes Based on available

information which included Fitch bond rating upgrades during August 2010 and January 2011 management has

determined that the unrealized losses on the Companys investment in this preferred stock are not other-than-

temporary as of March 31 2011

The Company has three equity securities with fair vAlue of $381 thousand and unrealized losses of $25

thousand which were temporarily impaired at March 31 2011 The total unrealized losses relating to these equity

securities represent 6.3% of book value This is an improvemeilt when compared to the ratio of unrealized losses to

book value of 11.9% at March 31 2010 Of these three securities one has been in continuous loss position for

greater than twelve months Data indicates that due to currenteconomic conditions the time for many stocks to

recover may be substantially lengthened Managements investment approach is to be long-term investor As of

March 31 2011 the Company has determined .that the unrealized losses associated with these securities are not

cither-than-temporary based on the projected recovery of the unrealized losses and managements intent and ability

to hold to recovery of cost
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The maturity distribution based on contractual maturitibs and annual yields of debt securities at March 31

2011 are as follows

Amoittijed Fair Annual

Cost Value Yield

Dollars in Thousands

Government agency and government sponsored

enterprise mortgage-backed securities

Due within one year

Due after one year but within five years

Due after five years but within ten years

Due after ten years

Total ______

Single issuer trust preferred securities issued by

financial institutions

Due after ten years

Total ______ ______

Mortgage-backed securities are shown at their conWactual maturity dates but actual rnaturites maydiffer as

borrowers have the right to prepay obligations without incurring prepayment penalties

Proceeds from sales of investment securities and related gains and losses for the years ended March 31

2011 and 2010 all classified as available for sale were as follows

2011 2010

Dollars in Thousands

Proceeds from sales maturities

redemptions 3.371
_______

Gross gains

Grosg losses

OtheCthan temporary impairments

Net realized gain loss ________ ________

Mortgage-backed securities with an amortized cost of $1.1 million and fair value of $1.2 million at March

31 2011 were pledged to provide collateral for certain customers Investment securities carried at $8.2 million

were pledged under blanket lien to partially secure the Banks advances from the FHLB of Boston Additionally

investment securities carried at $3.8 million were pledged to maintain borrowing capacity at the Federal Reserve

Bank of Boston

As member of the FHLB of Boston the Bank was required to invest in stock of the FHLB of Boston in an

amount which until April 2004 was equal to 1% of its outstanding home loans or 1/20th of its outstanding advances

from the FHLB of Boston whichever was higher In April 2004 the FHLB of Boston amended its capital structure

at which time the Companys FHLB of Boston stock was converted to Class stock

The Company views its investment in the FHLB of Boston stock as long-term investment Accordingly

when evaluating for impairment the value is determined based on the ultimate recovery of the par value rather than

recogniziffg temporary declines in value The determination of whether decline affects the ultimate recovery
is

influenced by criteria such as the significance of the decline in net assets of the FHLB of Boston as compared to

2970
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15.148

$18.129

3079
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15732

$18.823

4.18

4.75

4a1

1002 1049 7.78

S19.l31 $19872

552

72

344

136

1.835

46

170

341
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the capital stock amount and length of time decline has persisted impact of legislative and regulatory changes

on the FHLB of Boston and the liquidity position of the FHLB of Boston

The FHLB of Boston reported earnings for 2010 of approximately $107 million after two consecutive years

of losses During February and May 2011 the FHLB of Boston declared dividends based upon average stock

outstanding for the fourth quarter of 2010 and the first
quarter

of 2011 respectively The FHLB of Bostons board of

directors aiticipates that it will continue to declare modest cash dividends through 2011 but cautioned that adverse

events such as negative trend in credit losses on the FHLB of Bostons private label mortgage backed securities or

mortgage portfolio meaningful decline in income or regulatory disapproval could lead to reconsideration of this

plan

The Company does not believe that its investment in the FFILB of Boston is impaired as of March 31

2011 However this estimate could change in the near term in the event that additional significant impairment

losses are incurred on the mortgage-backed securities causing significant decline in the FHLB of Bostons

regulatory capital status the economic losses resulting from credit deterioration on the mortgage-hacked

securities

increases significantly or capital preservation strategies being utilized by the FHLB of Boston become

ineffective

The Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund the Fund was established for liquidity purposes and

consists of deposits required of all insured co-operative banks in Massachusetts The Fund is used by The Co

operative Central Bank to advance funds to member banks or to make other investments

Note Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses In Thousands

Loans excluding loans for sale as of March 31 2011 and 2010 are summarized below

2011 2010

Real estate loans

Residential real estate 1-4 family $183157 $217053

Commercial real estate 199074 227938

Land and Construction 456 2722

Home equity lines of credit 8.426 8817

Total real estate loans 391113 456530

Commercial loans 2212 4037

Consumer loans 892 943

Total loans 394217 461510

Less allowance for losses 3.892 3.038

Total loans net $390.325 $458.472

summary of changes in the allowance for loan losses for the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

follows inthousands

Years Ended

March 31
2011 2010

--

Balance at beginning of period $3038 $3191

Provision charged to expense 1100 600

Less charge-offs 250 773
Add recoveries .4 20

Balance at end of period $3.892 $3038

At March 31 2011 there were twenty six impaired loans to eighteen borrowers which totaled $16.1 million

compared to thirty impaired loans to twenty-one borrowers at March 31 2010 which totaled $16.5 million

Impaired loans are evaluated separately and measured utilizing guidance set forth by ASC 310 described in Note
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At March 31 2011 there were twelve impaired loans to seven borrowers totaling $7.2 million which were

accruing interest At March 31 2010 there were twenty impaired accruing loans totaling $10.6 million which

represented eleven customer relationships All loans modified in troubled debt restructurings are included in

impaired loans

Nonaccrual loans totaled $9.6 million as of March 31 2011 and were comprised of five commercial real

estate customer relationships which totaled $6.9 million and eleven residential customers which totaled $2.9 million

of which there were three residential customer relationships totaling $363 thousand which were not impaired

Nonaccrual loans totaled $6.2 million as of March 31 2010 and were comprised of three commercial real estate

customer relationships which totaled $4.7 million and eight residential customer relationships which totaled $1.5

million Total nonaccrual loans include nonaccrual impaired loans as well as certain nonaccrual residential loans

that are not considered impaired

Financing Receivables on Nonaccrnal Status as of

March 31 March31
2011 2010

Commercial real estate

Mixed use $1616 $4729

Industrial other 1500

Retail 769

Apartments 2757

Residential

Residential 1-4 family 2587 1199

Condominium 352 318

Commercial -- --

$9.58 $6.246

If the interest on nonaccrual loans had been recognized in accordance with original interest rates interest

income would have increased by $208 thousand for fiscal
year

2011 and $94 thousand for fiscal 2010

During the year ended March 31 2011 loans modified in troubled debt restructurings TDRs were

comprised of five residential real estate loan relationships which totaled $1.8 million as of March 31 2011 and five

commercial real estate loan relationships which totaled $8.6 million as of March 31 2011

At March 31 2011 total TDRs amounted to $11.6 million and were comprised of nine residential real estate

loan relationships which totalpd $2.7 million and six commercial real estate loan relationships which totaled $8.9

million Additionally at March 31 2011 lotal accruing TDRs amounted to $7.2 million and total nonaccruing

TDRs amounted to $4.4 million
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The following is summary of information pertaining to impaired loans for the dates and periods specified

In Thousands

At March 31 At March 31
2011 2010

Impaired loans with valuation allowance 6439 3009

Impaired loanswithout valuation allowance 9635 13506

Total impaired loans $16074 $16515

Specific valuation allowance related to impaired loans 1417 354

Following is an age analysis of past due loans as of March 31 2011 by loan portfolio class in thousands

Age Analysis of Past Due Financing Receivables

as of March 312011

Greater

60-89 Days

Past Due

Commercial real estate

Mixed use

Apartments

Industrial other

Retail

Offices

than

90 Days

30-59 Days Total

Past Due Past Due Current Total

398

--

-- 1616

258 2757

$2014

3015

$36605

75655

$38619

78670

-- -- 1500 1500 36005 37505

-- -- 769 769 28276 29045

-- -- -- -- 15235 15235

-- -- -- -- 456 456

782 247 2587 3616 152978 156594

--

--

-- 352

-- --

352

--

26211

8426

26563

8426

-- -- -- -- 2212 2212

-4 -- -- 888 892

1184 505 $9851 $11270 $382947 $394217

Land

Residential

Residential real estate loans

Residential condominium

Home equity lines of credit

Commercial and industrial

loans

Consumer loans
_____________ _____________

Interest income on impaired accruing loans totaled $533 thousand during fiscal 2011 and $318 thousand

during fiscal 2010 Ther were no loans which were past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest as of March

31 2011

Credit Quality Indicators Management regularly reviews the problem loans in the Banks portfolio to

determine whether any assets require classification in accordance with Bank policy and applicable regulations The

following table sets forth the balance of loans classified as pass special mention or substandard at March 31 2011

by loan class Pass are those loans not classified as special mention or lower risk rating Special mention loans are

performing loans on which known information about the collateral pledged or the possible credit problems of the

borrowers have caused management to have doubts as to the ability of the borrowers to comply with present loan

repayment terms and which may result in the future inclusion of such loans in the non-performing loan categories

loan is considered substandard if it is inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the

obligor or of the collateral pledged if any Substandard loans include those characterized by the distinct possibility

the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected Loans classified as doubtful have all the

weaknesses inherent as those classified as substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses present
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make collection or liquidation in full on the basis of currently existing facts and conditions and values highly

questionable and improbable Loans classified as loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their

continuance as loans without the establishment of specific loss allowance is not warranted Loans classified as

substandard doubtful or loss are individually evaluated for impairment At March 31 2011 there were no loans

classified as doubtful or loss

thousands

The following table displays the loan portfolio by credit quality indicators as of March 31 2011 in

Conunercial Home

and Residential Equity

Industrial Real Lines of Commercial Consumer

Loans Estate Credit Real Estate Land Loans Total

$181587 8426 188917

1570
--

7128

--

--
3029 -- -- 3029

2212 $183157 8426 199074 456 892 $394217

The following table displays the balances of non-impaired commercial real estate loans with various loan-

to-value LTV ratios by collateral type The Bank considers this an additional credit quality indicator specifically as

it relates to the commercial real estate loan portfolio in thousands

Allowance for loan losses

ending balance

Individually evaluated for

impairment

Collectively evaluated for

impairment

Loans ending balance

Individually evaluated for

impairment

Collectively evaluated for

impairment

Pass

Special mention

Substandard

2212 456 892 $382490

8698

40%
40% 60%

60%

Participations

Total

Apartments Offices Mixed Use

Industrial

Other Retail Total

12720 1028 10083 6646 6883 37360

22994 8299 7899 9055 16220 64467

32165 5494 18658 10396 2660 69373

4576

72455

--

$14821

--

$36640

9352

35449

1116

$26879

15044

$186244

Following is summary of the allowance for loan losses and loans at March 31 2011 by loan portfolio

segment disaggregated by impairment method in thousands

Residential

Real

Estate

Commercial

Real Estate

and

Land

110 1307

Commercial Consumer

Loans Loans

-- --

Unallocated Total

-- 1417

763

873

3588

187833

$191421

17

17

1513

2820

12486

187572

$200058

16

16

166

166

-- --

2475

3892

690

690

2048

2048

16074

-- 378143

$394217
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Following is summary of impaired loans and their related allowances within the allowance for loan losses

at March 31 2011 in thousands

Unpaid

Recorded Principal Related

Investment Balance Allowance

With no related allowance recorded

Residential 1-4Faniily 2119 2123 --

Commercial Real Estate and Multi-Family 8894 8920 --

With an allowance recorded

Residential 1-4Fanilly 1468 1630 110

Commercial Real Estate and Multi-Family 3629 4580 1307

Total

Residential 1-4 Family 3587 3753 110

Commercial Real Estate and Multi-Family 12523 13500 1307

Includes accrued interest specific reserves and net unearned deferred fees and costs

The following summarizes activity with respect to loans made by the Bank to directors and officers and

their related interests for the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year $305 $390

New loans

Repayment of principal 204 22
Reduction of directors and officers -- 63

Balance at end of year $105 $305

Loans included above were made in the Banks ordinary course of business on substantially the same

terms including interest rates and collateral requirements as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions

with unrelated persons All loans included above are performing in accordance with the terms of the respective loan

agreement

Note Banking Premises and Equipment In Thousands

summary of cost accumulated depreciation and amortization of banking premises and equipment at

March 31 2011 and 2010 follows

Estimated

2111 2Q1Q Useful Lives

Land $589 $589
Buildings and improvements 2657 2362 50 years

Furniture and fixtures 3592 3484 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements 1568 1561 5-10 years

8406 7996
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 5701 5237

Total $2705 $2.759
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Depreciation and amortization for the years
ended March 31 2011 and 2010 amounted to $623 thousand

and $773 thousand respectively and is included in occupancy and equipment expense in the accompanying

consolidated statements of operations

Note Other Real Estate Owned In Thousands

The following summarizes activity with respect to other real estate owned during the
year

ended March 31

2011 and2OlO

2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year 60 2986
Additions 132 77

Valuation adjustments 17
Sales 60 2986

Balanceatendofyear 132 60

During fiscal 2011 one residential
property totaling $132 thousand was acquired through foreclosure Also

during fiscal 2011 the sale of one property with book value of $60 thousand was sold for $62 thousand resulting

in gain on the sale of other real estate owned of $2 thopsand During fiscal 2010 one residential property totaling

$77 thousand was acquired through foreclosure Managements subsequent review of this property resulted in the

recording of valuation allowance of $17 thousand which comprised the $60 thousand balance in other real estate

owned at March 31 2010 Also during fiscal 2010 the sales of three properties with book values of approximately

$3.0 million were sold for approximately $2.9 million resulting in loss on the sale of other real estate owned of $60

thousand

Note Deposits Dollars in Thousands

Deposits at March 31 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows

2011 2010

Demand deposit accounts 40745 41959

NOW accounts 28989 29358

Passbook and other savings accounts 55326 53544

Money market deposit accounts 76201 79745

Total non-certificate accounts 201261 204.606

Term deposit certificates

Certificates of $100000 and above 40843 51695

Certificates less than $100000 66973 82.868

Total term deposit certificates 107.816 134563

Total deposits $309.077 $339169

Contractual maturities of term deposit certificates with weighted average interest rates at March 31 2011

are as follows

Weighted Average

Amount Interest Rate

Within year 87297 0.93

Over ito years 19778 1.64

Over years 741 1.60

$i07.8i6
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Note Federal Home Loan Bank Advances Dollars in Thousands

summary of the maturity disthbution of FHLB of Boston advances based on final maturity dates with

weighted average interest rates at March 31 follows

Provision for income taxes

2010

$176
55

121

962

157
806

685

2011

Weighted

2010

Within year

1-2 years

2-3 years

3-4 years

years

Over to 10 years

$26000

Average Weighted Average

Amount Interest Rate Amount Interest Rate

--

29351

--

3.92 --

5.37%

--

11000 2.98 29469 3.92

22000 2.93 11000 2.98

5000 2.89 22000 2.93

50000 4.10 55000 3.99

117351 3.68% 143469 3.98%

At March 31 2011 advances totaling $87 million are callable during fiscal 2012 prior to their scheduled

maturity The Bank is subject to substantial penalty in the event it elects to prepay any of it FHLB of Boston

advances

The FHLB of Boston is authorized to make advances td its members subject to such regulations and

limitations as the Federal Home Loan Bank Board may prescribe The advances are secured by FHLB of Boston

stock and blanket lien on certain qualified collateral defined principally as 90% of the fair value of U.S

Govemment and federal agency obligations and 75% of the carrying value of first mortgage loans on owner-

occupied residential property In addition certain multi-family property loans ar pledged to secure FHLB of

Boston advances The Banks unused borrowing capacity with the FHLB of Boston was approximately $53.6

million at March 31 2011

Note Income Taxes Dollars in Thousands

The components of the provision for income taxes for the years indicated are as follows

Year Ended March 31
2011

Current

Federal --

State _____
Total current provision benefit ______

Deferred

Federal 578

State 363
______

Total deferred provision 941 _____
$946 ___
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Year Ended March 31
.2011 2010

Statutory federal tax rate 34.0% 34.0%

Items affecting Federal Income tax rate

Dividends received deduction Y2.6 2.7

Valuation allowance

Stock-based compensation

Other

Effective tax rate 35.4% 25.6%

March 31 2011 and 2010 ale as follows

Deferred tax assets

Allowance for loan losses

Depreciation

Post- retirement employee benefits

Write-down of investments securities

Net operating loss carryforward

Other ______

Gross deferred tax asset

Less Valuation allowance _______

Net deferred tax assets ______

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealized gain on securities net

Other ______ ______

Gross deferred tax liability ______ ______

Net deferred tax assets ______

The Company has recorded valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets due to uncertainty

surrounding the realization of these assets The valUation allowance is related to dertain capital loss carryforwards

that are only allowed to be utilized against capital gains Due to the undertainty surrounding future capital gains

management believes it is more likely than not that these assets will not be rdalized

The unrecaptured base year tax bad debt reserves will not be subject to recapture as long as the Company
continues to carry on the business of banking In addition the balance of the pre-1988 bad debt reserves continues

to be subject to provisions of present law that require recapture in the case of certain excess distributions to

shareholders The tax effect of pre-1988 bad debt reserves subject to recapture in the case of certain excess

distributions is approximately $1.3 million

The provision for income taxes for the periods presented is different from the amounts computed by

applying the statutory Federal income tax rate to income before income taxes The differences between expected tax

rates and effective tax rates are as follows

Net state impact of deferred rate change

State income taxes net of federal tax benefit

Bank-owned life insurance deduction

3.0 10.3

7.2

3.6 54
4.8 1.0

1.2 310

The components of gross deferred tax assets and gross deferred tax liabilities that have been recognized at

2011 2010

$1580

814

425

845

434

444

4542

$1243

966

299

2778

74

259

5619

421
5.198

452 380

198

650

$3.600

137

517

54.681
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As of March 31 2011 the Company provided liability of $155 thousand of unrecognized tax benefits related

to various federal and state income tax matters reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

Amount

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 2010 198

Additions for tax positions related to the current year 16

Additions for tax positions of prior years 61

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 120
Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2011 155

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that would impact the Companys effective tax rate if recognized is

$155 thousand The Company does not expect that the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will change

significantly within the next twelve months In generaL the tax years ended March 31 2007 through March 31 2011

remain open to examination by federal and state taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject As of

April 2010 the Company had accrued interest and penalties of $41 thousand related to uncertain tax positions

As

of March 31 2011 the total amount of accrued interest and penalties is $13 thousand The Company accounts

for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of its provision for federal and state income taxes

Note Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk In Thousands

The Bank is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to

meet the financing needs of its customers Tl2ese financial instruments include unused lines of credit unadvanced

portions of commercial and construction loans and commitments to originate loans The instruments involve to

varying degrees elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the balance sheets

The amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of the Banks involvement in particular classes of financial

instruments

The Banks exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to its financial

instruments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments The Bank uses the same credit policies in

making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks as of March 31 2011 and 2010 included the following

At March 31
2011 2010

Unused

lines of credit $15940 $16495

Unadvanced portions of construction loans 126

Unadvanced portions of commercial loans 459 1135

Commitments to originate residential mortgage loans 11232 6077
Commitments to sell residential mortgage loans 595 4024

Total off-balance sheet commitments $28 .226 $27.857

cozmnitments to originate loans unused lines of credit and unadvanced portions of commercial and

-- construction loans are agreements to lend to customer provided there is no violation of any condition established

in the contract Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require

payment of fee Since many of the commitments may expire without being drawn upon the total commitment

amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements The Bank evaluates each customers credit

worthiness on case-by-case basis The amount of collateral obtained if deemed necessary by the Bank upon

extension of credit is based on managements credit evaluation of the borrower
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The Bank is also party to lease commitments related to premises used to conduct its business

summary of minimum rentals of banking premises for future periods under non-cancelable operating leases follows

Years Ending

March 31

2012 371

2013 357

2014

333

2015 329

2016 311

Thereafter 17

Total $1317

Certain leases contain renewal options the potential impact of which is not included above Rental
expense

for each of the years ended March 31 2011 and 2010 totaled $365 thousand and $352 thousand respectively and is

included in occupancy and equipment expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Note 10 Stockholders Equity Dollars in Thousands except per share amount

The Company on consolidated basis and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements

administered by the federal banking agencies Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain

mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that if undertaken could have direct

material effect on the Companys and the Banks financial statements Under capital adequacy guidelines and the

regulatory framework for prompt corrective action the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines

that involve quantitative measures of their assets liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under

regulatory accounting practices The Banks capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative

judgments by the regulators about components risk weightings and other factors Prompt corrective action

provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies The minimum core leverage capital ratio required for

banks with the highest overall rating from bank regulatory agencies is 3.00% and is 4.00% for all others The Bank

must also have minimum total risk-based capital ratio of 8.00% of which 4.00% must be Tier capital consisting

of common stockholders equity As of March 31 2011 the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which

it is subject

In December 2008 the U.S Department of Treasury invested $10.0 million in the Company through the

Troubled Asset Relief Program TARP Capital Purchase Program see Note 14 for additional information

regarding the Companys participation in the TARP Capital Purchase Program As result of this investment the

most recent notification from the FDIC categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework

for prompt corrective action The table below reflects $10.0 million in TARP funds received as capital contribution

from the Company to the Bank To be categorized as well capitalized the Bank must maintain minimum risk

weighted capital Tier capital and tangible capital ratios as set forth in the table There are no conditions or events

since that notification that management believes would cause change in the Banks categorization No deduction

was taken from capital for interest-rate risk The Companys and the Banks Tier leverage Tier risk-based and

total risk-based capital ratios together with related regulatory minimum requirements are summarized as follows
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To Be Well

For Capital Capitalized Under

Adequacy Prompt Corrective

Actual Purposes Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

As of March 31 2011

Company consolidated

Total risk-based capital $56531 18.53% $24406 8.00% N/A N/A

Tier capital 52514 17.22 11854 4.00 N/A N/A

Tier leverage capital 52514 10.66 19705 4.00 N/A N/A

Bank

Total risk-based capital $50954 16.72% $24380 8.00% $30475 10.00%

Tier capital 46938 15.40 12192 4.00 18288 6.00

Tier leverage capital 46938 9.58 19598 4.00 24498 5.00

As of March 31 2010

Company consolidated

Total risk-based capital $53569 15.12% $29769 8.00% N/A N/A

Tier capital 50432 14.24 14166 24.00 N/A N/A

Tier lpverage capital 50432 9.22 21879 4.00 N/A N/A

Bank

Total risk-based capital $47374 13.37% $28346 8.00% $35433 10.00%

Tier capital 44237 12.49 14167 4.00 21250 6.00

Tidr leverage capital 44237 8.09 21872 4.00 27340 5.bo

The Company and the Bank may not declate Or pay cash dividends Oil tliir stock if the effect thereof would

cause capital to be reduced below regulatory requirements or if such declaration and paymeht would otherwise

violate regulatory requirements

In October 1991 the Company adopted Shareholder Rights Agreement Rights Plan entitling each

shareholder other than an Acquiring Person or an Adverse Person as defined below to purchase the Companys
stock at discounted price in the event any person or group of persons exceeded predetermined ownership

limitations of the Companys outstanding common stock an Acquiring Person and in certain circumstances

engaged in specific activities deemed adverse to the interests of the Companys stockholders an Adverse Person

Note 11 Employee Benefits Dollars in Thousands Except Per Share Data

Pension and Savings Plans

As participating employer in the Cooperative Banks Employees Retirement Association CBERA
multi-employer plan the Bank has in effect non-contributory defined benefit plan Pension Plan and defined

contributioti plan Savings Plan covering substantially all eligible employees

Benefits under the Pension Plan are determined at the rate of 1% and 1.5% of certain elements of final

average pay times years of credited service and are generally provided at age 65 based on years
of service and the

average of the participants three highest consecutive years of compensation from the Bank Employee contributions

are made to Savings Plan which qualifies under section 40 1k of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

The Bank matches 50% of an eligible deferral conthbution on the first 5% of the deferral amount subject to the

maximum allowable under federal regulations Pension benefits and employer contributions to the Savings Plan

become vested over six years
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Expenses for the Pension Plan and the Savings Plan were $545 thousand and $494 thousand for the years

ended March 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Forfeitures are used to reduce expenses of the plans

Employee Stock Ownership Plan

The Bank maintains an Employee Stock Ownership Plan ESOP that is authorized to purchase shares of

outstanding common stock of the Company from time to time in the open market or in negotiated transactions The

ESOP is tax-qualified defined contribution plan established for the exclusive benefit of the Banks employees All

full-time employees who have completed one year of service with the Bank are eligible to participate in the ESOP

On January 31 2007 the ESOP completed the purchase of 109600 shares of the Companys common

stock of which 6100 shares were purchased with cash accumulated through allocations to participants accounts

The ESOP purchased the shares pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 25 2007 by

and among the Company and the ESOP and Mendon Capital Advisors Corp Moors Mendon Master Fund L.P
Mendon ACAM Master Fund Ltd and Bumham Financial Services Fund collectively Mendon In conjunction

with this transaction the ESOP refinanced the above-noted third party loan with loan from the Company with the

same term as the third party loan Additionally the ESOP borrowed $3.42 million from the Company related to this

-- purchase This loan will be repaid in quarterly installments of principal and interest of $90800 over 20 years

As set forth by ASC 718 compensation expense is recognized as the shares are allocated to participants

based upon the fair value of the shares at the time they are allocated As result changes in the market value of the

Companys stock have an effect on the Companys results of operations but have no effect on stockholders equity

ESOP compensation expense for fiscal 2011 and 2010 amounted to $260 thousand and $153 thousand respectively

Company common stock dividends received by the ESOP on allocated shares that are not associated with

financing are allocated to plan participants Company common stock dividends received by the ESOP for allocated

shares that are associated with financing provided by the Company are retumed to the Bank for the purpose of

reducing expenses

83



Other Post-Retirement Benefits

165

165

126

28

$146

$146

$144

11
16

146

16

16

126

U26

165

60

15

126

--

The Bank maintains post-retirement medical insurance plan and life insurance plan for certain

individuals The following tables summarize the funded status and the actuarial benefit obligations of these plans for

fiscal 2011 and 2010

Actuarial present value of benefits obligation

Year Ended March 31
2011 2010

Life Medical Life Medical

Retirees $145

Fully eligible participants --

Total $145

Change in projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligations at prior year-end $l68
Service cost less expense component --

Interest cost

Actuarial loss gain 27

Amendment -- --

Assumptions 12
Benefits paid 17

Accumulated benefit obligations at year-end 165 145

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at prior year-end

Actual retum on plan assets

Employer contribution

Benefits paid and expenses

Fair value of plan assets at current year-end

--

--

--

--

--

17

17
--

Change in accumulated other comprehensive

income

Other accumulated comprehensive income at prior

fiscal year-end

Gain loss on actuarial experience

Gain loss actuarial assumptions

Amortization included in pension expense

Other accumulated other comprehensive income at

current year-end

173
28

134

$148 141
-- 60

11 15

13

$l35 173

$140

27
12

$149

Amounts with deferred recognition

Reconciliation of accrued pension cost

Accrued pension cost at beginning of year $299 $294 $305 $309

Minus net periodic cost

Plus employer contributions net

Accrued cost at end of year
299

16

$283 298
17

$294

Benefit obligation weighted average assumption as

change in projected benefit bbligation

Discount rate 4.50% 4.50% 5.00% 5.00%

Expected retum on plan assets 4.50 4.50 5.00 5.00

Rate of compensation increase nla n/a n/a n/a
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Years Ended March 31
2011 2010

Life Medical Life Medical

Components of net periodic benefit cost

Servicecost -- -- -- --

Interestcost

Expected return on plan assets -- -- -- --

Amortization of prior service cost 14 13

Recognized actuarial gain _U_c JZZ
Net periodic benefit gain cost LI LL1

Periodic benefit cost weighted average assumptions

Discount rate 5.00% 5.00% 6.75% 6.75%

Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a n/a n/a

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance

sheets consist of

Other liabilities $165 S125 $144

Amounts recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive income consist of

Net gain $150 $133 $198 $160
Prior credit -- 52 -- 63
Transition liability 16 50 25 74

$134 $135 $173 _____

The plan is unfunded and the Company accrnes actuarial determined benefit costs over the estimated

service period of the employes in the plan as set forth in ASC 715 It addresses employers disclosures about

pension and other post-retirement benefit plans It requires additional information about changes in the benefit

obligation and the fair values of plan assets to be disclosed It also standardized the requirements for pensions and

other postretirement benefit plans to the extent possible and illustrates combined formats foi the presentation of

pension plan and other post-retirement benefit plan disclosures ASC 715 also requires an employer to recognize the

over funded or under funded status of defined benefit post-retirement plan other than multiemployer plan as an

asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in

which the changes occur through comprehensive inCome

Projected life and medical benefits payments are as follows in thousands

Years Ending

March31

2012 $31

2013 32

2014 32

2015 32

2016 32

2Ol7through2O2l 135

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans

The Bank maintains supplemental retirement plans SERP for two highly compensated employees

designed to offset the impact of regulatory limits on benefits under qualified pension plans The Banks obligation

is unfunded The Bank recognizes retirement expense
based upon an annual analysis performed by benefits

administrator Annual SERP expense can vary based upon changes in factors such as changes in salaries or

estimated retirement ages SERP expense totaled $227 thousand for fiscal 2011 and $209 thousand for fiscal 2010

The SERP liability balance totaled $655 thousand at March 31 2011 and $428 thousand at March 2010
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Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain executive officers The employment

agreements are generally for initial terms of five years with automatic extensions made annually thereafter The

agreements include stipulations for termination including termination made with and without just cause and

provide for base salaries discretionary bonuses and severance benefits The agreements also provide for.insurance

and various other benefits The employment agreements also include Change pf Control provisions providing

that in the event of Change in Control as defined compensation be paid to the officer in amounts up to

approximately three times the officers base salary in the form of one lump sum payment following Change of

Control event

Note 12 Legal Proceedings

The Company from time to time is involved as plaintiff or defendant in various legal actions incident to its

business None of these actions are believed to be material either individually pr collectively to the results .of

operations and financial condition of the Company or any subsidiary

Note 13 Troubled Asset Relief Program Capital Purchase Program

On December 2009 the Company sold $10.0 million in preferred shares to the U.S Department of

Treasury Treasury as participant in the federal govemments Troubled Asset Relief Program TARP Capital

Purchase Program This represented approximately 2.6% of the Companys risk-weighted assets as of Spptember

30 2009 The TARP Capital Purchase Program is voluntary program for healthy U.S financial institutions

designed to encourage these institutions to build capital to increase the flow of financing to U.S businesses and

consumers and to support the U.S economy In connection with the investment the Company entered into Letter

Agreement and the related Securities Purchase Agreement with the Treasury pursuant to which the qompany issued

10000 shares of Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock Series liquidation pxeerence $1000 per

share the Series Preferreçl Stock and ii warrant the Warrant to purchase 234742 shares of the

Companys commpn stock foi an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 miilion in cash As result of the Treasurys

investment the Company and the Bank met all regulatory requirements to be coniidered well capitalized at March

31 2011

The Series Preferred Stoclcqualifies as Tier capital and pays cumulative dividends at rate of 5%
per

annum until February 15 2014 Beginning Febmary 16 2014 the dividend rate will increase to 9% per annum On

and after February 15 2012 the Company may at its option redeem shares of Series Preferred Stock in whole or

in part at any time and from time to time for cash at per share ampunt equal to the sum of the liquidation

preference per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to but excluding the redemption date The Series

Preferred Stock may be redeemed in whole or in part at any time and from time to time at the option of the

Company subject to consultation with the Companys primary federal banlcing regulator provided that any partial

redemption must be for at least 25% of the issue price of the Series Preferred Stock Any redemption of share of

Series Preferred Stock would be at one hundred percent 100% of its issue price plus any accrued and unpaid

dividends and the Series Preferred Stock may be redeemed without regard to whether the Company has replaced

such funds from any other source or to any waiting period

The Warrant is exercisable at $6.39 per
share at any time on or before December 2018 The number of

shares of the Companys common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrant and the exercise price per share will

be adjusted if specific events occur Treasury has agreed not to exercise voting power with respect to any shares of

common stock issued upon exercise of the Warrant Neither the Series Preferred Stock nor the Warrant will be

subject to any contractual restrictions on transfer except that Treasury may not transfer portion of the Warrant

with respect to or exercise the Warrant for more than one-half of the shares of common stock underiying the

Warrant prior to the date on which thefl Company has received aggregate gross proceeds of not less than $10.0

million from one or more qualified equity 1offerings

The Warrant was valued at $594 thousand and was recognized as equity under ASC 815 Derivatives and

Hedging ASC 815 and is reported within additional paid-in capital in the accompanying Consolidated Balance

Sheets The Company also performs accounting for the Series Preferred Stock and Warrant as set forth in ASC
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470 Debt ASC 470 The proceeds from the sale of the Series Preferred Stock was allocated between the Series

Preferred Stock and Warrant oit relative fair value basis resulting ifi the Series Preferred Stock having value

of $9.4 thillion and the Warrant having value of $594 thousand Therefore the fair value of the Warrant has been

recoknized.asadiscount to the Series Preferred Stock and Warrant and such discouni is being accreted over five

years using the effective yield method as set forth byASC 505 EqÆityTheWarrant was valued using the Black-

Scholes options pricing model The assumptions used to compute the fair value of the Warrant at issuance were

Expected life in years 10.00

Expected volatility 54.76%

Dividend yield 3.00%

Risk-free interest rate 2.67%

Regarding the assumptions above the expected term represents the expected period of time the Company
believes the warrant will be outstanding Estimates of expected future stock price volatility ate based on the historic

volatility of the Companys common stock and the dividend yield is based on managements estimation of the

Companys common stock dividend yield during the next ten years The fisk-free interest rate is basedon the U.S

Treasury 10-year rate

Note 14 Fair Values of Financial Instruments In Thousands

The Company follows ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 which defines

fair value as the exchange price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability in the

principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants

on the measurement date In addition ASC 820 specifies hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the

inputs to those techniques are observable or unobservable Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from

independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect the Companys market assumptions These two types of

inputs have the following fair value hierarchy

Level Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets

Level Quoted prices for similar instruments in active or non-active markets and model-derived

valuations in which all significant inputs and value drivers are observable in active markets

Level Valuation derived from significant unobservable inputs

The Company uses fair value measurements to record certain assets at fair value on recurring basis

Additionally

the Company may be required to record at fair value other assets on nonrecuming basis These

nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve the application of lower-of-cbst-or market value accounting or

write-downs of individual assets
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The only assets of the Cornpany recorded at fair value on recurring basis at March 31 2Q11 were

securities available for sale The assets of the Company recorded at fair value on nonrecurring basis at March 31
2011 were collateral dependent loans and other real estate owned OREO The follQwing table presents the level

of valuation assumptions used to determine the fair values of such securities and loans

At March 31 2011 Carrying Value In Thousands
Level Level Level Total

i-- Assets recorded at fair value on recurring basis

Securities available for sale

Government agency and govemment sponsored

agency mortgage-backed securities

18823 -- $18823

Single issuer trust preferred securities issued by

financial institutions 1049 1.049

Perpetual preferred stock issued by financial

institutions 203 1122 -- 3185
Common stock 2128 -- -- 2128

Assets recorded at fair value on nonrecurring basis

Impaired loans carried at fair value

CRE -- 4566 4566

Residential 443 443

OREO -- 132 132

At March 31 2010 Carrying Value In Thousands
Level Level Level Total

Assets recorded at fair value on recurring basis

Securities available for sale

Corporate bonds 1752 1752

Government agency and government sponsored

agency mortgage-backed securities 24993 24993

Single issuer trust preferred securities issued by

financial institutions 1045 1045

Perpetual preferred stock issued by financial

institutions 3255 3255
Common stock 3323 3323

Assets recorded at fair value on nonrecurring basis

--
Impaired loans carried at fair value

CRE 6604 6604

Residential 599 599

OREO 60 60

At March 31 2011 the fair value of one trust preferred security amounting to $1049 was measured using

Level inputs in comparison to March 31 2010 at which time the security was measured using Level inputs The

transfer from Level to Level was primarily the result of increased trading volume of the security at and around

year end The fair value as of March 31 2011 was determined using actual trades of the exact security whereas the

fair value as of March 31 2010 was determined by matrix pricing model based upon comparable securities

At March 31 2011 the fair value of three preferred stocks amounting to $2063 were measured using Level

inputs in comparison to March 31 2010 at which time the securities were measured using Level inputs The

transfers from Level to Level were primarily the result of increased trading volume of the securities at and

around year end The fair values as of March 31 2011 were determined using actual trades of the exact securities

whereas the fair values as of March 31 2010 were determined by matrix pricing models based upon comparable

securities
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There were no Level securities at March 31 2011 or at March 31 2010 The Company did not have any

sales or purchases of Level available for sale securities during the periods

The Company measures the fair value of impaired loans on periodic basis in periods subsequent to its

initial recognition At March 31 2011 impaired loans measured at fair value using Level inputs amounted to $5.0

million which represents five customer relationships compared to twelve customer relatiotiships which totaled $7.2

million March 31 2010 There were no impaired loans measured at fair value using Level inputs at March 31

2011 or 2010 Level inputs utilized to determine the fair value of the impaired loan relationships at March 31

2011 and March 31 2010 consist of appraisals which may be discounted by management using non-observable

inputs as well as estimated costs to sell

OREO is measured at fair value less estimated selling osts Fair value is based upon independent market

prices appraised values of the collateral or managements estimation of value of the collateral At March 31 2011

OREO was comprised of one residential condominium totaling $132 thousand OREO at March 31 2010 consisted

of one residential condominium which totaled $60 thousand The one OREO property at March 31 2010 was sold

during the fiscal year ended March 31 2011

Both observable and unobservable inputs may be used to determine the fair value of positions classified as

Level assets As result the unrealized gains and losses for these assets presented in the table above may include

changes in fair value that were attributable to both observable and unobservable inputs

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank in estimating fair values of financial assets

and liabilities

Cash and Due from Banks The carrying values reported in the balance sheet for cash and due from

banks approximate their fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments

Short-Term Investments The carrying values reported in the balance sheet for short-term investments

approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these investments

Investment Securities Available for Sale Where quoted prices are available in an active market

securities are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy Examples of such instruments include publicly

traded common and preferred stocks If quoted prices are not available then fair values are estimated by using

pricing models i.e matrix pricing and market interest rates and credit assumptions or quoted prices of securities

with similar characteristics and are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy Examples of such

instruments include government agency and govemment sponsored agency mortgage-backed securities as well

certain preferred and trust preferred stocks Level securities are securities for which significant unobservable

inputs are utilized There were no changes in valuation techniques used to measure similar assets during the period

Available for sale securities are recorded at fair value on recuming basis

Loans and Loans Held for Sale The fair values of loans are estimated using discounted cash flow

analysis using interest rates estimated using local market data of which loans with similar terms would be thade to

borrowers of similar credit quality The incremental credit risk for nonperforming loans has been considered in the

determination of the fair value of loans The fair value of loans held for sale is determined based on the unrealized

gain or loss on such loans Regular reviews of the loan portfolio are performed to identify impaired loans for which

specific allowance allocations are considered prudent Valuations of impaired loans are made based on evaluations

that we believe to be appropriate in accordance with ASC 310 and such valuations are determined by reviewing

E- current collateral values financial information cash flows payment histories and trends and other relevant facts

surrounding the particular credits

Accrued Interest Receivable The carrying amount reiorted in the balance sheet for acciiied interest

receivable approximates its fair value due to the short maturity of these accounts

Stock in FHLBB The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for FHLBB stock approximates its

fair value based on the redemption features of the stock
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The Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for

the Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund
approximates

its fair value

Deposits The fair values of deposits -excluçling term deposit certificates re by definition equal to the

amount payable on demand at the reporting date Fair values for term deposit certificates are estimated
using

discounted cash flow techniqu that applies interest rates estimate4 using local market data currently being offered

on certificates to schedule of aggregated monthly maturities on time deposits with similar remaining maturities

Advances from FIILBB Fair values of non-callable advances from the FHLBB are estimated based on

the discounted cash flows of scheduled future payments using the respective quarter-end published rates for

advances with similar terms and remaining maturities Fair values of callable advances from the FHILBB are

estimated using indicative pricing provided by the FHLBB

Subordinated Debentures The fair value of one subordinated debenture totaling $5.2 million whose

interest rate is adjustable quarterly is estimatçd to be equal to its book value The other subordinated debenture

totaling $6.1 million has fixed rate until March 15 2017 at which time it will convert to an adjustable rate which

will adjust quarterly The maturity date is March 15 2037 The fair value of this subordinated debenture is

estimated baseJ on the discounted cash flows of sch$uled future payments utilizing discountate derived from

instruments with similar- terms and remainiflg maturities

Short-Term Borrowings Advance Payments by Borrowers for Taxes and Insurance and Accrued

Interest Payable The carrying values reported in the balance sheet for short-term borrowings advance payments

by borrowers for taxes and insurance and accrued interest payable approximate their fair value because of the short

maturity of these accounts

Off-Balance Sheet Instruments The Banks commitments to lend for unused lines of credit and

unadvanced portions of loans have short remaining disbursement periods or variable interest rates and therefore no

fair value adjustment has been made

The estimated carrying amounts and fair values of the Companys financial instruments are as follows

March 31 2011 March 31 2010

Carrying Jlstimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Assets

Cash and due from banks 3.728 3728 4328 4328

Short-term investments 37190 37190 12208 12208

Investment securities available forsale 25185 25185 34368 34368

Loans held for sale -- 392 392

Net loans 390325 394475 458472 454557

Stock in Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston 8518 8518 8518 8518

The Co-operative Central Bank Reserve Fund 1576 1576 1576 1576

Accrued interest receivable 1496 1496 1896 1896

Liabilities

Deposits 309077 300875 339169 329749

Advances frothFHLB of Boston 117351 125314 143469 150949

Subordinated debentures 11341 8651 11341 8226

Advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance 1387 1387 1649 1649

Accrued interest payable 397 397 517 517

Off-Balance Sheet Instruments 28226 28226 27257 27257

90



Note 15 Parent Company Only Condensed Financial Statements In Thousands

Assets

Cash dçposit in subsidiary bank

Investment in ubsidiary

ESOP loan Note 11 ______ ______
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary

Other assets
_______ _______

Total assets
________ ________

Liabifities and Stockholders Equity

Subordinated debentures Note _______ _______

Accrued taxes and other liabilities ______ ______
Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders equity _______ _______

Year Ended March 31
Statements of Operations 2011 2010

Dividends from subsidiary

Interest income

Interest expense on subordinated debentures

Noninterest expenses

Loss before income tax benefit

Income tax benefit
_______

206

Income before equity in undistributed net income of subsidiary 203

Equity in undisthbuted net income of subsidiary _____ 1790

Nei income
______

$1 .993

Year Ended March 31

Statements of Cash Flows 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities

Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiary

Changes in other assets and other liabilities ______ _____

Net cash provided by operating activities ______ ______
Cash flows from investing activities

ESOP loans net of repayment

Net cash provided by investing activities _____ _____

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash dividends paid _____ _____
Net cash used in provided by financing activities ______ ______

Net decrease increase in cash in subsidiary bank

Cash in subsidiary bank at beginning of year _____ _____
Cash in subsidiary bank at end of year _____ _____

Balance Sheets

At March 31

2011 2010

$301

52156

5.676

341

325

$58.799

11341

337

47121

$58.799

$342

49467

6254

341

97

$56.50l

$11341

47

45.113

S56.50l

$500

468

575

67

67
1.792

$1.725

$500

515

586

1725 1993

1792
246

179

578

578

798
798
41

342

301

1790
27

230

566

566

791
791

337

342
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Central Bancorp Inc and Subsidiary

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Central Bancorp Inc and Subsidiary

as of March 31 2011 and thq related consolidated statements of operations changes in stockholders

equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then ended These consolidated financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and pertorm the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not

required to have nor were we engaged to pertorm an audit of its internal control over financial reporting

Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit

..- procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no

such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material

respects the financial pesition of Central Bancorp Inc and Subsidiary as of March 31 2011 and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles

is McGladrŁy Pullen LLP

Boston Massachusetts

June 17 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Central Bancorp Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Central Bancorp Inc and Subsidiary

the Company as of March 31 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in

stockholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then ended These

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not

required to have nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting

Our audit included cOnsideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no

such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the bonsolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material

respects the consolidated financial position of Central Bancorp Inc and Subsidiary as of March 31

2010 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

/s/ Caturano and Company P.C

Boston Massachusetts

June 18 2010
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On August 10 2010 the Company wns notified thnt due to the fact that certain officers of Caturano and

Company P.C became partners of McGladrey Pullen LLP effective July 20 2010 Caturano and Company P.C
will resign as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company effective August 13 2010 The

audit reports of Caturano and Company P.C on the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
years

ended March 31 2010 and 2009 did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not

qualified or modified as to uncertamty audit scope or accounting pnnciples

During the two most recent fiscal years ended March 3.1 2010 and 2009 and through August 13 2010 there

were no disagreements between the Company and Caturano and company P.C on any matter of accounting

principles or practices financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures which disagreements if not

resolved to the satisfaction of Caturano and Company P.C would have caused them to make reference thereto in

their rports on the Companys financialstatements for such years and no reportable events within the meaning

set for in Item 304a1v of Regulation S-jC ..

Effective August 13 2010 the Audit Committee of the Companys Boar4 of Directors engaged MeGladrey

Pullen LLP as the Companys independent registered public accoupting fgm Diring the Companys fiscal
years

ended March 31 2010 .and 2009 and the subsequent interim period preceding the engagement of McGladrey

Pullen J.JLP the Company did not consult withcMcGladrey Pullen LLP regarding the application of

accounting prineiples to specified trnsaction either completed or proposed the type of audit opinion that

might be rendered on the Companys financial stntements and McGladrey Pullen LLP did not provide any

written report or oral advice that Mc9laclrey Pullen LLP concluded was an imppijant façtqr considered by the

Company in reaching decision as to any such accounting auditing or fmancial reporting issue or 3.any matter

that was either the subject of disagreement with Caturano and Company P.C on any matter of accounting

principles or practices financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure or the subject of rpportable

event
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Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Companys management including the Companys principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures as such term is defmed in Rule 13a-l5e promulgated uædºr the Securitie Exchange

Act of 1934 ai amended the Exchange Act Based upon theft evaluation the principal

executive officer and principal financial officer conCluded that as of the end of the period cMered

by this report the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effective for the purpose of

ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or

submits under the Exchange Act with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC is

recorded processed summarized and reported withinthe time periods specified in the SECs rules

and forMS ahd is accumulated and communicated to the Corrtpanys management including

its irincipal executive and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosure

Ilntemäl Controls Over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal

control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and lSd-15f under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and management has assessed the effectiveness of the Companys intemal

controFover financial reporting as of MarZth 31 2011 based upon the criteria set forth in report

entitled Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on its assessment the Companys

management has concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of March 31 2011

This Annual Report does ilot include an attestatidu report of the Companys registered public

accounting firm regarding intemal control over financial repdrting Managements repOrt was not

subject to attestation by the Companys independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to

temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Con%paæy to provide

only managements report in this Annual Report

Changes to Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as indicated herein there were no changes in the Companys intemal control dyer financial

reporting during the twelve months ended March 31 2011 that have materially affected or are

reasonable likely to materially affect the Companys intemal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Iuformatidæ

applicable
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PART ifi

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors

The information contained under the section captioned ProposaI Election of Directors in the

Companys definitive proxy statement for the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the Proxy

Stateme.nç is incorporated herein by reference

Executive Officers

The information contained under the sections captioned Proposal Election of Directors Executive

Officers Who Are Not Directors in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

Compliance with Section 16a of the Exchange Act

The information contained nnder the section captioned Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted Code of Ethics that applies to the Companys officers directors and

employees

Corpor$e Governance

For information regarding the audit committee and its composition and the audit committee financial

expert thp sections captioned Meetingi and Committees of the Board of Directors Audit Committee in the

Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections titled Executive

Compensation and Director Compensation in the Proxy Statement

Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections titled Meetings

and Committees of the Board of Directors Compensation Committee in the Proxy Statement

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned

Principal Holders of Voting Securities in the Proxy Statement

Security Ownership of Management

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned

Security Ownership of Management in the Proxy Statement
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Changes in Control

Management of the Company knows of no arrangements including any pledge by any person of

securities of the Company the operation of which may at subsequent date result in change in

control of the Company

Equity Compensation Plans

The Company has adopted the 1999 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and the 2006 Long-Term

Incentive Plan pursuant to which equity may be awarded to participants Both plans have been

approved by stockholders

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Companys equity compensation plan

as of March 31 2011

Number of securities

remaining

Number of securities to be Weighted-average exercise available for future issuance

issued price of outstanding under equity compensation

upon exercise of outstanding options warrants and plan excluding securities

Plan Catecorv options warrants and riehts riith reflected in column

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 34458 29.63 49880

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders

Total 34.458 29.63 49.880

The 1999 Stock Option Plan and the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for proportionate adjustment to the number

of shares reserved thereunder in the event of stock split stock dividend reclassification or similar event

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section titled Transactions

with Related Persons in the Proxy Statement

Director Independence

The information related to director independence required by this item is incorporated herein by reference

to the section titled Proposal Election of Directors in the Proxy Statement

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned Independent

-- Auditors in the Proxy Statement
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Financial Statements

For the Financial Statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K reference is made

to Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted as not applicable or not required or because

they are included in the financial statements appearing at Item

Exhibits

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Rekulation S-K are either filed as part of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference herein

The following exhibits are filed as exhibits to this Annual Rejort

Exhibit No Description

3.11 Articles of Organization of Central Bancorp Inc

3.210 Amended Bylaws of Central Bancorp Inc

4.12 Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Central Bancorp Inc Establishing Fixed

Rate Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock Series

4.22 Form of Stock Certificate for Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock Series of Central

Bancorp Inc

432 Warrant to Purchase 234742 Shares of Common Stockof Central Bandorp Inc

443 Shareholder Rights Agreement dated as of October 11 2001 by and between Central Bancozp Inc

and Registrar and Transfer Company as Rights Agent as amended and restated as of January 29
2003 and as amended on February 11 2003 May 22 2003 July 24 2003 and August 2003

10 Employment Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and John Dohertyt

l0.2 Employment Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and William Morrissey

10.3 Executive Salary Continuation Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and John

Doherty as amended

10.4 Executive Salary Continuation Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and William

Morrissey as amended

l0.5 Executive Health Insurance Plan Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and John

Doherty

l0.6 Executive Health Insurance Plan Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and John

Doherty

10.7 Executive Health Insurance Plan Agreement by and between Central Co-operative Bank and

William Morrissey

10.81 Severance Agreement between the Bank and William Morrissey dated December 14 1994

10.91 Severance Agreement between the Bank and Paul Feeley dated May 14 1998

10.101 Amendments to Severance Agreements between the Bank and Messrs Feeley and Morrissey dated

January 1999

io.ii5 1999 Stock Option and Incentive Plant

10.126 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

10.1311 Senior Management Compensation Incentive Plan as amended

10 14 Severance Agreement between the Bank and Bryan Greenbaum dated March 17 2005t

10.158 Central Bancorp Inc 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

14 Code of Ethics

21 Subsidiaries of Registrant
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23.1 Consent of McGladrey Pullen LLP

23.2 Consent of Caturano and Company Inc

31.1 Rule 3a- 14a Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Rule 3a- 14a Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32 Section 1350 Certifications

99.1 31 C.F.R 30.15 Certification pf Chief Executive Officer

99.2 31 C.F.R 30.15 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Management contract or compensalo plan

Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31 1999 File No 0-

25251

filed with the SEC on June 28 1999

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-25251 filed

with the SEC on December 2010

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31 2004 File No 0-25251 filed with the

SEC on June 28 2004

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-2525 filed

with the SEC on December 21 2007

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-87005 filed on September 13 1999

Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31 2009 File No 0-

25251 filed with the SEC on February 17 2010

Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31 2004 filed with the

SEC on June 29 2005 and to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2009 filed with the

SEC on November 14 2009 File No 0-25251

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-136234 filed with the SEC on August

2006

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-25251 filed with the SEC on April 13 2004

10 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K File No 0-25251

filed with the SEC on October 22 2007

11 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 30 2010 File No 0-2525 filed with the SEC on August 13 2010
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CENTRAL BANCORP INC

By Is John Doherty

John Doherty

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Duly Authorized Representative

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persOns on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicatei

Is John Doherty

John Doherty

Chainnan and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Is Paul Feeley

Paul Feeley

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Is William Morrissey

William Morrissey

President and Director

June 17 2011

Is Robert Hardiman

Robert Hardiman

Director

June 17 2011

Is Raymond Mannos

Raymond Mannos

Director

June 17 2011

Is James McDonough
James McDonough
Director

June 17 2011

Is Albert Mercuri Jr

Albert Mercuri Jr

Director

June 17 2011

Is John Morrissey

John Morrissey

Director

June 17 2011

Date June 172011

June 17 2011

June 17 2011
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Is Kenneth Ouigley Jr

Kenneth Quigley Jr

Director

Is Edward Sweeney Jr

Edwatd Sweeney Jr

Director

Is Gerald Mulligan

Gerald Mulligan

Director

June 17 2011

June 17 2011

Junel72011
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification

John Doherty certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Central Bancorp Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit tp state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such intemal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented

in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the

end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants intemal control over fmancial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit conmiittee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date June 17 2011 Is John Doherty

John Doherty

Chainnan and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

102



EXHIBIT 31.2

CeEtification

Paul Feeley certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Central Bancorp Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

materiab fact necessary tO make the statements made in light of the circumstances undei which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this .report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defmed in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15e and l5d-l5e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-l5f and l5d-l5f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in whiÆh this report is being prepared

Designed such internal dontrol over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented

in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the

end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit conmiittee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date June 17 2011 Is Paul Feeley

Paul Feeley

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

and Treasurer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
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EXifiBIT 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANIES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned executive officers of the Registrant hereby certify that this Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the year ended March 31 2011 the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material

respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant

By ls/ John Doherty

John Doherty

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

By /5/ Paul Feeley

Paul Feeley

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

and Treasurer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Date June 172011

104



RobertJ Hardiman

President Waltham Central

School Transportation Company

Raymond Mannos

Former Princpal

Beacon Fidnciary Advisors

James McDonough
Chancellor

Archdiocese of Boston

AlbertJ Mercuri Jr
President Chief Erecative

Officer

Data Direct Inc

JobnJ Morriosey Esq
Partner

Morrissey Wilson Zafiropolous LLP

William Morrissey

President Chief Operating Officer

Central Bancorp Inc

Gerald Mulligan

Chairman

Savings Bank
Life

Insurance

Kenneth Quigley Jr

President

Cnrry College

Edward Sweeney Jr

Consnltant to the

Financial Services Industry

Central Co-operative Bank

Board of Directors

John Doherty

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Central Co-operative Bank

John Gilgun Jr

President

John Gilgnn Agency

RobertJ Hardiman

President Waltham Central

School Transportation Company

Raymond Mannos

Former Principal

Beacon Fiduciary Advisors

James McDonough
Chancellor

Archdiocese of Boston

John Morrissey Esq
Partner

Morrissey Wilson Zafiropolous LLP

William Morrissey

President Chief Operating Officer

Central Co-operative Bank

Gerald Mulligan

Chairman

Savings Bank LŁ Insurance

Kenneth Quigley Jr

President

Curry College

Marat Santini

Consultant

Santini Inc

Edward Sweeney Jr

Consultant to the

Financial Services Industiy

Executive Officers

John Doherty
Chairman Chief Executive

Officer

William Morrissey

President Chi ef Operating Officer

Paul Feeley
Senior Vise President

Treasurer Chief Financial Officer

Stephen Calhoun

Senior Vise President

Chief Information Officer

Bryan Greenbaum

Senior Vise President/Retail Banking

Shirley Tracy
Senior Vice President/Human Resources

Rhoda Astone

Senior Vise President Secretary Clerk

Officers of Central Co-operative Bank

who also serve as officers of Central

Bancorp Inc

Annual Meeting The Annual Meeting
of Stockholders of Central Bancorp

Inc will be held at 1100a.m onjuly

21 2011 at the Holiday Inn 30

Washington Street Somerville MA
02143

Investor Inquiries Investors and

other parties interested in obtaining

information or who have questions

about the Company should contact

William Morrissey President

399 Highland Avenue Somerville MA
02144 617 628-4000

Additional copies of the Companys
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended March 31 2011 are

available without charge

Common Stock On January 1999

Central Bancorp Inc became the

holding company for Central Bank
whose

legal name is Central Co
operative Bank The Bank became

public company on October 24 1986

by issuing 1840000 shares of comsnon

stock at $7.50 share Central

Bancorps common stock is traded

over-the counter on the NASDAQ
Global Marketunder the symbol
CEBK.AtMarch 31 2011 there

were 1681071 shares of common stock

outstanding and approximately 200

holders of record of the comsnon stock

This total does not reflect the number

of persons or entities who held the

stock in nominee or street name
through various brokerage firms

In October 1996 the Company
established quarterly cash dividend

policy and made its first dividend

distribution of cents share on

November 15 1996 It paid cash

dividends of cents per share in each

quarter of the fiscal year ended March

31 2011

The following tables list the high and

low prices for Central Bancorps

common stock during each quarter of

fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 as reported

by the NASDAQ Global Market and

the amounts and payable dates of the

cash dividends paid during each quarter

of fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 The

stock quotations constitute interdealer

prices without retail markups
markdowns or commissions and may
not necessarily represent actual

transactions

Common Stock Prices

Fiscal 2011 High Low

6/30/10 11.51 $8.56

9/30/10 14.17 9.80

12/31/10 15.30 12.43

3/31/11 20.00 13.50

Transfer Agent

Registrar and Transfer

Company
10 Commerce Drive

Cranford NJ 07016

800 368 5948

Independent Registered

Public Accountants

MeGladrey Pullen LLP
80 City Square

Boston MA 02129

Deposit Insurance

Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation FDIC
Share Insurance Fund SIF

Central Bank Home Page

www.centralbk.com

John Doherty AlbertJ Mercuri Jr
Chairman Chief Executive Officer President Chief Executive

Officer

Central Ranrorp Inc Data Direct Inc

Stockholder Information

Cash Dividendspayable dates

Fiscal 2010 High Low Fiscal 2011 Amount Fiscal 2010 Amount

6/30/09 $8.00 $4.05 5/21/10 $0.05 5/15/09 $0.05

9/30/09 9.40 5.60 8/20/10 0.05 8/21/09 0.05

12/31/09 10.80 7.96 11/19/10 0.05 11/20/09 0.05

3/31/10 10.09 8.11 2/18/11 0.05 2/19/10 opJ



617.628.4000

cENTRALbancorp

www.centralbk.com

399 Highland Avenue Somerville MA 02144


